E JtAEm®

Everbright International
(Stock Code ﬂgﬁ%&%ﬁ : 257) Annual Report 201 1 Ei&

every moment... every day... every place... We Cal’e

B Tsn. 5% 58,

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
B KEIBRRIRAE]



Corporate Profile

China Everbright International Limited (the “Company”,
and together with its subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”)
is a fast growing business conglomerate which has
integrated technology development, construction and
operation management focusing on green environmental
protection and alternative energy businesses. The Group
has established the construction service and research and
development bases in Shenzhen and Beijing respectively.
The business of the Group is classified into environmental
energy, environmental water, alternative energy and
infrastructure etc. Its projects mainly include waste-to-
energy, methane-to-energy, biomass power generation, solar
photovoltaic energy, industrial solid waste landfill, waste
water treatment, reusable water and toll bridge etc. These
businesses are spreading in Jiangsu, Shandong, Fujian,
Guangdong and Anhui Provinces in the PRC and Germany.

With its highly trained and dedicated management team
as well as strong parental support from China Everbright
Holdings Company Limited, the Group is fully prepared to
further explore and develop the environmental protection
market and strives to obtain new environmental protection
projects, with the aim to become a leading player in the
environmental protection industry in the PRC.
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Corporate Information
NGIE- S

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

TANG Shuangning (Chairman)

ZANG Qiutao (Vice-chairman)

LI Xueming (Vice-chairman)

CHEN Xiaoping (Chief Executive Officer)

WANG Tianyi (General Manager)

WONG Kam Chung, Raymond (Chief Financial Officer)
CAl Shuguang (Deputy General Manager)

Non-executive Director
FAN Yan Hok, Philip

Independent Non-executive Directors
MAR Selwyn

LI Kwok Sing, Aubrey

ZHAI Haitao

COMPANY SECRETARY
POON Yuen Ling

REGISTERED OFFICE
Room 2703, 27th Floor

Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Asian Development Bank

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
Bank of Jiangsu

China Citic Bank

China Construction Bank Corporation
China Everbright Bank Co., Limited
China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.

China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd.
CITIC Bank International Limited

DBS Bank Ltd

Deutsche Bank, AG

Fubon Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Hang Seng Bank (China) Limited
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
Mizuho Corporate Bank, Ltd.

Shanghai Pudong Development Bank
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
The 8nk of East Asia, Limited
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SOLICITORS
Paul, Hastings, Janofsky & Walker
Grandall Legal Group (Beijing)

AUDITORS
KPMG

REGISTRARS

Tricor Tengis Limited

26/F, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai, Hong Kong

PUBLIC RELATIONS

Strategic Financial Relations (China) Limited
Unit 2402, 24/F, Tower 1, Admiralty Centre
18 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong
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~inancial Highlights
BA RN,

2011 2010 Percentage
—T—% —T-TF Change
HK$’000 HK$ 000 Aotk
BT BT T EE)
RESULTS eS|
Turnover EERR 3,663,563 2,929,415 25%
EBITDA on recurring basis** BRFE - I TER
BRI B IR 1,439,571 1,059,858 36%
Profit attributable to equity IR EF
shareholders 801,441 616,433 30%
Return on shareholders’ equity (%) IR E & EIFHR(%) 13.90 12.44 1.46%
Basic eamnings per share (HK cents) SR EAZF| (B ) 21.86 16.92 29%
FINANCIAL POSITION BAFSHR R
Total assets BERE 13,879,617 10,870,391 28%
Total liabilities BERE 7,218,053 5,121,742 41%
Shareholders’ equity PRER R 6,190,024 5,338,052 16%
Net asset value per share attributable A%ER fE(5 &A%
to equity shareholders (HK$) BEFEGEET) 1.684 1.461 15%
Gearing ratio (%) BEABLE(%) 52 47 5%
Current ratio (%) TENEL (%) 138 154 -16%

*  EBITDA is the profit for the year before deduction of interest, taxation, *  BRAE ~ BIA - & RBIHEAI AF BIHEFE - B

depreciation and amortisation. 18 - TE REER AR FERF -
* The amount for 2010 is stated excluding the valuation gains on investment ~ *  — T~ FFEZSMI T REEMREMRGEERS
properties of HK$3,996,000. 75 13,996,0007T ©
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Corporate Milestones
TEASHE

e Entered into the Energy Management Agreement in respect of a heat pump project in the
Zibo Ceramic Development Zone

e Secured a biomass power generation project at Laiyang City of Shandong Province
O /I /2 O /I /I e Entered into an investment agreement in respect of the Yixing Veinous Industrial Park
s REBNEMAERFREESR(BRIER)
o BEBIUREBHGHEYEEEERR
FEHEMRREXRRE R Z

02/2011

e Entered into a concession agreement in respect of the
Sugian Hazardous Solid Waste Landfill Project & S Pe]

e Announced 2010 annual results, with profit attributable
to equity shareholders amounting to HK$616,433,000

s REBEBLEEESBERRTEE hH
s RN —T-EFEFEE  BISERENET
751616,433,0007T

Waste processing fee of Changzhou Waste-to-energy Project
was increased by 7%
e Invested in German Ground Photovoltaic Energy Project

o EMECREEEBMECSNGIEE FHT7%
o REEBEMENIKEEIAR
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e Convened 2011 annual general meeting of the Company

BT T FERRAFAE

e FEstablished Everbright Environmental Protection Equipment Manufacturing
(Changzhou) Limited

e Huaining Ground Photovoltaic Energy Project successfully
connected to the power grid and started power generation

A B,

 Waste water treatment fee of Zibo Waste Water Treatment Py LES oE

Project was increased by 15%
e Groundbreaking ceremony held at Suzhou Waste-to-
energy Project Phase I

o FARBRRERECEN)BRAT MR
o EEMENKHEAD R LBEE sl
o SETKRIBEE 1)SKEEE FE15% \ R

o BMEIREEIEE —HTIRETER h v"

e German Ground Photovoltaic Energy Project successfully connected to power grid
and started power generation

e Entered into an investment agreement in respect of the Nanjing
Veinous Industrial Park

MRk Mk s o ERMEAREIHE KW HESE

ole o BYoR - sEmanRELERARE
g ‘e
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Corporate Milestones 1% K EH 2

e Announced 2011 interim results, with profit attributable to
equity shareholders amounting to HK$351,668,000

e Zhenjiang Waste-to-energy Project successfully
connected to the power grid and started power
generation

s RHZT——FETHRE  BERREERN
7&#351,668,0007T
o SETHIRBEBAARINWMEEE

3 —— AR L
worim Resulls Anpoun

e Entered into the Termination Agreement of the Jiangyin Sewage Piping Network
Transfer

e The Company was selected as a constituent member of the Hang Seng
Corporate Sustainability Benchmark Index

Commenced construction of Suzhou Waste-to-energy Project Phase llI

e The first biomass power generation project and the group-donated true
love school in Dangshan commenced operation

Jiangyin Waste-to-energy Project successfully supplied purified
methane to natural gas pipeline as clean energy

e Jinan and Zibo Reusable Water Projects commenced
commercial operation

e Entered into a concession agreement in respect of the Dezhou
Nanyunhe Waste Water Treatment Project

e Jinan Waste-to-energy Project successfully connected to the
power grid and started power generation

FERITIRSKEBEZRGZH
o ANRAEBAMFERREOELEEZNGR
o ERMENIREEIEE —HIRTER
. o HEAEYEREREIRE MEENEOERNEG LIZE KA
o JIRRHNREBEIEE NI BRI FHEEBARAREEBIERBZR
o EREMSHEPIKIBERE
o FEREIMNmEMSKERIEEB B EHH
o EMRINBBEIHEKRNITHES
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The Company was awarded the “Outstanding Environmental Protection Enterprise” by “Wen
Wei Po”

The Company was named “The Most Investment Potential Company” by “Capital
Magazine” and “Capital Weekly”

Waste processing fee of Zhenjiang Waste-to-energy Project was increased by 8.3%

Dangshan Biomass Power Generation CDM Project was successfully registered in /I /I / 20 /I /I
the United Nations

Entered into a supplementary agreement in respect of the extension
work of the Jinan Licheng Waste Water Treatment Project (Plant 3)

Obtained approval for a subsidy from the 2012 Strategic
Emerging Industries Fund (Energy Saving and Environmental
Protection) by the National Development and Reform
Commission

RN BVEN ERR IR H R BRBRED R R
ARTEIERNMES I M EAEE IREKEAREMNRE
E v N

TR EIA B Ba R IE B AT £ H98.3%

B 1L A )& B 32 ECDMIA B 7R & BIREM A Th
FEERERSKEIERB (ZR)ER T2 TS

BRI BN R E201 26 RS IR A R (LRI E S

Entered into the “Strategic Cooperation Agreement” with the People’s Government of
Ningbo City, Zhejiang Province

e The Company was selected as the “Hong Kong Outstanding Enterprise 2011” by
“Economic Digest”

e Three rooftop photovoltaic energy projects in Sugian, Changzhou and Zhenjiang
successfully connected to the power grid and started power generation

e Sugian Waste-to-energy Project successfully connected to the
power grid and started power generation

o ENNTEERTARBNZRZ(BEBEEERZ)
o REEEBIRE —T——FHLARE]
s B/E  FMMEI=EETRAZRTHEAALBEE
o TEELANEBEARNLPEHRE
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Chairman’s Statement
FEWmE

In 2011, the Group’s penetration of domestic markets continued
through enhancing its existing project capacity and introducing new
projects while extending its reach overseas. These efforts achieved 5
breakthroughs which were guided by its strategy of “Development,
Consolidation, Enhancement” along with the support by and concemn
of the community. In the first instance, its environmental protection
business has been advanced from downstream to upstream and
new major self-developed environmental protection equipment has
been successfully completed. Secondly, a major breakthrough was
made in its overseas market development by completing and starting
commercial operation of the ground photovoltaic energy project in
Germany. In the third major advance, the Group’s carbon emission
reduction business has achieved major progress. Noteworthy here is
that the Dangshan Biomass Power Generation Project in Anhui was
successfully registered as a “Clean Development Mechanism” project
by the United Nations. Fourthly, the alternative energy construction
and contracting business achieved a significant breakthrough by
setting up a self engineering and construction team for photovoltaic
energy projects. Lastly, there has been a major step-forward in the
Group’s corporate image.

During the year under review, the Group generated 776 million kWh
of green electricity, which is equivalent to saving the consumption
of 311,000 tonnes of standard coal and reducing carbon dioxide
emission by 789,000 tonnes. The Company was selected as a
constituent member of the Hang Seng Corporate Sustainability
Benchmark Index on 5 September 2011 by Hang Seng Indexes
Company Limited. Inclusion within this key indicator fully reflects its
outstanding performance in sustainable development in the aspects
of environmental protection, corporate social responsibility and
corporate governance.

As at the end of 2011, the Group has secured 59 environmental
protection and alternative energy projects including waste-to-energy,
waste water treatment and methane-to-energy projects within both
major urban and rural areas across Jiangsu, Shandong, Zhejiang,

@ China Everbright International Limited 2 Byt A BIFR AR A )
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Anhui, Shanxi and Guangdong Provinces which commanded a
total investment of approximately RMB12 billion. This success
has enabled the Group to maintain its leadership position in the
environmental energy and waste water treatment businesses.

During the year under review, profit attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company was HK$801,44 1,000, approximately
30% higher than that of last year (2010: HK$616,433,000). The
increase was mainly attributable to the steady growth of the core
environmental protection and alternative energy businesses bringing
in higher revenues and the efforts of the Group in boosting internal
management and controlling operating costs during the year.

In consideration of the satisfactory results and the healthy financial
position of the Group, the board of directors of the Company
(the “Board”) has proposed to pay the equity shareholders of the
Company a final dividend of HK2.5 cents per share. Together with
the interim dividend of HK2.0 cents per share in 2011, the total
dividends for the year are to be HK4.5 cents per share (2010: HK2.5
cents per share).

The scarcity of global natural resources has prompted countries
across the world to attach more concern over the development
of energy conservation and environmental protection industry. To
guide and promote the development of business to realize effective
environmental protection nationwide, the Ministry of Environmental
Protection issued the “Plan for Establishing National Environmental
Protection Regulations and Environmental Economic Policies under
the 12th Five-Year Plan” in late 2011. This plan has put forth a series
of financial and economic policies to accelerate the development
of environmental protection, energy conservation and emission
reduction businesses. The policies include supportive economic and
financial measures to environmental protection industry in the areas
of renewable energy, waste-to-energy and reusable water, thus
creating a favourable operating environment and enormous room
for the growth of the Group’s environmental protection business. In
the meantime, the Group was granted a syndicated loan of US$100
million from a bank consortium led by the Asian Development Bank
in January 2012. The funding is to provide strong support for the
Group’s ongoing development of projects within its environmental
protection business.

Looking ahead, with the strong support from the nation for the
environmental protection industry as well as our parent company,
China Everbright Holdings Company Limited (a state-owned super
sized financial holdings group), we are confident that we can
realize the full potential of the exciting opportunities for our future
development. The Group plans to continue enhancing its core
environmental protection business and invest in R&D and innovation
to reinforce its market position in key regions including Jiangsu
and Shandong etc. In addition, we are actively exploring business
opportunities in the Yangtze River Delta, the Pearl River Delta and Bohai
Bay with the aim to capture a larger market share and achieve higher
operating efficiencies.

| would like to express my sincere thanks to the management and
the staff of the Group. My heartfelt gratitude is also extended to all
shareholders, fellow Board members and all business partners for
their unweaving support and trust. We will adhere to our promise
to leverage the advantages of the Group and seize the market
opportunities for delivering better returns to our shareholders and
creating value for society.

Tang Shuangning
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 February 2012
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Chief Executive Officer's Report
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An enterprise is not only the creator of wealth,
but also the safeguard of environmental

and social responsibility
TEMERMEMENRIEE
FREMARRESERRES

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

Operating Results

The year 2011 inaugurated China’s Twelfth Five-Year Plan. During
the year under review, the Central Government has launched a
series of measures to boost both the economy as well as the
seven emerging strategic industries. The national emphasis of
promoting energy conservation and emission reduction to spur
successful transformation of Chinese economy has presented huge
development opportunities to the Group.

2011 was an important year as the Group initiated a new round of
development according to the Twelfth Five-Year Plan. It was also
the eighth year of the Group’s business transformation to focus
on environmental protection and alternative energy sectors. At
the beginning of the year, the Group has carefully evaluated and
concluded its business development experience during the previous
Eleventh Five-Year Plan. The Group concluded that its operating
philosophies of “Integrity, Efficiency, Pragmatism and Innovation” will
continue to guide the overall development, breakthroughs in strategic
direction and choice of geographical area. The Group will advance
from a higher position and a wider horizon with stronger momentum
and better cohesiveness, enabled by its more sophisticated
technology, as well as higher project quality and efficiency to steadily
grow. In doing so, the Group is marching forward in achieving an
excellent business performance and rapid development during the
period of the Twelfth Five-Year Plan. Entering into a new stage of
development, the Group does not only focus on quantitative growth
and external expansion, but will also integrate speed, quality and
effectiveness in its development, aiming to achieve growth in scale
and effectiveness together.

@ China Everbright International Limited 2 B3¢ K BIBR AR A )
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The backdrop of the year 2011 was exceptional, particularly in the
second half as the effects of the European and American debt crises
have brought sudden changes to the market environment. The
management maintains that development is the absolute principle
and has taken proactive actions. The Group has promptly evaluated
the development plan as well as its timely response to changing
market conditions. Towards this end, the Group put forward a
number of valuable corporate objectives of “Unifies understanding,
Clarifies objectives, Improves overall efficiency in all operations
and Develops steadily” and work requirements of “Preparing for
crisis in good times, Staying calm when faced with challenges,
Initiating timely and appropriate actions, and Preparing for the next
boom”. To achieve these objectives and fulfill these requirements,
the management has devised a series of measures. In light of the
huge one-off investment cost of environmental protection and
alternative energy projects, the Group has proactively raised and
prudently allocated fundings for satisfying short, medium and long-
term requirements ensuring that investments for new and extended
projects in the whole year are in place.

The year 2011 has witnessed a robust performance as the Group
embarks on the new stage of development, mainly in the following
areas: First, operating results achieved new heights with profit
before taxation exceeding HK$1 billion for the first time, and the
Group also enjoyed a greater improvement in operation efficiency
in comparison to the scale of operations. Second, the operation
of projects was stable with improved standards. At present, the
projects in operation have entered a stage of better performance with
the waste processing volume, power generation and waste water
treatment volume setting new records. Third, the Group currently
boasts its highest-ever number of projects completing construction
and commencing commercial operation, signifying its outstanding
construction efficiency. In 2011, there were total of 13 projects which
completed construction and commenced commercial operation.
These projects have not only generated construction service revenue
to the Group, but also created a new growth driver for the Group.
Fourth, the achievement of equipment manufacturing is explicit while
creating continuous innovation in technology development. The
Group has formed a product line of self-developed grate furnaces
and automatic control system with a daily waste processing capacity
of 250 tonnes to 500 tonnes. The Group has also achieved initial
success with the R&D of the water cooling grate furnaces suitable
for high heat value biomass burning. The leachate treatment system
and sludge dehydration and burning treatment system were under
optimization. Fifth, the Group achieved numerous breakthroughs in
its development, which include: i) it completed construction of the
first self-developed grate furnaces and automatic control system
for waste-to-energy project in Zhenjiang, which has commenced
commercial operation; ii) its first overseas photovoltaic energy
project in Germany completed construction and started commercial
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operation; iii) the first batch of reusable water projects for integrated
use of water resources completed construction and has commenced
commercial operation; iv) the Group’s first waste water source
heat pump project has completed construction and commenced
commercial operation; v) the Group’s first biomass power generation
demonstration project completed construction and has commenced
commercial operation; vi) the first school donated by the Group has
completed enrollment and commenced the initial school term; vii) the
Group registered its first Clean Development Mechanism (“CDM”)
project with the United Nations; and viii) the Group obtained its first-
ever special subsidy approved by the Central Government.

During the year under review, the Group’s consolidated
turnover amounted to HK$3,663,563,000, an increase of 25%
from HK$2,929,415,000 of 2010. The EBITDA on recurring
basis amounted to HK$1,439,571,000, a rise of 36% from
HK$1,059,858,000 of last year. Profit attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company for the year of 2011 was
HK$801,441,000, 30% more than the HK$616,433,000 of 2010.
Basic earnings per share were HK21.86 cents, HK4.94 cents more
than the HK16.92 cents in the previous year.

To reward shareholders for their support and taking into
consideration the long-term sustainable development of the Group,
the Board has proposed to pay a final dividend of HK2.5 cents per
share to shareholders of the Company. Together with the interim
dividend of HK2.0 cents per share already paid, the total dividends
for the year are to be HK4.5 cents per share (2010: HK2.5 cents per
share).

During the year under review, to keep pace with the rapid
development of the environmental protection and alternative energy
industries, the Group has expanded its businesses in both domestic
and overseas markets. It has captured 11 new projects commanding
a total investment of approximately RMB1.873 billion. Up to the end
of 2011, the Group has secured 59 environmental protection and
alternative energy projects with a total investment of approximately
RMB11.914 billion. Of these projects, those with construction
already completed accounted for a total investment of approximately
RMB7.785 billion, while those currently under construction have
a total investment of about RMB1.298 billion. The estimated total
investment of projects still in the preparatory stage was approximately
RMB2.831 billion.
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During the year under review, the turnover from the environmental
protection and alternative energy business sectors reached
HK$3,485,393,000 (construction service revenue: 61%, operation
service revenue: 24%, finance income: 15%). This marked an
increase of 25% compared to 2010 and accounted for 95% of the
Group’s total turnover, same as that in 2010. The EBITDA amounted
to HK$1,359,579,000, a rise of 40% when compared to the previous
year and accounted for 94% of the Group’s total EBITDA.

The major operation and financial data of the environmental
protection and alternative energy businesses in 2011 is summarized
in the table below.

OEFENRN RENTERERRBHSE
FH 3% 78 #5 3,485,393,000 7T ( H A 32 3k AR 75 U 21
1561% @ B2 R IZE1H24% @ B AL
156%) » W T —TFIERI5%  (HAALEFED
95% @ H—Z—TFEHE - BRFE - FHE - e
NEES R BT A1 ,359,579,0007T © BT —
THEA0% - HAKERFIE - I8 - TE RS
SHATZFIAI94% ©

T —FRERMTERERS 2 TR E L EUF
BT

2011
—F-f
Environmental Environmental  Alternative Environmental  Environmental Alternative
Energy Water Energy Energy Water Energy
Projects Projects Projects Projects Projects Projects
IRREER BRKE HaeR Total RIRER Rk ez Total
IFH JEH JEH &% 2R 2R IBE G
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR  MMTR  BMTR %R OBNTR  BBTR BMTR B%TR
Tumover S
- Construction — R
senvices 1,536,109 128,876 453,626 2,118,611 1,360,418 233,243 91,220 1,684,881
— Operation —BERB
senvices 347,148 431,275 61,743 840,166 270,045 381,547 12,160 663,752
—Financeincome ~ —BIFMA 277,609 244,354 4,653 526,616 185,979 241,924 3,126 431,029
2,160,866 804,505 520,022 3,485,393 1,816,442 856,714 106,506 2,779,662
EBITDA BRAIS -~ B3R -
& RESHRI 2 A 820,373 440,454 98,752 1,359,579 584,896 363,801 23,908 972,605

In its energy conservation and emission reduction operations, the
Group has processed household and industrial waste of 2,488,000
tonnes and agricultural waste of 87,000 tonnes and generated green
electricity of 776,392,000 kWh. This output can fulfill the annual
electricity consumption of 647,000 households and is equivalent
to saving the consumption of standard coal of 311,000 tonnes
and reducing carbon dioxide (CO,) emission by 789,000 tonnes.
Meanwhile, the Group has treated waste water (including leachate
from waste-to-energy plants) of 500,972,000 m?® and reduced
COD emission by 178,000 tonnes. Since the operation of its first
environmental protection project in 2005, the Group has processed
accumulated household and industrial waste of 6,793,000 tonnes,
agricultural waste of 87,000 tonnes and generated green electricity
of 2,317,732,000 kWh, which can fulfill the annual electricity
consumption of 1,931,000 households and save the equivalent of
standard coal of 927,000 tonnes, reducing the emissions of CO, by
1,946,000 tonnes and preventing the cutting of 300,000,000 trees.
The Group has treated accumulated waste water (including leachate
from waste-to-energy plants) of 2,144,287,000 m3 and reduced
COD emissions by 833,000 tonnes.
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A total of 12 waste-to-energy projects, 4 industrial solid waste
landfill projects and 7 environmental protection industrial parks
with a total investment of approximately RMB5.375 billion.

The facilities are designed with an annual capacity to process
household waste of approximately 3,850,000 tonnes which can
in turn produce electricity of approximately 1,071,000,000 kWh
annually. The annual industrial solid waste landfill capacity is
approximately 100,000 m3.
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As at 31 December 2011, the Group has 12 waste-to-
energy projects, 4 industrial solid waste landfill projects and 7
environmental protection industrial parks that carried a total
investment of approximately RMB5.375 billion. The facilities are
designed with an annual capacity to process household waste
of approximately 3,850,000 tonnes which can in turn generate
electricity of approximately 1,071,000,000 kWh annually. The
annual industrial solid waste landfill capacity is approximately
100,000 ms&.

To consolidate its leadership in the waste-to-energy industry,
the Group proactively upgraded its operating projects in
accordance with the Euro 2000 Standard (currently the most
stringent standard in the world). The Group has become the
sole company in the PRC with gas emission of all operating
waste-to-energy projects complying with Euro 2000 Standard,
underscoring its position with the largest waste-to-energy project
under operation in the PRC adhering to the highest standards.

During the year under review, the 3 waste-to-energy projects in
Zhenjiang, Jinan and Sugian were completed and commenced
commercial operation. The Zhenjiang Project has been equipped
with the Group’s self-developed grate furnaces and automatic
control system, realising the goal of using all domestically
fabricated equipment. The Jinan Project is currently the largest
waste-to-energy project completed within one phase in the PRC.
The Group added the Sugian Hazardous Waste Landfill Project,
the largest of its kind in the northern part of Jiangsu area. The
project is expected to be completed and commence commercial
operation by the end of 2012. During the year under review,
the Zhenjiang Project was approved to increase the waste
processing fee by 8.3% by the Zhenjiang Municipal Government
in November. The application for the 7% increase in the waste
processing fee of the Changzhou Project in accordance with the
concession requirement has also been approved.
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During the year under review, the environmental energy
projects of the Group together processed a total household
waste of 2,442,000 tonnes, solid waste of 46,000 m3 and
generated on-grid electricity of 563,037,000 kWh, an increase
of 28%, 21% and 24% respectively compared with last year.
The environmental energy projects brought an EBITDA of
HK$820,373,000, an increase of 40% over last year. The growth
of profit was mainly attributable to the construction service
revenue contributed by the waste-to-energy projects in Jinan,
Zhenjiang and Sugian during the construction period. In addition,
the growth in processing volume in operating projects sustained
the increase in the operation service revenue.
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Major operating and financial data of the environmental energy

“T—FERRERER T RE L HE

sector in 2011 is summarized below: BEBIT -
Suzhou Waste-to-energy Project & /N7 ZE1E B
(“Suzhou Project”) Phase |, |l ([&MBR )—H
and lIl® “HE=H0 950,000 941,000 240,713 228,275 186,525 173,310
Yixing Waste-to-energy Project  EE 33 EEH
(“Yixing Project’) Phase | @ (HEUEE )-8 231,000 240000 52480 51950 20711 24652
Jiangyin Waste-to-energy TEAREERE
Project (“Jiangyin Project’) (DIRRIEE )—H
Phase [ and Il @ k=0 489,000 348,000 117,234 82,709 141,846 96,747
Changzhou Waste-to-energy B MR EIER
Project (‘Changzhou (M&MEE ) @
Project”) @ 372,000 382,000 81,599 81,724 60,564 46,622
Jinan Waste-to-energy Project  JERIVIREEIER
(“Jinan Project’) ® (EfER )6 269,000 = 40,126 - 193074 136,504
Zhenjiang Waste-to-energy ATHIREEER
Project (‘Zhenjiang Project’) ©  ([$BJTIEE |) © 131,000 - 20,885 = 74,045 68,299
Sugjan Waste-to-energy Project BB AR EIER
(“Sugian Project’) ™ ([BBm@EAE ) - = - - 91,838 14,493
Huidong Waste-to-energy BRAREEER
Project (‘Huidong Project’)®  ([Z5IER |) ® - - - - (1,869) (1,678)
2,442,000 1,911,000 553,037 444,658 775,734 558,949
Suzhou Industrial Solid Waste &)1l T £ EREEEER
Landfil Project and Sugjan REBEEAERE
Hazardous Waste Landfil (RiE[ErEEE D) O
Project (collectively “Solid (SIHXK)
Waste Projects”) @ (m?) 46,000 38,000 = - 44,639 25,947
820,373 584,896

The increase in profit of the Suzhou Project was mainly attributable to
the sustained increase in scale and operating efficiency during the year
under review. Also, the construction of Suzhou Project Phase Il has
commenced in September 2011, thus generating construction service
revenue.

The increase in profit of the Yixing Project was mainly attributable
to more effective cost control which increased the overall operation
efficiency.

The increase in profit of the Jiangyin Project was mainly attributable
to the recognition of construction cost saving upon completion of the
construction final accounts of Phase Il during the year under review.
Also, the commencement of operation of Phase Il increased the waste
processing volume and on-grid electricity, thereby driving up the
operation service revenue.
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(4) The rise in profit of the Changzhou Project was mainly attributable to
the 7% increase in the waste processing fee.

(6) The Jinan Project was completed and has commenced commercial
operation in October 2011.

(6) The Zhenjiang Project has commenced commercial operation and
generated on-grid electricity in August 2011. In November, the
Zhenjiang Municipal Government approved a 8.3% increase in waste
processing fee.

(7)  The Sugian Project completed construction in December 2011 and is
currently under trial run.

(8) The Huidong Project is now under preparatory stage and its
construction is expected to commence in 2012.

(9) The increase in profit of the Solid Waste Projects was because of the
growth of solid waste volume processed during the year under review.
Construction work for the Sugian Hazardous Waste Landfill Project will
be commenced and are expected to be completed and handed over
for use by the end of 2012.

When designing and building environmental protection industrial
park, the Group works in close concert with the responsible
local government authorities on the comprehensive planning
and full utilisation of local resources within the park, sharing of
infrastructure, optimising land resources in order to achieve
the integrated use of solid waste and enhance the efficiency
of energy conservation, so ultimately the park can achieve
“zero discharge”. In addition to the industrial parks in Suzhou,
Changzhou, Sugian and Zhenjiang in Jiangsu Province and
Yantai in Shandong Province, the Group has also added new
environmental protection veinous industrial parks in Yixing
and Nanjing in Jiangsu Province during the year under review,
bringing the total number to 7.

During the year under review, the Group successfully extended
its business coverage to Zhejiang Province by signing a
cooperative framework agreement with the Ningbo Municipal
Government in December in relation to the investment in the
construction of energy conservation, environmental protection,
alternative energy and municipal infrastructure facilities.
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A total of 19 waste water treatment projects, 3 reusable water projects and
1 surface water project with a total investment of RMB3.587 billion.

The projects are deS|gned with an annual capacity to treat waste water of
approximately 657,000,000 m°, as well as to provide reusable water of 22,330,000 m°
and supply surface water of 36, 500 000 m® annually.
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3. ENVIRONMENTAL WATER

As at 31 December 2011, the Group’s environmental water
sector comprised a total of 19 waste water treatment projects,
3 reusable water projects and 1 surface water project with a
total investment of RMB3.587 billion. The projects are designed
with an annual capacity to treat waste water of approximately
657,000,000 m3, as well as to provide reusable water of
22,330,000 m? and supply surface water of 36,500,000 m?3
annually.

During the year under review, the Group further expanded this
sector and secured the Licheng Waste Water Treatment Plant
Extension Project Phase Il in Jinan, Shandong Province and the
Nanyunhe Waste Water Treatment Plant in Dezhou, Shandong
Province. Phase Il of the former commands a total investment
of approximately RMB195 million with a total daily waste water
treatment capacity of 100,000 m?, and pending completion and
operation in 2012 for a concession period of 25 years including
the construction period. Meanwhile, the concession period of
Phase | is to be extended for another two years and handed over
in 2036. The Dezhou Nanyunhe Waste Water Treatment Project
is the Group’s third investment project in Dezhou, Shandong
Province, after Plant 1 and Plant 2 of the Dezhou Ling County
Waste Water Treatment Project. With a total daily waste water
treatment capacity of 150,000 m3, it is to be built in two phases
with a concession period of 25 years excluding the construction
period. At a total investment cost of RMB230 miillion, the project
is expected to be completed and commence operation in 2012
and 2013 in phases.
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During the year under review, the Group’s environmental water
sector undertook 3 reusable water projects. Jinan Reusable
Water Project and Phase | of the Zibo Reusable Water Project
started commercial operation in September, producing
447,000 m?3 of reusable water per day for industrial use. These
projects represent a new profit growth driver for the Group as
they have progressed a major step forward from sole internal
use to external supply of water. In addition, the construction of
Jiangyin Reusable Water Project has been started and will be
completed for commercial operation in 2012. This project is
planned to deliver 10,000 m? of reusable water per day to local
textile and electronic industries, successfully opening a new
market for integrated use of reusable water resource.

During the year under review, the Jinan Licheng Waste Water
Treatment Plant and Zibo Waste Water Treatment Project have
received official approval to increase their waste water treatment
fees, the latter by 15%. Besides, the Group has terminated
the Jiangyin Sewage Piping Network Transfer Agreement in
September, hence it received a refund of RMB561,329,000.
Its waste water treatment fee was also increased to RMB1.661
per m? from the original waste water treatment fee of RMB1.36
per m® when the Waste Water Treatment Agreement was firstly
entered into.

During the year under review, the environmental water projects
treated waste water of 500,972,000 m3, an increase of 9%
compared with last year. These operations brought an EBITDA
of HK$440,454,000, 21% higher than the previous year. The
increase in profit was mainly due to the increase in waste water
treatment volume.
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Major operating and financial data in the environmental water R —FERFKGER 2 T EBEL M
BEHBRT

sector in 2011 is summarized below:

EBITDA
Waste water treatment (HK$’000)
volume (m?) BRFIE - BiIE -
SIKEREE ITEE iR R A

Project (ILHXK) (B%TrT)
I5H 2011 2010 2011 2010
Qingdao Waste Water 585KEEIER

Treatment Project (IE8ER)O

(“Qingdao Project”) ™ 70,358,000 67,768,000 44,616 30,508
Zibo Waste Water Treatment J&185/KRIEIE B

Project (Southern and (FaZPmR. JLRRAN

Northem Plants and High- = ¥TE &)

tech Zone Plant) (Zibo (stEmEe ) @

Project”) @ 113,583,000 113,149,000 56,195 40,019
Jinan Waste Water R S/KERIRTIE B

Treatment Project (Plant (— W~ =&

1, 2 and 4) (“Jinan Waste PuR) ([ERES7K

Water Projects”) @ IHEB |) e 186,481,000 164,551,000 145,271 120,507
Jinan Licheng Waste Water 75 mg 3 5 7K BRIE

Treatment Project (Plant 3) BB (=& ) ([#%E

(“Jinan Licheng Project”) FEEIEE ) —HBk

Phase | and Phase Il @ —Hi® 40,587,000 36,861,000 23,849 19,374
Boxing Waste Water B 5K R I8 B

Treatment Project (MMEEIEE |) ®

(Boxing Project’) © 12,338,000 12,072,000 7,283 1,086
Zhoucun Waste Water B 5/KEIRIE B

Treatment Project ([ARIEE ) ®

(Zhoucun Project”) © 15,392,000 16,101,000 9,053 6,516
Jiangyin Waste Water L 5/KEREIE B

Treatment Project (IIres57kIEE ) 0

(“Jiangyin Waste Water

Project”) @ 51,063,000 42,755,000 106,888 117,339
Ling County Waste Water  P&5%57/KEIEIE B

Treatment Project (Plant 1 (—Bi &% —&%)

and 2) (“Ling County (MEHmEA D e

Project”) ® 11,170,000 4,797,000 22,772 17,763
Xinyi BT Project and Xinyi ¥TBTEE RETR

Surface Water BT Project ©  #17x/KBTIEE © - = 22,144 9,789
Dezhou Nanyunhe Waste /1| B35 557K

Water Treatment Project IR R ([ F&Em

(“Nanyunhe Project”) (10 IHE ]) 0o — - - -
Jinan Reusable Water EEKIER - KE

Project, Zibo Reusable FKIEE —HiNT

Water Project Phase | and ferkIg g (1

Jiangyin Reusable Water

Project (19 - = 2,383 -

500,972,000 458,054,000 440,454 363,801
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The increase in profit of the Qingdao Project was mainly attributable
to the increase in the waste water treatment fee which increased the
operation service revenue.

The increase in profit of the Zibo Project was mainly attributable to the
increase in the waste water treatment fee and effective cost control
which enhanced overall operational efficiency.

The increase in profit of the Jinan Waste Water Project was because of
the commencement of commercial operation of Plant 4 in June 2010
which increased the waste water treatment volume and thus generated
greater operation service revenue.

The increase in profit of Phase | of the Jinan Licheng Project was
mainly attributable to the increase in the waste water treatment volume.
Phase Il of the project is expected to be completed and commence
commercial operation in 2012.

The increase in profit of the Boxing Project was mainly attributable to
effective cost control which enhanced overall operational efficiency.

The rise in profit of the Zhoucun Project was mainly attributable to
the recognition of construction cost saving upon completion of the
construction final accounts during the year under review.

The decrease in profit of the Jiangyin Waste Water Project was mainly
attributable to the decrease in finance income as a result of early receipt
of revenue of RMB561,329,000 arising from the termination of the
Sewage Piping Network Transfer Agreement.

The increase in profit of the Ling County Project was mainly attributable
to the increase in waste water treatment volume which increased the
operation service revenue.

The Xinyi BT Project was transferred to the Xinyi Municipal Government
in 2010. Profit for the year under review mainly represented the
recognition of construction service revenue of Xinyi Surface Water BT
Project.

The Nanyunhe Project Phase | is expected to commence commercial
operation in 2012.

The Jinan Reusable Water Project and the Zibo Reusable Water
Project Phase | have commenced commercial operation in September
2011. The Jiangyin Reusable Water Project is expected to complete
construction and commence commercial operation in 2012.
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A total of 19 alternative energy projects, including 8 photovoltaic energy
projects, 6 biomass power generation projects, 3 methane-to-energy
projects and 2 waste water source heat pump projects with a total
investment of approximately RMB2.863 billion.

The total designed annual processing capacity of agricultural waste
is approximately 1,643,000 tonnes, generating on-grid electricity of
1,173,000,000 kWh annually.

ﬁﬁ+ﬂﬂﬁbﬁﬁﬁ BENEXAREEEE - NMEEYEEEIE
B =ZEARFEEREELE MMESNKRARIER @ BIREHNARK28.63(F
7‘EO

BRABBREFRBEEREZYA1,643,000  F FHEE=
1,173,000,000 F LB ©
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4. ALTERNATIVE ENERGY

In recent years, energy consumption has been growing along
with the continuous development of the global economy. The
consumption of fossil fuels such as coal, oil and natural gas etc.
also continues to increase. The Group has taken big strides
forward in developing alternative energy businesses such as
photovoltaic energy, biomass power generation and wind power
etc.

As at 31 December 2011, the Group has secured 19 alternative
energy projects, including 8 photovoltaic energy projects, 6
biomass power generation projects, 3 methane-to-energy
projects and 2 waste water source heat pump projects.
Together, these projects command an overall investment
of approximately RMB2.863 billion, and provide a total
designed annual processing capacity of agricultural waste of
approximately 1,643,000 tonnes, and generate on-grid electricity
of 1,173,000,000 kWh annually.

During the year under review, the alternative energy business
has been growing rapidly. The Group added 7 new alterative
energy projects including the ground photovoltaic energy project
in Germany, Phase Il of the Sugian Rooftop Photovoltaic Energy
Project, the Zhenjiang Rooftop Photovoltaic Energy Project, the
Changzhou Rooftop Photovoltaic Energy Project, the Laiyang
Biomass Power Generation Project, the Hanshan Biomass
Power Generation Project and Phase Il of the Zibo Waste Water
Source Heat Pump Project (“Zibo Heat Pump Project”). The
Group’s first biomass power generation project, Dangshan
Biomass Power Generation Project (“Dangshan Project”) in Anhui
province, commanding an investment of approximately RMB312
million, has commenced commercial operation in September
2011. Upon commencement of commercial operation, this
project is expected to process agricultural waste not lower than
300,000 tonnes a year. Within a year, the Dangshan Project
has successfully registered as a CDM project under the United
Nations, the short development period is rarely seen in projects

@ China Everbright International Limited 7 B¢ K BIBR GBR A &)
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of the same type. Besides, its first overseas alternative energy
project, a photovoltaic energy project in Germany, has been
connected to the power grid and has started power generation
in June. The German Ground Photovoltaic Energy Project
(“German Photovoltaic Energy Project”) will help the Group
to enhance the construction, management and operation of
photovoltaic energy projects in the PRC as well as to extend
its reach into the overseas market. Besides, the Group is also
actively engaged in developing wind power projects and its wind
farm in Ningwu County within Shanxi Province is conducting
wind measurement tests and the preliminary indicators have
been better than expected.

During the year under review, the Group’s alternative energy
projects have provided a total on-grid electricity of 76,448,000
kWh, and brought an EBITDA of HK$98,752,000, representing
an increase of 313% as compared to last year. The rise in profit
was mainly attributable to the recognition of construction service
revenue generated by the construction of the Dangshan Project.
Moreover, the commencement of operation of 2 photovoltaic
energy projects also contributed to the rise in the Group’s overall
profit.
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Major operating and financial data of the alternative energy B FEHERER T EELEITE
67 S

sector in 2011 is summarized below:

EBITDA (HK$’000)
BRFIE - FIE -
On-grid electricity (MWh) INEREHIRT

Project HEAEE(JKFLEF) (B%Tr)
I5H 2011 2010 2011 2010
Dangshan Project fZlLIE RO 42,738 = 72,603 5,894
Sugjian Rooftop Photovoltaic  TEEBE BN E

Energy Project (“Sugian HB ([EEXK

Photovoltaic Energy HE —HKx—H e

Project”) Phase 1 and

Phase 2 @ 2,221 - 4,428 (757)
Zhenjiang Ground and ST E R ETEFK

Rooftop Photovoltaic BEIAA ([#|IARK

Energy Project (‘Zhenjang  I8HE |) ©®

Photovoltaic Energy

Project”) ® 3,553 - 3,878 (394)
Huaining Ground EEMENRES

Photovoltaic Energy HA ([MEEARK

Project (“Huaining HR]) @

Photovoltaic Energy

Project”) @ 1,444 - 610 (333)
Suzhou Methane-to-energy & /I BR L EIER

Project (“Suzhou Methane-  ([&RJIBRIER |) ©

to-energy Project”) © 23,634 26,148 9,538 12,735
Shenzhen Rooftop AIETBHIREE

Photovoltaic Energy IE B ([FRYIPLR

Project (“Shenzhen EHB]®

Photovoltaic Energy

Project”) © 1,404 - 1,569 =
Zibo Heat Pump Project @ S§IBZRIAR 0 - - 3,877 6,763
German Photovoltaic Energy 7ZBYIRIER ©

Project ©® 1,454 — 2,852 =
Changzhou Rooftop EMETENIREE

Photovoltaic Energy BB ([FEM R

Project (“Changzhou HE DO

Photovoltaic Energy

Project”) @ - S (603) -

76,448 26,148 98,752 23,908
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The Dangshan Project was connected to the power grid and started
power generation in September 2011.

The Sugian Photovoltaic Energy Project Phase | has commenced
commercial operation in late 2010, and has made a profit contribution
during the year under review. Phase Il of the project completed
construction in December 2011 and commercial operation has been
started in January 2012.

The Zhenjiang Ground Photovoltaic Energy Project has commenced
commercial operation in 2010, and has brought a profit contribution to
the Group during the year under review. The rooftop project completed
construction in December 2011 and commercial operation has been
started in January 2012.

The Huaining Photovoltaic Energy Project has commenced commercial
operation in May 2011.

The decline in profit of the Suzhou Methane-to-energy Project was
mainly attributable to the decrease of on-grid electricity volume during
the year under review.

The Shenzhen Photovoltaic Energy Project has commenced
commercial operation in the fourth quarter of 2010 and has continued
to bring profit contribution to the Group during the year under review.

The Zibo Heat Pump Project has commenced commercial operation in
the fourth quarter of 2011.

The German Photovoltaic Energy Project was connected to the power
grid and started power generation in June 2011.

The Changzhou Photovoltaic Energy Project completed construction in
December 2011 and commercial operation has been started in January
2012.
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Completion of 13 projects including 3 waste-to-energy
projects, 2 reusable water projects, 2 ground photovoltaic
energy projects, 3 rooftop photovoltaic energy projects,
1 waste water source heat pump project, 1 industrial solid
waste landfill project and 1 biomass power generation project
during the year under review.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION ENGINEERING

The Group has undertaken the most number of tasks and projects
in environmental protection engineering in 2011, with 30 projects
under construction and preparation, commanding a total investment
of RMB6.84 billion, and several projects are to be completed in the
next year. During the year under review, the Group has completed
the construction of 13 projects, including 3 waste-to-energy projects
in Zhenjiang, Jinan and Sugian, 2 reusable water projects in Jinan
and Zibo, 2 ground photovoltaic energy projects in Huaining and
Germany, 3 rooftop photovoltaic energy projects in Changzhou,
Zhenjiang and Sugjian, the Zibo Heat Pump Project, Phase Il of
the Suzhou Industrial Solid Waste Landfill Project, as well as the
Dangshan Project, the Group’s first biomass power generation
project. The Group has insisted on maintaining the construction
engineering concept of “Producing quality products and Building
a quality brand” as its objective of planning and executing its
projects. Riding on quality design and pursuing lean management
procedures with the support of a strong team, the Group has
recorded outstanding achievements in the construction of a number
of projects. For example, it completed the Zhenjiang Project with a
daily waste processing capacity of 1,000 tonnes within 17 months
and completed the Jinan Project, powered by four grate furnaces
and two turbine generators, with a daily waste processing capacity
of 2,000 tonnes within 18 months. The Group has acquired
advanced overseas engineering and construction technologies
through its investment in the photovoltaic energy project in Germany
and has subsequently applied the technologies within its 3 rooftop
photovoltaic energy projects in Zhenjiang, Sugian and Changzhou.
Leveraging this expertise has helped the Group efficiently reduce cost
and construction time. Moreover, the Group has taken just 5 months
to complete the rooftop photovoltaic energy projects in Changzhou,

@ China Everbright International Limited 2 B3¢ K BIBR AR A )

RRIE
“E—FEAKEAERRIERARS E
BREN—F  EREKERIREGH=TH
KEARK68.4ET ﬁ¢%@ﬁﬁhﬁﬁiﬁ
BEKX - MBEFEER  TRERT=EEE - 2

FREET » lﬁﬁﬁ% B R EBIAEA - EEM
HIERERKIER B2 R EERESE A
BIHA - BN EIMEE (AR REER
B EEARER - %MI%I@EEEE_
% ANAEEEELMELEEIAR —f5ILIA
E AR BRI 25 m *AlééﬁﬂJEﬁjit%i;

HRIES BESIEEERMBEEE ﬂﬁﬁ
{LEEETE » B4 ER AT - URER
S fTiE— %Wﬁaﬁﬂ*hom%+tMH
B Se Rk B B3R E IR AR A5 1,000ME R 88T IR B -
R\ & A ek P08 FY i B b7 3% BR P2 #5 #£.2,000
WEAYE R TE B (RS - ANEERBIREEE LK
BEIEE  BFWIMNETRREREMTERE
%i BEREMNZEARBXABEEER - KX

BB R AR - A E AR EM
ﬁl&@ B —(ERETEA25F 5 K K 19.73JK EL ¥



Zhenjiang and Sugian with a total area of approximately 25 m? and
a total installed power generation capacity of 19.73 MW. These 3
projects were completed by the end of last year and enabled the
Group to levy a favorable on-grid electricity tariff of RMB2.4 per kWh,
making the Group one of the largest rooftop photovoltaic power
station operators in the nation.

It is expected that the Group will continue to secure construction
projects in the future, revenue from construction services will continue
to be the major revenue contributor of the Group. While pushing full
speed ahead on the construction of a wide range of projects, the
Group will also ensure works proceed smoothly and safely, compliant
with the highest standard and implemented under effective cost
control measures. The construction and operation of projects will
also enable the Group to continue to accumulate valuable experience
and, enhance the level of refined management standard to create a
world-class engineering construction team, which in turn, develop
more quality projects.
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Everbright Environmental Protection Technological
Development (Beijing) Limited is the platform of technology
transformation and technological research and development

of the Group for its development into
protection enterprise.
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The Group’s environmental protection technology is an important
resource supporting its sustainable development. During the year
under review, by upholding an operating philosophy of scientific
planning, meticulous organization, bold innovation and actively
executing plans in carrying out scientific work, the Group has
increased its R&D investment to enhance its R&D capability by
focusing on high-end environmental protection technology and
related technical issues, thus boosted its R&D efforts and built
independent and joint R&D systems. As a result, its technology
R&D capability and standards have been improving continuously.
During the year under review, the Group completed 8 self-developed
projects and more than 10 government subsidized R&D projects
with the support of a subsidy from the government of over RMB13
million. The Group’s self-developed grate furnaces and automatic
control system have a daily waste processing capacity of 250 tonnes
to 500 tonnes. These products have been used in the Jiangyin,
Zhenjiang and Sugian waste-to-energy projects, and achieved ideal
results. They have shown to outperform overseas equipment in
terms of sophistication, ease of installation, trial run cycle, operation
results and investment cost etc. A prototype of its self-developed
water cooling reciprocal grate furnaces has been built. This is a
great leap forward in the R&D of biomass power generation projects
based on this technology. The development of hazard-free treatment
of sludge also has been succeeded. This valuable technology is
worth promoted and is intended to solve the treatment problem
of sludge produced at the Jiangyin waste water treatment plant
through dehydration and incineration. Safe treatment of leachates
has presented a challenge for the waste-to-energy projects. The
Group has capitalized on its extensive experience accumulated over
the years and conducted an overall optimisation and design upgrade
on the leachate treatment project at the Zhenjiang Project. The trial
run has proceeded smoothly which has greatly reduced construction
and operation costs. The technology has also outperformed similar
projects elsewhere in the PRC. The Group is operating 7 leachate
treatment projects with a daily treatment capacity of 3,350 tonnes,
which gives it a leadership position within the industry. Apart from
the original projects, the Group has also expanded its core business
related technologies and R&D. For example, it has completed initial
proposals on waste treatment and utilisation of kitchen waste,
electronic waste and construction waste. The Group has also
completed the development of prototypes for sludge dehydration
equipment and modifiers, as well as the technology for small-
scale waste water treatment and waste-to-energy projects. It has
also conducted preliminary research on transforming biomass into
ethanol and methane. The Group has also invested in building an
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environmental protection equipment production base in Changzhou,
Jiangsu Province with capital support from the government.
The project mainly manufactures core environmental protection
equipment including grate furnaces of household waste, biomass
furnaces, sludge treatment and emission purification equipment. The
production base will be completed construction and commenced
commercial operation in the first half of 2012, which is a new
milestone for the Group’s advancement to the midstream of the
environmental protection industry.

The Group has obtained higher qualification of various operations
and management practices. During the year under review, the
operation qualification of all the waste-to-energy projects and waste
water treatment projects has been upgraded. Both Everbright
Environmental Protection Technological Development (Beijing)
Limited and Everbright Environmental Energy (Suzhou) Limited have
obtained the “National High Tech Enterprise” certificate. In addition
to self-developed R&D, the Group has strengthened collaboration
in R&D with technology research institutions. It has worked together
with Tsinghua University, Harbin Institute of Technology, North China
Electric Power University and Shandong Academy of Sciences
in developing the water-cooling grate furnace, as well as sludge
treatment and construction and energy conservation projects which
have achieved excellent results.

During the year under review, the Group has been awarded 8
patents, 3 of which are invention patents and 5 are utility patents.

The Group will continue to step up efforts in improving R&D work
on technologies, and to lead business development with innovation,
aiming to establish a solid foundation for the continuous expansion of
its business scope and sustainable development.
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The Qingzhou Bridge is at the center of the major
transportation hub of Fuzhou City. The traffic flow of the
Qingzhou Bridge continued to grow, providing steady cash
flow to the Group.
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INFRASTRUCTURE

Toll Bridge

The Qingzhou Bridge is at the center of the major transportation
hub of Fuzhou City. Traffic flow on the bridge has been increasing
steadily since traffic commenced in 2003, thus has been a stable
source of cash flow for the Group. In 2011, the average daily number
of standard vehicles crossing the bridge was increased by 16% to
52,156 as compared with 2010. The project generated an EBITDA
of HK$149,164,000 to the Group, an increase of 18% as compared
with that in 2010. With its prime location and greater transportation
need in the region, it is expected that the traffic volume of Qingzhou
Bridge will steadily rise.

QINGZHOU BRIDGE
BEMARE

AVERAGE TRAFFIC

FLOW CHART Daily standard vehicles
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Honours and Recognition EERRE
Awards won by the Group during the year under review are listed HEIFEEE R - ANEBELELIEHRE - 50T
below:

Date Organiser Awards

EesEnT R ERgEs(u 1818

September 2011 Mercomm Inc. 25th International ARC Awards 2011 Gold Award
—E——FhHA E =+ h/EBRARCLLE2011£ 52

Cover Design (Energy and Alternative Energy Group)
Rt — (RER —BRaeRAER)

November 2011 Wen Wei Po, Hong Kong Green China, Outstanding Environmental Protection
—E——F+—H BB XEHR Enterprise

REPE o ELIRBRERE
November 2011 Wen Wei Po, Hong Kong Green China, Outstanding Innovative Environmental
—E——F+—H BB EHR Protection Concept — Suzhou Everbright National

Demonstrative Veinous Industrial Park

RERE o FHAIBREHS — &M KBEIHF

IRERREE
November 2011 Wen Wei Po, Hong Kong Green China, Outstanding Environmental Protection
—=—F+—A BB NER Construction Project — Jinan Waste Water Treatment
Project

REPE o fEHIRIFIRIETIZ — Br)5/KERIEIA R

November 2011 Wen Wei Po, Hong Kong Green China, Outstanding Environmental Protection
—E—%+—AH4 BB XER Construction Project — Changzhou Waste-to-energy
Project
FEPE e FEIRBAE TR - BMERERE
HH
November 2011 Capital Magazine and Capital Weekly  The Most Investment Potential Company
—T—%+—A B RERTIE REAKRERTREEAE
December 2011 Economic Digest Hong Kong Outstanding Enterprises 201 1
—E——F+_H KBE—iB —T—FHEBREEEE

In addition, the Company was selected as a constituent member of  fk4h » AATR - EE——F A A A HWIEAIEE
Hang Seng Corporate Sustainability Benchmark Index by Hang Seng  BIE A RN AIE £ A 1HE 35 R b EERE D
Indexes Company Limited on 5 September 2011. )
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Post-Results Events

The Group had reached an agreement with the Asian Development
Bank (“ADB”) and 6 other banks in January 2012. Pursuant to which,
a US$100 million B loan (the “Loan”) will be provided to the Group to
support its continuous development of the waste-to-energy projects.
The Loan is only part of ADB’s financing package to the projects. In
2009, ADB had already provided the Group a US$100 million A loan
(the “A Loan”) and a technical assistance of US$600,000 from the
Clean Energy Fund under ADB Clean Energy Financing Partnership
Facility. The A Loan had already been utilized for the Jinan, Jiangyin
Phase Il and Zhenjiang waste-to-energy projects. This capital infusion
can strengthen the Group especially in view of the current uncertain
global economic environment. This support also clearly demonstrates
that the achievements of the Group in the environmental energy
sector in recent years have gained wide recognition across all
sectors of society. We will capture the opportunities in relation to
the encouragement of utilization of incineration to energy and heat
supply resources arising from the “Notice of the Twelfth Five-Year
Plan of the State Environmental Protection” issued on 15 December
2011 to further develop business in the waste-to-energy sector
and construct, operate and manage all our projects to the highest
standard.

In January 2012, the Group has signed a BOT agreement with
Nanjing Municipal Urban Management Bureau to invest and
construct a waste-to-energy plant (the “Nanjing Project”) in Nanjing.
The Nanjing Project commands an investment cost of approximately
RMB1,030,218,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,267,168,000).
With a designed waste processing capacity of 2,000 tonnes per
day and 660,000 tonnes per year, the Nanjing Project is expected
to commence construction during 2012 and to be completed and
start commercial operation in 2013. The Nanjing Project will be under
centralized management together with the existing projects operating
in Suzhou, Yixing, Jiangyin, Changzhou, Zhenjiang and Sugjian, all of
which find themselves in Jiangsu Province, so as to reap synergies
and economies of scale. It is also the first project of the Group in
2012, which will lay a solid foundation for sustainable development of
the Group in the environmental energy sector.
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BUSINESS PROSPECTS

The United Nations Climate Change Conference (the “Conference”)
was held in South Africa in December 2011. At the event, 194
countries have reached agreement in a number of resolutions at the
Conference, among which was an extension of the Kyoto Protocol
for 5 years starting from 2013. Countries including the EU have
undertaken to continue to shoulder the responsibility of reducing
their emissions of greenhouse gas. The countries have also agreed
to sign a new agreement for emission reduction at the end of 2015.
All countries will strive to reduce the emission of greenhouse gases
continually in order to address the worsening global warming and
promote the sustainable development of the economy and society.
The Chinese Government has also exerted great efforts in developing
a green economy designating alternative energy as one of the
strategic emerging industries under the Twelfth Five-Year Plan.

As an enterprise focusing on energy conservation and environmental
protection and alternative energy business, the Group intends
to capture the opportunities arising from the country’s policies in
developing environmental energy. Riding on its core competitiveness
and its leadership position in the industry, the Group aims to combat
the deterioration of the environment and focus on developing its
core business sectors of environmental energy, environmental
water, alternative energy and environmental protection equipment
manufacturing.

The Group has embarked on extending its industry chain horizontally
and geographically with a strategic presence in the key industrial
regions of the Yangtze River Delta, the Pearl River Delta and the
Bohai Bay including Jiangsu, Zhejiang, Shandong, Guangdong
and Anhui Provinces. Across this area, the Group’s environmental
protection industrial parks have expanded into Suzhou, Changzhou,
Sugian, Zhenjiang, Yixing, Nanjing and Yantai. Riding on its leading
technological standards in environmental protection sector and
successful experiences in acquiring overseas project, the Group
has leveraged this opportunity to further expand into environmental
protection and alternative energy sectors in the overseas and
domestic market provided that there is good economic benefits.
The Group has also integrated its resources to move to its mid-to-
up stream sectors. This represents the Group’s advance from an
environmental protection company to a low-carbon industry player.
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Looking ahead, environmental energy and environmental water
sectors will continue as the strategic development focus of the
Group. Thus, it will also actively develop its environmental protection
equipment manufacturing business. The Group will develop its
alternative energy business encompassing solar energy, wind power
and biomass power generation businesses in a prudent manner as
well as expand into new environmental protection market. Adhering
to the operating philosophies of “Integrity, Efficiency, Pragmatism
and Innovation”, the Group will continue to construct, operate
and manage every project to the highest standard and promote
the Group’s healthy sustained growth by insisting on its belief of
“Producing quality products and Building a quality brand” respected
for quality. It will strive to achieve its goal of becoming the leader in
the domestic environmental protection industry and generate fruitful
returns for its shareholders.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Financial Position

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had total assets amounting to
HK$13,879,617,000, with HK$6,190,024,000 worth of net assets
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company, amounting
to HK$1.684 per share, an increase of 15% as compared with
HK$1.461 per share for the year of 2010. As at 31 December 2011,
gearing ratio (total liabilities over total assets) of the Group was 52%,
5 percentage points more than the 47% as at the end of 2010.

Financial Resources

The Group adopts a prudent approach in cash and financial
management to ensure proper risk control and low costs of funds.
It finances its operations primarily with internally generated cash flow
and loan facilities from banks and funds from its ultimate holding
company. As at 31 December 2011, the Group had cash and
bank balances of HK$1,899,969,000, representing an increase
of HK$467,545,000 as compared to HK$1,432,424,000 at the
end of 2010. The increase was mainly due to the cash receipt of
RMB561,329,000 from termination of the Jiangyin Sewage Piping
Network Transfer Agreement during the year under review. Currently,
most of its cash, about 93%, are denominated in Hong Kong dollars
and Renminbi.
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Borrowings

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had outstanding borrowings of
HK$5,270,381,000, representing an increase of HK$1,330,274,000
as compared to HK$3,940,107,000 at the end of 2010. The
borrowings comprised secured bank loans of HK$3,519,740,000,
unsecured bank loans of HK$1,573,269,000, other loans of
HK$55,350,000 and loans of HK$122,022,000 owed to the
ultimate holding company. The borrowings are mainly denominated
in Renminbi, a portion of about 79%, and the remaining are
denominated in US dollars and Hong Kong dollars. All the borrowings
are at floating rates.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group’s assets, borrowings and major transactions are mainly
denominated in Renminbi. The Group mainly settles business
expenses in the PRC with Hong Kong dollar remittance and income
in Renminbi. It has not used any financial instruments to hedge
against bank borrowings in Renminbi, which are used mainly to meet
capital requirements of its business in the PRC. The Group closely
manages and monitors foreign currency risks given the increased
loan balances in Hong Kong dollars and US dollars.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2011, certain banking facilities of the Group
were secured by certain revenue and receivables in connection
with the Group’s service concession arrangements, bank deposits,
mortgages on fixed assets and equity interests of certain subsidiaries
of the Company. The aggregate net book value of assets and
equity interests in subsidiaries pledged amounted to approximately
HK$4,911,369,000.

Commitments

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had purchase commitments
of HK$571,939,000 outstanding in connection with construction
contracts.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2011, the Company had issued financial
guarantees to 5 wholly-owned subsidiaries and a non-wholly owned
subsidiary. The directors do not consider it probable that a claim will
be made against the Company under the guarantees. The maximum
liability of the Company as at year end under the guarantees issued is
the facilities drawn down by the subsidiaries of HK$2,046,061,000.
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Internal Management

The Group adheres diligently to the management principle that
focuses on “People-oriented, Pragmatism, Creativity and Systematic
Management” and is committed to building a comprehensive
risk management culture. Strengthening management and risk
control have always been important duties of a corporation
during its operations and development. With the efforts of
the Risk Management Advisory Committee, the Engineering
Technical Management Committee and the Budget Approval and
Management Committee, the Group formulated strict regulations
on investment in, and construction and operating of environmental
protection projects. During the year under review, the Group had
held Management Committee meeting monthly to review all projects
under construction and operation. In October 2011, in response to
the European and American debt crises, the Group had evaluated
the macroeconomic environment and hence concluded that there
would be less influence to the daily operation and management of
the Group. During the year under review, the Group has continued
to conscientiously implement various management systems. The
Group has unified the major policies of the environmental water
sector as well as established certain policies (including operation
policy, market development policy, investment management policy,
and construction management policy, etc.) for the new businesses
such as photovoltaic energy and biomass power generation projects.
To further improve the environmental management, the Group
has completed the contingency plans for unexpected emergency
environmental pollution incidents for its environmental protection
and alternative energy projects across 5 major categories. It has
also conducted internal audits on 26 projects and completed
improvement on 43 problem areas. At the same time, the Group has
developed the integrated and computerized financial management
system to improve its financial accounting and analysis functions,
boosting overall management efficiency. It has also set up a
taxation research team during the year under review to enhance its
understanding of preferential taxation policies. Moreover, it has set
up a strategic planning team to devise the mid to long term strategic
plans for the Group in an effort to set clear directions and goals for its
prosperous and rapid growth in the future.
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Human Resources

The Group highly values its human resources. It believes that realizing
the full potential of its employees is crucial to its long term growth,
thus it puts great emphasis on staff training. The Group has arranged
a variety of training courses during the year, highlighted by the Master
Program Il of Environmental Engineering of Tsinghua University and
the International CEO Course Il of Tsinghua University specifically
designed for enhancing the capabilities of the management and
specialized technical staff. To assist newcomers to become familiar
with and adapt to the corporate culture, the Group has also
organized two military outward bound training sessions in Beijing and
totally 256 staff had joined the training. In addition, financial training
has been held in Jinan to enhance the professional knowledge of the
finance staff of the whole Group. The Group has also invited external
lecturers to conduct 7 video training sessions for the entire staff to
broaden their exposure to the business. To enhance management,
technological standard and market expansion capabilities, the Group
has also arranged various delegations to visit overseas countries. The
Group had arranged a delegation comprising its management and
specialized technical staff to visit Germany in order to gain a better
understanding of the construction technology of photovoltaic energy
projects. In the meantime, the Group has arranged business trips
to the United States, Europe, Japan and Taiwan, thus helping in the
design optimisation of its environmental protection projects located in
the PRC.

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had approximately 1,600
employees in Hong Kong and mainland China. Employees of the
Group are remunerated according to their qualifications, experience,
job nature, performance and with reference to market conditions.
Apart from a discretionary performance bonus, the Group also
provides other benefits such as medical insurance and provident fund
scheme to employees in Hong Kong. According to the share option
scheme approved by the Company’s extraordinary general meeting
on 26 May 2003, at the discretion of the Board, share options may
be granted as performance incentives to any employees, including
directors. During the year under review, no share option was granted.
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Corporate Governance

The Group strives to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance as it believes good corporate governance practices are
increasingly important for maintaining and promoting the confidence
of the shareholders of the Company. The Group upholds the
management principle of “People-oriented, Pragmatism, Creativity
and Systematic Management”, and through a set of rules and
regulations, has continuously strengthened internal controls and risk
management. Furthermore, by full and timely public disclosure of
information, the Group has maintained transparency, accountability
which also enhanced its corporate values. The Board meets regularly
and makes collectively decisions on appointment and removal
of Board members and key management, annual work task,
medium-term development plan and project investments etc. The
Board has set up an Executive Committee, an Audit Committee,
a Remuneration Committee and a Management Committee. The
Management Committee is responsible for the daily business
operation management work, formulates and implements annual
work task and medium-term development plan of the Group as
well as makes decision on the Group’s daily business activities.
The Management Committee also makes collective decisions on
major matters relating to the Group’s daily business operation,
management and personnel etc. The Management Committee
has particularly set up a Risk Management Advisory Committee,
an Engineering Technical Management Committee and a Budget
Approval Management Committee. For risk management, the Risk
Management Advisory Committee monitors and assesses risk
regularly, boosts related management standards and evaluates
investment projects. Regarding technological risk management, the
Engineering Technical Management Committee is responsible for
assessing the technologies used in different investment projects. For
financial control, the Group insists on stringent budget management,
and the Budget Approval Management Committee focuses on
monitoring construction budgets. In addition, the Group has also
set up an Internal Audit Department to perform internal audits on
investment projects to bolster the Group’s management standard.

The Code on Corporate Governance (the “Code”) set out in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) has been
duly adopted by the Board as the code on corporate governance
practices of the Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the Company had complied

with the provisions of the Code and most of the recommended best
practices as set out in the Code.
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Executive Committee

The Executive Committee comprises Mr. Tang Shuangning
(Chairman), the Chairman of the Board, and 6 other executive
directors, namely Mr. Zang Qiutao, Mr. Li Xueming, Mr. Chen
Xiaoping, Mr. Wang Tianyi, Mr. Raymond Wong Kam Chung and
Mr. Cai Shuguang. Its main responsibilities include performing the
duties assigned by the Board as well as exercising the authority and
rights authorized by the Board. The general mandate in relation to
the Executive Committee in written form has already been established.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee, currently comprising all 3 independent non-
executive directors of the Company, namely Mr. Selwyn Mar
(Chairman), Mr. Aubrey Li Kwok Sing and Mr. Zhai Haitao, is primarily
responsible for reviewing the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group, as well as discussing and reviewing internal
control and financial reporting matters of the Group. The terms of
reference of the Audit Committee are disclosed on the website of the
Company.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management and
KPMG, the Company’s auditors, the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed the Group’s internal
control and financial reporting matters, including review of the annual
results for the year ended 31 December 2011.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises Mr. Zang Qiutao
(Chairman), the Vice-chairman of the Board, and the 3 independent
non-executive directors of the Company, namely Mr. Selwyn Mar,
Mr. Aubrey Li Kwok Sing and Mr. Zhai Haitao. Its main duties
include offering advice to the Board on the matters pertaining to
the remuneration policy and remuneration structure of the directors
and senior management of the Company. The terms of reference of
the Remuneration Committee are disclosed on the website of the
Company.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee has
reviewed the remuneration policy and structure of the executive
directors and senior management of the Company, and offered
advice on the same to the Board.
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Management Committee

The Management Committee comprises Mr. Chen Xiaoping
(Chairman), the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, Mr. Wang
Tianyi (Vice-chairman), the General Manager of the Company,
Mr. Raymond Wong Kam Chung, the Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, Mr. Cai Shuguang, the person-in-charge of environmental
energy sector, the General Manager of Everbright Environmental
Protection Engineering (Shenzhen) Limited, the General Manager
of Everbright Environmental Protection Technological Development
(Beijing) Limited and the persons-in-charge of the environmental
water sector, alternative energy sector, Investment Development
Department, Investment Management Department and Legal
Department. The Management Committee is responsible for the daily
business operation management work, formulates and implements
annual work task and medium-term development plan of the
Group. The Management Committee is the decision-making body
for day-to-day business activities and makes collective decisions
on major matters relating to the Group’s daily business operation,
management and personnel etc. The general mandate in relation to
the Management Committee in written form has been established.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors

The Group has adopted the model code (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding securities transactions of directors. Specific enquiry has
been made with all the directors, who confirmed that they had
complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in the
Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2011.

OTHER INFORMATION

Final Dividend

The Board has proposed to pay a final dividend of HK2.5 cents per
share (2010: HK1.5 cents per share) to shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on Thursday,
26 April 2012. Subject to the approval by the shareholders of the final
dividend at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
to be held on Wednesday, 18 April 2012, dividend warrants will be
dispatched to shareholders on or about Tuesday, 15 May 2012.
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Closure of Register of Members

The register of members will be closed from Friday, 13 April 2012
to Wednesday, 18 April 2012, both days inclusive, on which no
transfer of shares will be effected. In order to qualify for attendance
of annual general meeting, all transfer forms accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share
registrars, Tricor Tengis Limited at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong by no later than 4:00 p.m.
on Thursday, 12 April 2012.

The register of members will be closed from Tuesday, 24 April
2012 to Thursday, 26 April 2012, both days inclusive, on which no
transfer of shares will be effected. In order to qualify for the proposed
final dividend, all transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share registrars,
Tricor Tengis Limited at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s
Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong by no later than 4:00 p.m. on
Monday, 23 April 2012.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed
Securities

There was no purchase, sale or redemption of the listed securities of
the Company by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the
year.

Chen Xiaoping
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 20 February 2012
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With strong sense of social responsibility and mission,
the Group has been enthusiastically participating in social
charity activities, such as energy conservation and emission
reduction, environmental protection education, donation
and environmental greening during the process of rapid
development of its environmental protection business.
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The Group commenced its environmental protection business
in 2003, and has been taking advantage of the opportunities
arising from the PRC’s comprehensive implementation of scientific
development and emphasis on energy conservation and emissions
reduction, environmental protection as well as building a community
with ecological balance, from which the Group will take the
responsibility to create a beautiful environment and benefit the
general public while at the same time commit to the eco-mission
and pay back the society. Under the strong support from our parent
company, China Everbright Holdings Company Limited, the Group,
after years of “Exploration, Deployment and Development” and
with its quality professional management team working with the
philosophy of “Integrity, Efficiency, Pragmatism and Innovation”,
created a series of outstanding environmental protection projects
which are of first class quality, advanced technology, high standard
and outstanding efficiency, therefore setting itself as a renowned
brand that is highly regarded by the peers.

While environmental protection is the key for creating a balance
ecosystem, it is also crucial for the sustainable development of the
state. The Group will continue to actively look for new development
opportunities, enhance its effort in research and development
of environmental protection technology, encourage innovation
and make more significant advancements with its environmental
protection business so as to serve for the environmental protection of
people and the health of community, to which it is fulfiling the social
responsibility of an environmental protection guard.

As a company listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), the Group is a public
listed company as well as a social responsibility enterprise. As such,
the Group needs to take the initiative to take up social responsibility.
For years, the Group holds social responsibility as its basic values,
always commits to social responsibility and fuffills its obligations in
following aspects of its work:

— protect shareholders’ interests, realize the responsibility of
maximizing investors’ values;

— realize the win-win development responsibility with business
partners by integrity and honesty;

— realize the responsibility of protecting creditors’ legal rights;
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— realize the responsibility to employees by taking care of their
growth and adding value to their abilities;

— realize the responsibility of sustainable development by
enhancing environmental protection and building up an energy-
conservative society; and

— participate and support the social charity activities.

The recent operating results and the financial strength of the Group
both experienced a significant growth under the nurture of positive
policies of the PRC as well as the support and guidance from the
government of every level. With the economic benefits of the Group
steadily growing, the Group would put emphasis on protecting
the interests of its shareholders and focus on reasonable return to
its investors. Since 2004, the Group insisted on paying dividend
to its shareholders on a half year basis, which demonstrated the
wilingness to share the achievements in business development with
its shareholders.

The Group continues to optimize the governance structure, set up
requirements for the operation and protects shareholders’ legal
rights. In accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules of
the Stock Exchange, the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Hong Kong Companies Ordinance”) and
the Articles of Association of the Company, the Company convenes
and holds general meeting, deals with all shareholders fairly and
ensures that all shareholders can fully exercise their rights. The
Company strictly complies with the Listing Rules, the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and the Company’s Articles of Association so
as 1o effectively regulate the faimess of the disclosure of information
and protect the legal rights of investors. Through different activities
and channels, such as result press conference twice a year,
investors’ and securities analysts’ visits, meetings with analysts and
corporate investors etc., the Company has taken the initiatives to
strengthen the intimate communication with the shareholders and
investors. Meanwhile, Corporate Communication Department was
newly established to strengthen the ties between the Company and
investors as well as the general public. Moreover, the Company’s
website will be updated in time so that the shareholders can have a
better understanding of the latest information of the Group through
the website. Annual reports and other relevant information are also
available on the website.
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The Company not only pursues the optimization of the shareholders’
interest, but also ensures the financial stability of the Company, the
safety of the Company’s assets and capital and the lawful interests
of creditors. All material decision making processes on the Group’s
operation have considered comprehensively and practically protected
the creditors’ lawful interests.

The Group enters into agreements with the local governments in the
regions where the projects are invested to construct and operate
projects on “BOT” (Build — Operate — Transfer), “TOT” (Transfer —
Operate — Transfer), “BOO” (Build — Operate — Own) or “BT” (Build
— Transfer) basis. When the construction work of the projects is in
progress, the Group would strictly comply with the terms of contracts
entered into between the Group, design institutes, supervision
companies, equipment suppliers and enterprises for construction and
installation, ensuring that the fees for equipment and construction
would be fully paid on schedule. As a result, the Group enjoys a very
good reputation in the industry. In the meantime, the Group has
fulfilled the commitment to local governments and community. The
construction work of each project is completed on schedule with
quality and all discharges are of strict compliance to the standards,
largely protecting the interests of the local governments and the
community. In 2009, the Suzhou Waste-to-energy Project had
been appraised by CCTV as “Garden-like Waste-to-energy Plant”.
Following the completion of upgrading work of the Jinan Waste
Water Treatment Plant 1 and 2 and the commencement of the
commercial operation of Jinan Waste Water Treatment Plant 3, the
treated waste water in Jinan city has reached Grade 1A standard.
At present, 60% to 80% of the COD emission reduction in Jinan
and Zibo cities is done by the Group. The Group has completed
construction of 3 waste-to-energy projects in Zhenjiang, Jinan and
Sugian which increase the waste processing capacity of these areas.

Environmental protection is an essential national policy of the PRC
to solve the increasingly serious environmental problem, procure
environmental balance development and implement sustainable
development strategies. It is not only a tough mission for the whole
society but also a social responsibility taken by the Group.

In 2011, the Group has processed household and industrial waste of
2,488,000 tonnes and agricultural waste of 87,000 tonnes, providing
green electricity of 776,392,000 kWh for 647,000 households in a
year, saving the equivalent of 311,000 tonnes of standard coal and
reducing carbon dioxide emission of 789,000 tonnes. The Group
has also treated waste water (including leachate) of 500,972,000 m3,
reducing the COD emission of 178,000 tonnes.
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The Group strives to adopt high standard on construction and
operation of the environmental protection projects. Emission standard
of waste-to-energy projects is above the national standard. Gas
emission construction complies with Euro I monitor standard and
the Group has taken the initiative to raise the emission standard up
to the highest international standard, Euro 2000 standard, so as to
keep standing at the leading position in the waste-to-energy industry.
Waste water treatment projects are constructed and operated in
accordance with the national Grade 1A standard. At present, the
Group has 7 waste-to-energy gas emissions monitoring systems
in operation are linked with the network of the local environmental
protection departments. Besides, LED display screens were installed
to provide the pollutant emission data to the nearby public. The
Group is willing to accept the supervision of the governments and
the general public in the society. Such external supervision has
imposed self-pressure to the Group and procured the continuous
improvement of the standard of project management and operation.

In 2011, regarding the environmental energy sector, Changzhou
Waste-to-energy Project Company was awarded with the “Model
of Harmonious Labor Relationship in Jiangsu’s Housing and Urban
and Rural Construction System” while the integrated building project
of the Changzhou Waste-to-energy Plant won the “Jinlong Cup”;
and 4 companies, namely Suzhou, Yixing, Jiangyin and Changzhou
companies were respectively granted with an environmental
protection incentive fund by the local governments, amounting to
approximately RMB2,600,000, as a recognition of their achievements
in energy conservation and emission reduction. In regard to the
environmental water sector, Jinan Waste Water Project Company
was awarded with the “First Prize of Performance Management
Model of Municipal Waste Water Treatment Plants 2010” by the
Department of Housing Construction and the Department of
Supervision in Shandong Province and the “First Prize of Jinan
Outstanding Contribution in Emission Reduction”. Zibo Waste
Water Project Company was also appraised as the “Performance
Management Model of Municipal Waste Water Treatment Plants
2010” by the Department of Housing Construction and the
Department of Supervision in Shandong and “Shandong Energy
Conservation Model Enterprise”. Zibo Heat Pump Project Company
was awarded with the honorable title “Zibo Recycling Economy and
Clean Production Model Project” and was granted with an incentive
of RMB300,000 by the municipal government for achieving energy
conservation in 2011. Jiangyin Waste Water Project Company
was elected as the “Excellent Unit” in operational management of
the municipal waste water treatment plants above county level in
Jiangsu.
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The Group was appointed by the government to assume the drafting
responsibility for the waste-to-energy industry standard and based
on the production and operation of Everbright Environmental Energy
(Suzhou) Limited to compile the white paper of “The Standard
of Jiangsu Waste-to-energy Project Series”. In 2011, the Group
organized and prepared the household waste-to-energy industry
standard and household waste water treatment industry standard,
dedicated to promoting the construction of national environmental
protection industry standard.

Through the various means of effort, the Group intends to conduct
research and development on the new technology applicable to the
PRC environmental protection industry, with an aim to contribute
more in energy conservation as well as emission reduction of the
PRC. Firstly, the leachate treatment of a waste-to-energy project is
a common problem for the industry. The Group took the initiative
to accept the responsibility of solving the industry problem by being
the pioneer to apply Grade 1A standard in leachate treatment
system for Yixing Waste-to-energy Project. The reusable water thus
formed is also applied in recycling and planting, which demonstrate
a breakthrough in the industry. Subsequently, the Group has
constructed Suzhou, Jiangyin, Changzhou and Yixing leachate-to-
energy projects and all of them are running smoothly. At present,
the leachate treatment technology center has been equipped with
a series of personnel reserve and technological capacity such as
technological design, equipment assembling, construction organizing
and debugging as well as a capacity of undertaking external projects.
Tackling such problem is a significant innovation of the Group’s
environmental technology. Secondly, to achieve domestically
developed grate furnaces, the Group has initiated its research and
development on self-developed grate furnaces and automatic control
system based on its experience in Suzhou, Yixing, Jiangyin and
Changzhou projects. Up to now, a 400t/d, three 350t/d and three
300t/d self-developed grate furnaces of the Group have been put
into operation in the household waste-to-energy projects of Jiangyin,
Zhenjiang and Sugian with prominent effect, and other three 500t/d
grate furnaces are under development and testing process. The
Group has realized the industrialized production of a series of grate
furace. Lastly, the Group has also overcome the technical problem
of decontamination of sludge starting from cost reduction aspect. At
present, the sludge treatment project in Jiangyin has been completed
and under debugging, while the sludge treatment programs in
Suzhou and Yixing have basically been implemented.
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In response to the climate change and to reduce carbon dioxide
emission, the Group has always been committed to reducing carbon
discharges and meanwhile by taking advantages of its projects to use
clean energy in a certain extent. The Group is continuously improving
its existing techniques, such as increasing the waste incineration rate
and the waste water treatment volume, to promote the advancement
of the Company’s environmental protection technology and
contribute more to further enhance the efficiency. In 2011, all the
companies within the Group invested a total amount of approximately
RMB200 million for the sake of upgrading and renovation, pollutant
emission reduction, energy consumption conservation, improving
water recycling usage and so on.

Every project of the Group has adopted energy saving mechanical
products and advanced equipments recommended by the state and
conducts large scale equipment overhaul and maintenance every
year by case so as to improve the efficiency as well as reduce power
consumption. The Group has adopted low-loss and energy-saving
transformers whenever possible to reduce energy consumption and
has applied transducers to control some high-power consumed
electrical equipment in according to their load to save power energy.
Waste-to-energy projects utilize waste preheat to generate electricity
to ensure the internal supply used by the equipments inside the
plants and the excess power will be supplied to the external on
grid. As to the leachate sector, it makes full use of the methane gas
provided by the treatment station to generate electricity and gradually
increases the methane collection quantum to enhance the working
efficiency of methane modules. In addition, leachate treatment was
added by the Group to recycle anaerobic gas and methane, and
furnace combustion equipment is also in place. Odor collected from
leachate treatment station and waste storage pit is imported into
the incinerators for combustion to avoid methane release to the
atmosphere. All pipes connected with the factory equipment were
furnished with thermal insulation materials, effective in preventing
heat loss and improving unit efficiency.

Cooling water, waste water and treated water which has attained the
standards is fully utilized by each plant. Waste water treatment plants
have optimized the usage of treated water as well to reduce water-
consumption. Some factories have added waste water recycling
system to collect boiler blowdown water, circulating water and
waste water to supply water for slag conveyors and dust leakage
conveyors. Meanwhile, treated waste water is also fully used as
sanitary rinse and planting water. Some water pipelines are altered
for supplying treated water instead of running water. The waste water
source heat pump project in Zibo is a good demonstration in energy
conservation sector, which utilizes the remaining heat from waste
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water for cooling and heating purpose, substantially saved electricity
and coal resources. Besides, rainwater is collected and being
used. Yixing Waste-to-energy Project Company has repaired and
constructed 6 sedimentation basins to collect rainwater for secondary
use. Sugian Photovoltaic Energy Project Company regularly uses
rainwater to clean solar modules to improve photoelectric conversion
efficiency.

In addition, the lighting facilities in each company and the streetlights
in some project companies’ factories have adopted wind-solar
hybrid or new energy-saving lighting equipment to reduce waste of
electricity resources.

Clean Development Mechanism (“CDM”) and Verified Emission
Reduction (“VER”) are both internationally recognized emission
reduction projects where the Group has made practical
achievements in 2011. This year, Suzhou Methane-to-energy
Project has achieved the verification and issuance of the second
Switzerland’s Gold Standard VER while Dangshan Biomass Power
Generation Project has successfully completed CDM registration in
the United Nations. Save for these, Huaining, Zhenjiang and Sugian
Photovoltaic Energy projects have also passed the spot examination
of CDM and are about to apply for its registration.

The Group has a well-facilitated and advanced open laboratory.
Its technology development equipment and developing ability are
of international advanced and local top standards, and enabled
continuous training for technology staff. This provided technological
professionals in touch with new information worldwide and able to
create more high-tech products. So far, 1 software copyright and 34
patents (including 19 invention patents and 15 new utility invention
patents) had been filed by the Group, of which 1 software copyright
and 22 patents (including 12 new utility invention patents and 10
invention patents) were secured. In addition to application for patents,
technological achievements were being promoted and applied
comprehensively in daily operation of each project that resources
could be utilized more effectively to help pushing environmental
protection and sustainable development a step further ahead.

The Group has established environmental and social responsibility
management system and environmental protection annual planning,
which implemented stringent control on the new projects, upgrading
projects and expansion projects of the Group and had been
incorporated in the enterprise’s overall project management. The
management of “Planning, Implementation, Inspection, Review”
is carried out in each environmental project and the requirements
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and targets of the environment will be included at all levels in the
management system. The Group has formulated an accurate,
swift and sensitive monitoring system, established comprehensive
indicators for monitoring system of environmental management
and is equipped with advanced monitoring equipment and set up
an information and data system, etc. The Group also implemented
the integration of information collection, forecasting, prediction and
control. To cope with contingency, the Group has also formulated
an emergency response plan. As such, each project company is
required to conduct emergency drills at least twice a year to tackle
any emergency events which may be happened. Comprehensive
conclusion will be made to every participant after the drills in order to
figure out any deficiency of the plan and revise accordingly.

The Group has established its environmental and social responsibility
management system as well as social security system in accordance
with the “Resettlement Framework” requirements stipulated by the
Asian Development Bank. For land acquisition and resettlement issues
in new projects, the Group assists the governments with demolition
and resettlement work and ensures all affected households are
compensated accordingly. There will be a follow up period of two years
for external demolition monitoring and evaluation, with an aim to
help those affected to resume normal working and living conditions.
The Group has also formulated and set up its own environmental
pollution contingency measures and emergency response plan, and
has built up its environmental and social responsibility management
system, which are all now carried out in the project companies. In
order to maximize the control over pollutants generation and reduce
its impacts on neighboring environment and households, the Group
has imposed comprehensive environmental and safety management
and monitoring through the preparatory stage, construction stage
and operation stage.
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The Group targets different level of management, technicians and
operational personnel to offer appropriate knowledge and technical
training in according to the needs of every position, and integrates
environmental protection, corporate social responsibility and
sustainable development into a variety of management activities.

The Company was selected as a constituent member of the Hang
Seng Corporate Sustainability Benchmark Index by Hang Seng
Indexes Company Limited on 5 September 2011.

The Group was awarded with the Hong Kong Outstanding
Enterprises by the Hong Kong magazine, Economic Digest, for 5
consecutive years in 2011.

In 2011, the Company was dubbed as the most investment
potential company in the “The Most Investment Potential Company
Awards” organized by “Capital Magazine” and “Capital Weekly”.

The following 5 awards were received by the Group in “Green
China” 2011 Environmental Achievement Award Ceremony
organized by Wen Wei Po, Hong Kong:

Green China, Outstanding China Everbright International Limited
Environmental Protection

Enterprise

Green China, Outstanding Suzhou Everbright National

Innovative Environmental Demonstrative Veinous Industrial Park,
Protection Concept China Everbright International Limited
Green China, Outstanding Jinan Waste Water Treatment Project,
Environmental Protection China Everbright International Limited

Construction Project

Green China, Outstanding Changzhou Waste-to-energy Project,
Environmental Protection China Everbright International Limited
Construction Project

Green China, Outstanding Mr. Chen Xiaoping,

Environmental Protection Leader ~ Chief Executive Officer of
China Everbright International Limited
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The Group has put great emphasis on the communication between
every project and the communities where the project is located, and
commits to assisting and promoting community construction as
its own responsibility. During its daily operation, the Group always
upholds its corporate mission to pay back the society. The Group
actively participated in all kind of activities such as countryside
construction works to create benefits to the communities. While
creating economic benefits, the Group remains enthusiastic in
social charity and is keen on initiating and participating in a range
of activities including charity and donations. The Group has also
provided enthusiastic support to social commonweal including
education, culture and hygiene, which gradually develops a way to
repay society with “the Group” characteristics.

The construction of biomass power generation project of the Group
has reduced the insects, pests and infectious diseases which were
caused by piling up of agricultural and forestry abandoned materials,
and has helped the residents to improve local living environment
and their income. The establishment of waste-to-energy plants has
greatly improved the air, earth and underground water environment
for the locals who are living around the original landfill site. Waste
incineration has effectively solved the waste dumping problem
caused by the continuous increase quantum of living garbage in the
city which is beneficial to residents’ health and is able to improve local
investment environment. The construction and operations process of
every plant is complied with the safety and sanitation standards. The
waste problem is being solved and also enhanced the neatness and
cleanness of regional environment. Suzhou Waste-to-energy Project
invested RMB427,000 to add a new integrated street sweeping and
cleaning machine for better ensure surrounding sanitation. Jinan
Waste-to-energy Project has improved the original road condition
around the plant area after paving the way, which has provided the
locals with convenience. The establishment of waste water treatment
plants could effectively help to improve the underground water quality
of local rivers and along the coastlines, and to reduce underground
water pollution, and even contribute to the atmospheric quality and
bring a good ecological environment for the city.

Every project company of the Group has offered jobs for the locals
and has successfully solved the employment problem for part of the
local labours. Certain project companies even allocated some fund to
alleviate poverty and for the new countryside construction work with
an am to assist neighbour villages and towns through various means
to solve the practical problems of farmers nearby. Jiangyin Waste-
to-energy Project has helped the neighbouring Qinhuang Village to
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establish a slag processing plant and supplies produced slag free
of charge every day to achieve remarkable income every year. The
Group has mapped out new projects like Suzhou City Environmental
Education Base and Citizens’ Low Carbon Experience Pavilion in the
Suzhou Everbright National Demonstrative Veinous Industrial Park.
These projects are not only able to enlarge the green land, the water
and the wet land areas of the park, but also sets up an eco-friendly,
low-carbon and educational eco-industrial park for local citizens,
further enhances the public environmental awareness efficiently, and
brings along with good social benefits.

After the construction of Dangshan Biomass Power Generation
Project in Anhui province, the Group promised to construct and
donate a primary school to the local government. The True Love
School was completed and handed over in September 2011.
Meanwhile, the Group has established “Everbright International
True Love School Donation Fund” with bases originated from the
remaining fund of the True Love School Project. The Company would
organize love donation activity of all staff once every year. Besides,
the True Love Fund Management Committee was also formed. In
2011, all staff donated approximately RMB130,000. Such amount
will be used in ways such as grant for poor students and scholarship
for outstanding students, etc. Some staff will also act as volunteers
to assist in teaching in Dangshan primary school at the beginning of
2012,

The Group focuses on producing skilled talents. The Group has
trained hundreds of specialized technical staff for the waste water
treatment plants and waste-to-energy plants in areas where its
investments laid. Such move gained the recognition from the local
governments as well as all sectors of the society. Each project
company, with the assistance of the local governments, develops
technology center and environmental model projects and aims
at promoting common knowledge on environmental protection
technology to college, secondary and primary students, and students
majoring in environmental studies and nearby citizens. The project
companies welcome visitors and field workers for over a hundred
times every year, catering over 15,000 people.

The Group actively initiates and participates in environmental
greening and tree planting activities in the areas of each project. It
organizes staff to join local tree planting activities every year and each
staff plants over 20 trees in average.

@ China Everbright International Limited 7 B¢ K BIBR GBR A &)

HIA - AEBEESHM TN ARBIRFRER RE
B RE T EM TR B &M - T RIEHREE
BEEEHIARE o ELIA R MEA BN RAERAR
b~ KE - BHERE  BAEMHRHART —@
BEERR KRB EENERTIRRE - #EMA
MRABATRAOREES  EERFNTEN

B

BLHEABLEYERRTRENER A58
EGERG L EE NBREWIBE T EBUT - B
DVNEETERER YN T ——FNAZME
B o R @ REBRS[ A KBEBRELERE L
E | UELERIEHHESAEM  §F
BT RAATIAEE TEORIOES - W
TELEeEEZEG . _T——F  2EET
HBRAHAREE130,0007T - ELEBEZFEANRE
RELEED BRBLERBEE - FMETE
BlERERE RS —E9#BL/NEX
# o

AEBEBTEATSHERSEITAT - BIREME
@RS IER - MOIREERIEE T A%
ZRME®  EESEHEANLE S RN BT
o KIFE N EUKETE BT AR E i AR
RREZ - mEP/NEE  IRBEEEL . PR
AERERESERBRENL NG  SFEHR
] EZREY FEK - ABIBIE15000A °

AEBERBREGN2EEIAR AAEMACIRE -
EREMNLE - BFEBSNEME/RENE
8 AGEBE_TIRIAL -



As an important constituent in the enterprise, employees impose
direct influence on the development of the enterprise. The Group has
been adhering to its management belief “People-oriented”, strives to
bring all employees a healthy and safety working environment. The
Group also actively nurtures a working environment combining both
work and study to realize mutual growth of staff and enterprise, and
guarantee the healthy, steady and fast growth of the enterprise.

All employees in the Group were recruited through a centralised
procedure: post recruitment information on the Company’s website
and other professional websites; arrange written test and interview
(as the case may be) after screening; and enroll after submitting to
and approved by the management. Regardless of that the staff is a
management or general staff, place of residence, gender, age and
other facts will not impact the Company’s enrollment standards.
All employees should enter into “Labour Contract” or “Employment
Agreement” with the employed companies. Their salaries shall
generally reach and be significantly higher than the minimum salary
standards of the area where each company is located.

The Group attaches great importance to protect the employees’
legal rights. The Group formulated the “Labor Contract” in strict
compliance with relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong and
PRC. All employees have signed the contracts with the Company. All
domestic employees in the PRC shall be entitled to “five insurance
and one fund”, i.e. pension, medical, injury, unemployment and
maternity insurances and housing fund, from which employees
shall be protected against accidents and entitle to subsidies when
suffering from minor illnesses. In addition, the Group carries out
employee paid annual leave system strictly in accordance with
relevant provisions of the state, fully protected female employees’
benefits and welfares from their pregnancy to lactation, and organizes
medical examinations for all employees every year (in case of
employees who work under special job nature, the Group will entrust
the center for disease control to conduct special examinations).
Employees may at any time express their own opinions and thoughts
by letter, interview or otherwise to participate in the Company’s
development. Some subsidiaries have set up trade unions to enable
employees to protect their own rights and interests and promote the
harmonious development between employees and the Company as
well.
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Meanwhile, the Group highly values employees’ safety of each project
company, particularly to employees working in project company
under construction. Among the established project companies,
many of them have already passed the Trinity (quality management
system, environmental management system, occupational health
and safety management system) verification, from which the
occupational health and safety management system has contributed
the companies to establish a sound safety management system,
providing the companies with guidance to formulate safety and
effective management regulations in accordance with their own real
situation in daily production so as to strengthen safety management
as well as to protect employees’ occupational safety. Every project
company in the Group provides training on production safety, and
offers guidance to employees on how to protect their own safety
during work. Safety helmets, fire extinguishers and other relevant
safety protection facilities are fully equipped.

The Group has established a reasonable remuneration system and
a complete performance appraisal system. In the meantime, it has
created and provided a variety of opportunities to employees for
enhancing their own ability. The Group and every project company
organized a range of trainings for management and staff. The
Company and Tsinghua University entered into an “Agreement on
Opening Preparatory Classes for Engineering Masters”. Phase |I
program was opened in 2011 and all employees were encouraged
to actively apply for it. Any employee who passed the examination
may immediately join the class and receive partial tuition subsidies
after graduation. In addition, the Group arranged 17 management
staff to participate the CEO program with an intention to improve
their management standard. During the year, the Group organized
a total of 7 remote video trainings regarding relevant policies in the
environmental protection industry and social hot issues. In 2011,
the Group organized 2 trainings regarding team execution by
sending new employees and some leading management to barracks
for one week training on militarization and expansion in order to
strengthen the solidarity. The Group organizes training for finance
staff each year to enhance the quality of the finance staff to cope
with the development of the Company. Meanwhile, each company
conducted trainings which were suitable to its own situation, such
as providing profession skill trainings for stokers and technicians
before they obtain certificates and also trainings targeting corporate
culture. From general staff to the middle and senior management,
the trainings received by them were basically more than 100 hours
in average, some staff in certain project companies were even more
than 500 hours.
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The Group determines to create a healthy working atmosphere and
a harmonious enterprise culture with an aim to enhance the sense
of belonging among the staff towards the enterprise and further
deepened the understanding of the staff about the enterprise culture
through all kinds of extracurricular and cultural activities. During
the year, every company held a variety of recreational and sports
activities like hiking, sports games, and ball games of all kinds and
picnics, which have dramatically enriched the social life of the staff.
In addition, every company held birthday parties for staff periodically
in different ways, and visited employees who were in sick or during
maternity leaves to let them feel the warmth of the Company like
being home. All of these measures were crucial for the staff to
understand more about the enterprise culture, and to strengthen
the cohesion and sense of belonging between them towards the
enterprise, so as to enable them to be more committed to their work
with full passion.

The Group has been adhering to its belief of “Considering benefits for
the others to promote a welfare society” and actively making such
belief into practice. Over the previous years, the Group has developed
close collaborations with the national charitable organizations like
China Charity Foundation, Red Cross of China, China Foundation
for Poverty Alleviation, China Youth Development Foundation and
China Environmental Culture Promotion Association etc, and has
contributed its effort to repay the society as its commitment to social
responsibility.

The Group hopes to facilitate the growth of enterprises, develop
social charity undertakings as well as to foster social harmony and
progress of mankind in synchronicity through its incessant efforts.
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Upholds the management principle of “People-oriented,

Pragmatism, Creativity and Systematic Management” and
strives to enhance the corporate governance of the Group.
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The Group strives to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance as it believes good corporate governance practices are
increasingly important for maintaining and promoting the confidence
of the shareholders of the Company. The Group upholds the
management principle of “People-oriented, Pragmatism, Creativity
and Systematic Management”, and through a set of rules and
regulations, has continuously strengthened internal controls and risk
management. Furthermore, by full and timely public disclosure of
information, the Group has maintained transparency, accountability
which also enhanced its corporate values. The Board meets regularly
and makes collectively decisions on appointment and removal
of Board members and key management, annual work task,
medium-term development plan and project investments etc. The
Board has set up an Executive Committee, an Audit Committee,
a Remuneration Committee and a Management Committee. The
Management Committee is responsible for the daily business
operation management work, formulates and implements annual
work task and medium-term development plan of the Group as
well as makes decision on the Group’s daily business activities.
The Management Committee also makes collective decisions on
major matters relating to the Group’s daily business operation,
management and personnel etc. The Management Committee
has particularly set up a Risk Management Advisory Committee,
an Engineering Technical Management Committee and a Budget
Approval Management Committee. For risk management, the Risk
Management Advisory Committee monitors and assesses risk
regularly, boosts related management standards and evaluates
investment projects. Regarding technological risk management, the
Engineering Technical Management Committee is responsible for
assessing the technologies used in different investment projects. For
financial control, the Group insists on stringent budget management,
and the Budget Approval Management Committee focuses on
monitoring construction budgets. In addition, the Group has also
set up an Internal Audit Department to perform internal audits on
investment projects to bolster the Group’s management standard.

The Code on Corporate Governance (the “Code”) set out in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) has been
duly adopted by the Board as the code on corporate governance
practices of the Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the Company had complied

the provisions of the Code and most of the recommended best
practices as setiout in the Code. @
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ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE IN RELATION TO BRASEEAERLE
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Corporate Governance Report 1S¥EJAHE

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS EEE
Composition and function AR RBE
The Board currently comprises 7 executive directors, 1 non-executve  EEEHABHUNITES - —FRPTESER=
director and 3 independent non-executive directors. LB FENITESARRK ©
The directors during the financial year and up to the date of the MAMBEERNREEAHKE Y ANEEEKE
report are set out on page 105 of the annual report and currently are 2PN FRAFE 1058 > MIRFHNEFTSKE
follows: U
Name of Director Title EEls BRk L
Executive Directors HITEF
Mr. Tang Shuangning Chairman EEESE FF
Mr. Zang Qiutao Vice-chairman AOE S AE BlE/F
Mr. Li Xueming Vice-chairman TER%E BlER
Mr. Chen Xiaoping Chief Executive Officer BR/NF S A T AREL
Mr. Wang Tianyi General Manager FRESE P e
Mr. Raymond Wong Kam Chung Chief Financial Officer =iREE A W5 HREs
Mr. Cai Shuguang Deputy General Manager BEESLEE BlARIE
Non-executive Director HHITEE
Mr. Philip Fan Yan Hok Non-executive Director SBICESSEE EITES
Independent Non-executive Directors WIHHITEE
Mr. Selwyn Mar Independent Non-executive ~ FE#B1E R4 B EITES
Director
Mr. Aubrey Li Kwok Sing Independent Non-executive ~ ZEI2 54 B EITES
Director
Mr. Zhai Haitao Independent Non-executive ~ Z/&@E5E 4 B IEMITES
Director
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Composition and function (continued)

In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company,
subject to the manner of retirement by rotation of directors as from
time to time prescribed under the Listing Rules and notwithstanding
any contractual or other terms on which any director may be
appointed or engaged, at each annual general meeting, one-third
of the directors for the time being (or if their number is not a multiple
of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation, provided that every director (including
those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every 3 years.

The position of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are
held by separate individuals, with a view to maintain an effective
segregation of duties between the management of the Board and
the day-to-day management of the Group’s business and operation.

The Board meets regularly throughout the year. Under the lead of the
Chairman, the Board is responsible for approving and supervising
the overall strategy and policies of the Group, approving annual
budget and business plans, assessing the Group’s performance and
supervising the work of the management. All directors have access to
board papers and related materials, and are provided with adequate
information on a timely manner. The directors of the Company may, if
necessary, seek legal or other independent professional advice at the
expense of the Company.

In respect of regular board meetings and audit committee meetings,
the agenda is sent out to the directors at least 14 days before the
meeting and the accompanying papers are sent at least 3 days
before the meeting for information.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Composition and function (continued)

As an integral part of good corporate governance, the Board has
established the following committees with specific written terms
of reference which deal clearly with the committee’s authority and
duties:

1. EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
The Executive Committee comprises Mr. Tang Shuangning
(Chairman), the Chairman of the Board, and 6 other executive
directors, namely Mr. Zang Qiutao, Mr. Li Xueming, Mr. Chen
Xiaoping, Mr. Wang Tianyi, Mr. Raymond Wong Kam Chung and
Mr. Cai Shuguang. Its main duties include performing the duties
assigned by the Board as well as exercising the authority and
rights authorized by the Board. The general mandate in relation
to the Executive Committee in written form has been established.

2. AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee, currently comprising all 3 independent
non-executive directors of the Company, namely Mr. Selwyn
Mar (Chairman), Mr. Aubrey Li Kwok Sing and Mr. Zhai Haitao,
is primarily responsible for reviewing the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group, as well as discussing and
reviewing the internal control and financial reporting matters of
the Group. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are
disclosed on the website of the Company.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee has reviewed
with the management and KPMG, the Company’s auditors, the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed the Group’s internal control and financial reporting
matters, including review of the annual results for the year ended
31 December 2010 and the interim results for the six months
ended 30 June 2011.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) EEg(E)
Composition and function (continued) HAREBEE)
3. REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 3. FHZESZ

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises Mr. Zang
Qiutao (Chairman), the Vice-chairman of the Board, and 3
independent non-executive directors of the Company, namely
Mr. Selwyn Mar, Mr. Aubrey Li Kwok Sing and Mr. Zhai
Haitao. Its main duties include offering advice to the Board
on the matters pertaining to the remuneration policy and
remuneration structure of the directors and senior management
of the Company. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee are disclosed on the website of the Company.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee has
reviewed the remuneration policy and structure of the executive
directors and senior management of the Company, and offered
advice on the same to the Board.

The remuneration of all the directors and their respective interest
in share options are set out in notes 8 and 29 to the financial
statements and under the “share option scheme” paragraph in
the report of the directors of this Annual Report.

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Management Committee comprises Mr. Chen Xiaoping
(Chairman), the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, Mr.
Wang Tianyi (Vice-chairman), the General Manager of the
Company, Mr. Raymond Wong Kam Chung, the Chief Financial
Officer of the Company, Mr. Cai Shuguang, the person-in-
charge of Environmental Energy sector, the General Manager
of Everbright Environmental Protection Engineering (Shenzhen)
Limited, the General Manager of Everbright Environmental
Protection Technological Development (Beijing) Limited, the
persons-in-charge of the Environmental Water sector, Alternative
Energy sector, Investment Development Department, Investment
Management Department and Legal Department. The
Management Committee is responsible for the daily business
operation management work, formulates and implements annual
work task and medium-term development plan of the Group.
The Management Committee is the decision-making body for
day-to-day business activities and makes collective decisions on
major matters relating to the Group’s daily business operation,
management and personnel etc. The general mandate in
relation to the Management Committee in written form has been
established.
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Corporate Governance Report 1S¥EJAHE

NUMBER OF BOARD MEETINGS AND COMMITTEE EEXEREETETH BRI EETNHE
MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE RATE OF REL

DIRECTORS

The following shows the number of regular board meetings and N RERBIEFEEANRNAAABRITNEHESS
committee meetings held during the year under review as well asthe  &Z&E B @@ KB N EEERIH BN
attendance rate of each director.

Attendance rate R
Board of Audit Remuneration Management
Name of Director Directors  Committee Committee Committee
EENE EEE BKZEE® FNEESE EERET
Mr. Tang Shuangning FEELE 5/5 N/A N/A N/A
A TNEA A
Mr. Zang Qiutao B E 4/5 N/A 1/1 N/A
TNEA TN
Mr. Li Xueming ERRLA 5/5 N/A N/A N/A
NEHA TNER TNEHA
Mr. Chen Xiaoping AN 5/5 N/A N/A 13/13
TNEA TNER
Mr. Wang Tianyi IREEE 5/5 N/A N/A 13/13
TER TNEA
Mr. Raymond Wong Kam Chung =R A 5/5 N/A N/A 13/18
TNEA TNEA
Mr. Cai Shuguang E=3E D e 5/5 N/A N/A 13/13
TEA TEA
Mr. Philip Fan Yan Hok BBk 5/5 N/A N/A /A
TNEH NiER T
Mr. Selwyn Mar BHRREE 4/5 3/3 11 N/A
TNEF
Mr. Aubrey Li Kwok Sing ZEESLE 4/5 3/3 0 N/A
TNEFA
Mr. Zhai Haitao BEEkE 5/5 3/3 11 N/A
TNEFA
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DIVISION OF RESPONSIBILITIES BETWEEN THE
CHAIRMAN AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer should be
separated. The Chairman’s responsibility is to manage the Board
and the Chief Executive Officer’s responsibility is to manage the
Company’s business. The division of responsibilities between the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer is clearly established.

The main duties of the Chairman include providing leadership for and
overseeing the functioning of the Board; formulating overall strategies
and policies of the Company; ensuring that all directors of the Board
are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings and giving
each director an opportunity to express his view at board meetings;
ensuring that directors receive adequate information, which must
be complete and reliable, in a timely manner; ensuring that the
Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities; ensuring
that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in
a timely manner; drawing up and approving the agenda for each
board meeting taking into account, where appropriate, any matters
proposed by the other directors for inclusion in the agenda; taking
responsibility for ensuring that good corporate governance practices
and procedures are established; encouraging all directors to make
a full and active contribution to the Board'’s affairs and take the lead
to ensure that the Board acts in the best interests of the Company;
ensuring that appropriate steps are taken to provide effective
communication with shareholders and that views of shareholders are
communicated to the Board as a whole; and facilitating the effective
contribution of directors and ensuring constructive relations between
executive directors and non-executive directors.

The duties of the Chief Executive Officer include taking responsibility
for the Group’s operation and management; implementing decisions
and plans approved by the Board; making day-to-day operational
and managerial decision; and coordinating overall business
operations.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules, the Board is of the view that all independent
non-executive directors are independent and the Company has
received an annual confirmation of independence from each of the
independent non-executive directors of the Company pursuant to
the Listing Rules.

The current 3 independent non-executive directors and the non-
executive director of the Company hold office for a term until 31
December 2013. They are subject to retirement and re-election in
accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association.

NOMINATION OF DIRECTOR

In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company, the
directors will have the power from time to time and at any time to
appoint any person as a director to fill a casual vacancy in the Board,
or as an addition to the existing Board. For nomination, consideration
will be made to the qualifications of the nominee.

Mr. Zhai Haitao was appointed as the independent non-executive
director and a member of the Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee on 1 January 2011.

The Board has approved the establishment of the Nomination
Committee of the Company effective on 1 April 2012.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Group has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions.

Having made specific enquiry of the directors, all directors had
complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in the
Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2011.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

It is the Company’s responsibility to ensure shareholder’s interest. To
do so, the Company maintains on-going dialogue with shareholders
to communicate with them and encourage their participation through
annual general meetings or other general meetings.

Registered shareholders are notified by post for the shareholders’
meetings. Notice of meeting contains agenda, proposed resolutions
and postal voting form.

All registered shareholders are entitled to attend annual and

extraordinary general meetings, provided that their shares have been
recorded in the Register of Shareholders.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Shareholders who are unable to attend a general meeting may
complete and return to the Company’s Share Registrar the
proxy form enclosed with notice of meeting to give proxy to their
representatives, another shareholder or chairman of the meetings.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS

It is the auditors’ responsibility to form an independent opinion, based
on their audit, on the Company’s financial statements and to report
their opinion solely to the Company, as a body, in accordance with
section 141 of the Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose.
They do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of the independent auditor’s report.

Apart from the provision of annual audit services, KPMG, the
Group’s external auditors, also carried out interim review of the
Group’s results and provided other financial services in compliance
with the requirements under the Listing Rules and the Occupational
Retirement Scheme Ordinance.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, KPMG, the external auditors
received the following remuneration from the Group in connection
with the provision of audit and non-audit services to the Group:
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Annual audit services and interim review services — FFJEEAZ RS N 2B E P BRI 4B BRTS 3,250

Other services H RS 6

3,256

INTERNAL CONTROL PERESIE

The Board has full responsibility for the Group’s internal control  E=E®2REBEARNEENNEEZE RS - B1EF

system, which includes the establishment of a defined management
structure with specified limits of authority. The system is designed
to help the achievement of business objectives of the Group,
safeguard assets against unauthorized use or disposition, ensure
the maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision of
reliable financial information for internal use or for publication and
ensure compliance with relevant legislation and regulation. The
internal control system is designed to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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INTERNAL CONTROL (continued)
The key procedures that the Board established to provide effective
internal controls are as follows:

- Organizational Structure
An appropriate organizational structure is in place with defined
operating policies and procedures as well as responsibility and
lines of authority.

— Authority and Control
The executive directors and senior management are delegated
with respective levels of authorities to carry out the corporate
strategies and policies and the related matters formulated by the
Board.

- Budgetary Control and Financial Reporting
The Group implements budget management, and financial
budget is executed upon approval by the Board. Relevant
procedures have been established to assess, review and
approve major capital and recurrent expenditures, and regular
review and comparison between operating results and the
budget are made.

The Group has established appropriate internal control
procedures to ensure the keeping of accurate and complete
accounting and management records on a timely basis.
Examination and review are carried out regularly to ensure that
the financial statements are properly prepared in conformity
with the generally accepted accounting principles, the Group’s
accounting policies and the applicable laws and regulations.

- Internal Auditing
The Group has its Internal Audit Department and has regularly
conducted internal audit to review whether the internal control
procedures are implemented appropriately.

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control system. This review covered all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls
and risk management functions, and also considered the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff
of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting functions,
and their training programmes and budget. Any internal control
weaknesses detected by the Internal Audit Department of the
Company will be reported to the Audit Committee members
and the management of the Company. Accordingly, the
management will take remedial actions and the Internal Audit
Department will subsequently follow up and review whether the
remedial actions are in place.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors confirm that they are responsible for the preparation of
the Group’s financial statements.

The Finance Management Department of the Company is taken
charge by the Chief Financial Officer. With the assistance of the
Finance Management Department, the directors ensure that the
Group’s financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with relevant regulations and applicable accounting
principles.

A statement by KPMG, the auditors of the Company, about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is
included in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 116to 117.

INVESTOR RELATIONSHIP AND COMMUNICATION
The Company recognizes the importance of good communications
with shareholders and the investment community. Briefings and
meetings with institutional investors and analysts are conducted
regularly to provide them with up-to-date and comprehensive
information about the Group’s development. Annual and interim
reports offer comprehensive operational and financial performance
information to shareholders and the annual general meeting of the
Company provides a forum for shareholders to exchange views
directly with the Board, which together help enhance and facilitate
communication with shareholders. The Company also maintains a
website (http://www.ebchinaintl.com) which enables shareholders,
investors and the general public to have access to the information of
the Company on a timely basis.

At the 2011 annual general meeting of the Company, a separate
resolution was proposed by the Chairman in respect of each
separate issue, including re-election of directors. All resolutions were
duly passed by shareholders of the Company by way of poll at the
meeting. The Chairman of the Board and members of the Audit
Committee and Remuneration Committee attended the meeting to
answer questions of shareholders. The Company announced the
results of the poll in the manner prescribed under the Listing Rules.
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ENVIRONMENTAL ENERGY PROJECTS IRRAERIEE

Daily Average annual
Total processing power generation
investment Date of capacity capacity
(RMB) commercial (tonne) (kWh)
Project Type of investment R operation BB EEYRES
I5H RESH (ANR¥T) H%EEH (W) (FREF)
Suzhou Waste-to-energy BOT for 28 years 489,443,000 July 2006 1,050 >100,000,000
Project Phase | BOT 28%F “ETFtA
FMAREEIER —H
Suzhou Waste-to-energy Same as Suzhou Waste-to- 450,000,000 June 2009 1,000 >100,000,000
Project Phase |l energy Project Phase | —ETNFERHA
FMNAREEIER Z 5 BEMEIREE
B —H8EA
Yixing Waste-to-energy BOT for 28 years 238,300,000 June 2007 500 >44,000,000
Project Phase | BOT 28 —ET+FRA
HENREEIER —H
Jiangyin Waste-to-energy BOT for 30 years 388,740,000 May 2008 800 >77,000,000
Project Phase | BOT 30F —ZT)\51A
IR EEEA —H
Jiangyin Waste-to-energy BOT for 27 years 205,000,000 October 2010 400 >38,000,000
Project Phase BOT 274 “Z-TF+R
IRNRESIRA —H
Changzhou Waste-to-energy BOT for 25.5 years 412,560,000 November 2008 800 >77,000,000
Project BOT 25,54 —ZT)\F+-H
EMAREEER
Zhenjiang Waste-to-energy BOT for 30 years 413,338,000 August 2011 1,000 >100,000,000
Project BOT 30 —E—FN\A
BTHREEER
Jinan Waste-to-energy Project ~ BOT for 25 years 900,920,000 October 2011 2,000 >190,000,000
ERAREEER BOT 254 —Z—%+H
Suaian Waste-to-energy Project  BOT for 30 years 324,152,000 December 2011 600 >60,000,000
EEREEER BOT 30 “T—4%+ZA

Suzhou
Waste-to-energy
Project Phase | and Il
BMBIREE
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Project Highlights T8 B #52

ENVIRONMENTAL ENERGY PROJECTS (continued) IRIRAERIER (=)

Daily Average annual
Total processing power generation
investment Date of capacity capacity
(RMB) commercial (tonne) (kWh)
Project Type of investment 48435 operation BRERE  SFYRES
I5H REER (AR¥xT)  HxEEZP (&) (FREF)
Huidong Waste-to-energy Project BOT for 29 years 334,405,000 2013 (expected) 600 >104,000,000
BRAREEER BOT 20 —T-=F(%H)
Yixing Waste-to-energy Project ~ Same as Yixing 150,843,000 2013 (expected) 300 >31,000,000
Phase Il Waste-to-energy —T-=H(%EH)
HENIREERA —H Project Phase |
HERNREE
BB —HAA
Suzhou Waste-to-energy Same as Suzhou 750,000,000 2013 (expected) 1,500 >158,000,000
Project Phase Il Waste-to-energy Project —T-=%(fH)
M REEIER =1 Phase | & Phase I

EEMAREE
HE— R -8R

Zhenjiang
Waste-to-energy Project
HETHIREEIRE
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ENVIRONMENTAL ENERGY PROJECTS (continued) IRIREERIER (&)
=

Operating projects EIHR

Total investment

Designed storage

(RMB) Date of commercial  capacity (m?)

Project Type of investment s operation BEESRE
I5H BREFR (AR&T) HEEER (IAHK)
Suzhou Industrial Solid Waste BOT for 30 years 78,100,000 July 2007 142,000

Landfil Project Phase | BOT 304 “TTHFLRA
#N T EfrEEEER —
Suzhou Industrial Solid Waste Same as Suzhou Industrial Solid - 40,000,000 November 2011 370,000

Landfill Project Phase Il Waste Landfill Project Phase | —E—F+—F
BNTXEREEMEEEA S SHNTXERENESE

THE — 3
Projects under construction or in preparatory stage EEREESEPIEHE

Total investment Designed storage
(RMB) Date of commercial  capacity (m?3)
Project Type of investment HRE operation HEERE
I5H REFH (AR®T) HEEER (IHK)
Suaian Hazardous Solid Waste BOT for 25 years 99,090,000 September 2012 340,000
Landfill Project Phase | BOT 25 (expected)
EREEERER — “Z-_FNAES)
Zhenjiang Industrial Solid Waste 100,000,000 December 2012 296,000

Landfill Project Phase |
HITXEBEMEEEE -

Suzhou Industrial Solid

Waste Landfill Project
Phase |
#RN T ERgREy
EI815 H —HA

o : v
i‘ﬂ't:‘-':r.

mﬂ!!!!!ﬁb :

(expected)
“Z-—F+ZH
(7aHA)

/ N

Lol
L1 -
ﬁ'u mi: z :k L :E,h
.3 LTI TT

el LY | P

—
g

ln_.u_.E -

—=dhzr_
11X
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Project Highlights 78 B %

ENVIRONMENTAL WATER PROJECTS RIRKFBIER
Operating projects E#ER

Daily average

waste water
Total investment treatment capacity
(RMB) Date of commercial (m3)
Project Type ofinvestment 48135 operation BEYSKEER
2] REEH (AR HEEZH (3H%)
Qingdao Waste Water Treatment BOT/TOT for 25 years 356,000,000 January 2005 220,000
Project (Haibohe & Maidao Plants) ~ BOT/TOT 255 “ZTRF-A (Maidao Extension Project
EEIKRIIER completed in July 2007)
(BBTRESR) (AB&RER
RZEELELARK)
Zibo Waste Water Treatment Project ~ TOT for 25 years 354,276,000 November 2005 250,000
(Southern and Northern Plants) TOT 254 (Including Investment of —ETRE+A (Upgrading work
WIEEKEIEER (BRI RMB130,221,000 for upgrading work) completed in May 2008)
(PREARRETREESR (ReETR
AR#130,021,0007) RZZZ\FRARK)
Zibo High-tech Zone Waste BOT for 25 years 150,000,000 September 2007 100,000
Water Treatment Project BOT 254 “EELENA
SRR KEEER
Zibo Zhoucun Waste Water BOT for 25 years 70,000,000 November 2009 40,000
Treatment Project BOT 254 ZEENETA
ERENTKEEER

Zibo Waste Water
Treatment Project
EIBEKERIEIA R

&N B & ““”3. 0 pr—

N —

@ China Everbright International Limited 2 B3¢ K BIBR AR A )



ENVIRONMENTAL WATER PROJECTS (continued)

Operating projects (continued)

Project

158

Binzhou Boxing Waste Water
Treatment Project
BMNBERKREER

Jinan Waste Water Treatment
Project (Plant 1 and Plant 2)
EmakEEER (—BR=H)

Jinan Licheng Waste Water
Treatment Project (Plant 3) Phase |

ERESTKERAR (28—

Type of investment

&R

TOT/BOT for 25 years
TOT/BOT 254

TOT for 30 years
TOT 30%

BOT for 28 years
BOT 285

IRIRKFBIEE (&)

EEIEE (&)

Total investment
(RMB)

L
(AEBR)

85,000,000

(Including investment of RMB65,500,000
for upgrading work of Phase | and

construction of Phase Il)
(PR BARER=HER
T8 AR #65,500,0007C)

707,000,000

(Including investment of
RMB287,000,000 for upgrading
and extension work for
Plant 1 and Plant 2)

(BE-BR=BHR
REREEIRREARE
287,000,0007C)

138,000,000

Date of commercial
operation

HEEZH

Phase | - April 2008
—# - 2%\ A
Upgrading work
- December 2008
FRsETE-
“ZEN\E+ZA
Phase Il - June 2009
“B-"ZTNESR
November 2006
“EE A

QOctober 2009
“TTAELA

Daily average
waste water
treatment capacity

()
BEYSKEER
(%)

60,000

(Increased from 30,000 m? to
60,000 m? upon completion
of Phase Il in June 2009)

(ZEZNERA-HTN
BIETIR(E - 30,0003
JKIEINZE60,0003 5 K)

500,000

(Increased from
420,000 tonnes to
500,000 tonnes upon
completion of extension
work in May 2009)

(ZETNFLATAIRR
T72f + 420,0008
% 11%500,0008%)

100,000

Jinan Waste Water
Treatment Project
HrEKERIEIAR
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Project Highlights T2 B 5 2

ENVIRONMENTAL WATER PROJECTS (continued)

Project

EH

Jinan Xike Waste Water
Treatment Project (Plant 4)

BRAETKREER (TR)

Ling County Waste Water
Treatment Project (Plant 2)

Feg 7k REER (ZF)

Ling County Waste Water
Treatment Project (Plant 1)

Regk 7k REER (— )

Jiangyin Waste Water Treatment
Project (Acquisition and upgrade)

IRTKEEER
(e R fsE)

Zibo Reusable Water Project
Phase |

JHEKER — 5

Jinan Licheng Reusable
Water Project

ERERKER

G T
ikt

By e e

Type of investment

AR

BOT for 26 years
BOT 264

BOT for 30 years
BOT 30

TOT for 30 years
TOT 305

TOT for 30 years
TOT 305
BOO for 20 years

BOO 20

BOO for 24 years
BOO 244

Total investment
(RMB)

aRg
(ARET)
72,680,000
58,000,000

33,720,000

530,266,000

44,000,000

31,061,000

@ China Everbright International Limited 7 B¢ K BIBR GBR A &)

IRIRKFBIEE (&)

Date of commercial
operation

B H

June 2010
= %

June 2010
= %

June 2010
= %

January 2008
—ZZ\F-R
September 2011
—T—FnA

September 2011
—T—FnA

Daily average
waste water
treatment capacity

(m?)
BEGi5KEEE
(ILHX)

30,000

30,000

30,000

190,000

4,800

42,000

Jiangyin Waste Water
Treatment Project
PRIy R




ENVIRONMENTAL WATER PROJECTS (continued)

Project

5E

Xinyi BT Waste Water
Treatment Project Phase |
ATBT/ 7K REIE E —H

Project

5E

Jiangyin Reusable Water Project
TeH7KER

Xinyi Surface Water BT Project
T RKBTIER

Zibo Reusable Water Project Phase |l

STERKIER ZH

Dezhou Nanyunhe Waste Water
Treatment Project

BN ERE 7k EEER

Jinan Licheng Waste Water
Treatment Project (Plant 3) Phase |l

ERER SRR (= /) — 4

Total investment

(RMB)
Type of investment 4% &
REFH (AR®T)
BT for 4 years 62,150,000
BT 44

Total investment

(RMB)
Type of investment 415
RESFH (ARET)
BOO for 25 years 73,067,000
BOO 256
BT for 8 years 385,110,000
BT 84

Same as Zibo Reusable 11,000,000
Water Project Phase |
BRI R
— A
BOT for 25 years
BOT 254

230,247,000

Same as Jinan Licheng 195,000,000
Waste Water Treatment
Project (Plant 3) Phase |

SR KRR
BB (ZK)—41ER

IRIRKFBIEE (&)

Date of transfer

BxEH

October 2010
—F-TFHA

Date of commercial

operation/transfer

HEEEON BX

July 2012 (expected)

“T-—FLAEH)

December 2012
(expected)

—T——%t1ZH
(5BH)

2012 (expected)

2012(F8HA)

2012 (expected)
2012(78 )

2012 (expected)
2012(78H0)

Daily average waste

water treatment
capacity

(m?)
BEYEKERER
(IHK)

10,000

Daily average

water supply/waste water
treatment capacity

(m?)
BEEKEKRERE
(ILHK)

10,000

100,000

4,800

150,000

100,000
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Project Highlights T8 B #52

ALTERNATIVE ENERGY PROJECTS eERIER

Average annual

Total power generation
investment capacity
(RMB) Date of commercial (kWh)
Project Type of investment 483§ operation ERYRER
IEH REER (AR®TR) BxEZH (FFEF)
Suzhou Methane-to-energy BOO for 25 years 27,940,000 August 2006 >18,000,000
Project Phase | BOO 254 ZEERFENA
#INAREEIEE —H
Suzhou Methane-to-energy Same as Suzhou 12,750,000 September 2008 >9,000,000
Project Phase Il Methane-to-energy —ZEN\FNA
BINBREEEA 8 Project Phase |
BN BREEIEE
— R
Shenzhen Rooftop BOO for 25 years 27,917,000 November 2010 >1,480,000
Photovoltaic Energy Project BOO 254 —T-TF+—A
AYIETERAREEIER
Zhenjiang Ground BOO for 25 years 73,490,000 December 2010 >4,059,000
Photovoltaic Energy Project BOO 254 —T—ZF+—A
ETHE X AEEIER
Sugian Rooftop Photovoltaic BOO for 25 years 52,720,000 December 2010 >2,205,000
Energy Project Phase | BOO 25 —E-TF+-A

EEERCARERA—H

Sugian Rooftop
Photovoltaic Energy Project
BREIBNREEIEE
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ALTERNATIVE ENERGY PROJECTS (continued) HeeREER(2)

Operating projects (continued) ERIEH (&)

Average annual

Total power generation
investment capacity
(RMB) Date of commercial (kWh)
Project Type of investment  #8i%& operation FELHRER
IEH BEER (NRET) (FTB%)
German Ground Photovoltaic BOO for 20 years 68,360,000 September 2011 >3,611,000
Energy Project BOO 2045 —F——FNA
EEME A EEIRE
Changzhou Rooftop Photovoltaic BOO for 25 years 79,213,000 December 2011 >4,112,500
Energy Project BOO 255 —E—%+=A
FMNETERAZEIER
Zhenjiang Rooftop Photovoltaic BOO for 25 years 236,095,000  December 2011 >11,680,000
Energy Project BOO 254 —E2—F+=A
HITREXAEEIEA
Sugian Rooftop Photovoltaic BOO for 25 years 142,109,000  December 2011 >6,198,000
Energy Project Phase Il BOO 254 —E2—F+=A
BREENAAEEEA —H
Zibo Heat Pump Project Phase | BOO for 30 years 57,887,000 December 2011 N/A
HEERIER —H BOO 304 —T——F1+_H NEA
Huaining Ground Photovoltaic BOO for 26 years 50,470,000 May 2011 >2,170,000
Energy Project BOO 265 —Z—FAA
BEEMERAEEIER
Dangshan Biomass Power BOO for 30 years 312,468,000 September 2011 >184,000,000
Generation Project BOO 304 —E=——&EhRA

BILAENEREEAR

German Ground
Photovoltaic Energy Project
=R E R EIH A
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Project Highlights T2 B 5 2

ALTERNATIVE ENERGY PROJECTS (continued)

Project

I5H

Xinyi Biomass Power
Generation Project
FOTEME R EERR
Shuyang Biomass
Cogeneration Project
MG E R A E R IR B

Linyi Biomass Power
Generation Project

BRetmEa e EER

Suzhou Leachate
Methane-to-energy Project

FINZBRARESER

Laiyang Biomass Power
Generation Project
RGE AR EEIAR
Hanshan Biomass Power
Generation Project
BEMEREEIER
Zibo Ceramic Technology

Development Park Heat Pump

Project
B A EARIER

Type of investment

AR

BOO for 25 years
BOO 254

BOO for 25 years
BOO 254

BOO for 25 years
BOO 254

Same as Suzhou
Waste-to-energy
Project

BFMAIREEIRE

R
BOO for 25 years
BOO 254

BOO for 25 years
BOO 254

BOO for 30 years
BOO 304

Total investment

(RMB)
(ARET)

321,040,000

339,610,000

320,000,000

7,956,000

320,000,000

320,000,000

93,110,000

@ China Everbright International Limited 7 B¢ K BIBR GBR A &)

#aeRIEE (7))

Date of commercial
operation

H¥EEH

2013 (expected)
T4 (EH)

2013 (expected)
—T——F(FEH)

2013 (expected)
—TZF(EH)

2013 (expected)
—T——F(¥EH)

2013 (expected)
—T——F (¥

2013 (expected)
—F-=4 ()

2012 (expected)
—T—CF (B

Average annual
power generation
capacity

(kWh)
EPREER
(FREF)

>184,000,000

Power E€

>172,250,000 kWh T FLB&
Heat 212

>390,000 tonnes
>184,000,000

>b,250,000

>184,000,000

>184,000,000

N/A
NEH



ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION INDUSTRIAL IRREXE
PARKS

Expected number

Environmental Protection Industrial Parks Investment Amount of projects
BREXE RE#E HEIRBHE
Suzhou Everbright National Demonstrative Veinous Industrial Park RMB3.3 hillion >10
FRINTTHABI K FIRE F R E ANRH¥S3ET

Zhenijiang Everbright Environmental Protection Industrial Park RMB1.5 billion 6-8
FTHRARRRERE AR#15(87T

Sugian Everbright Environmental Protection Industrial Park RMB1.6 billion 6-8
BRMARRREXEE AR¥1618T

Changzhou Everbright Environmental Protection Industrial Park RMB1 billion 9

BN RRRREXER ARB10(ETT

Yantai Everbright Environmental Protection Industrial Park HK$3 billion to HK$5 bilion ~ >10
BEEMARRRERE B EE30E5018 T

Yixing Everbright Environmental Protection Veinous Industrial Park HK$2 billion to HK$3 bilion  >10
HEMAARRRFREER 20230187

Nanjing Everbright Environmental Protection Veinous Industrial Park ~ RMB4.2 billion >10
BRMARRRFIREXER ARM42(8T

Suzhou Everbright National Demonstrative Veinous Industrial Park
AN T R B SR AR AR E R 80
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Directors and Senior Management

== NEREEAER

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

TANG SHUANGNING — CHAIRMAN

aged 57, is the Chairman of the Company. He is a member of
the 11th National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference. He is also the Chairman of China
Everbright Group Limited, China Everbright Holdings Company
Limited and China Everbright Bank Company Limited. Mr. Tang is
also the Director of Everbright Securities Company Limited, Sun
Life Everbright Life Insurance Company Limited and the Chairman
of China Everbright Limited. He also serves as the Vice Chairman
of China Society for Finance and Banking and the Consultant of
China Society for Investment. Prior to joining the China Everbright
Group, he was the Vice Chairman of the China Banking Regulatory
Commission, the Director-General of the Banking Supervision
Department |, the Director-General of the Currency, Gold and Silver
Bureau and the Director-General of the Credit Management Division
of the People’s Bank of China. He holds a Master’s Degree in
Economics from China Northeast University of Finance & Economics.
Mr. Tang has extensive knowledge and experience in banking and
finance management. Mr. Tang joined the Board in July 2007.

ZANG QIUTAO - VICE-CHAIRMAN

aged 59, is the Vice-chairman of the Company. He is also the Vice-
chairman of China Everbright Group Limited and China Everbright
Holdings Company Limited. Mr. Zang is the Chairman of China
Everbright Industry Group Limited and China Everbright Investment
Management Corporation. He is also the Deputy Chairman of China
Everbright Limited. Mr. Zang graduated from the Graduate School
of the Chinese Academy of Social Sciences. He was formerly the
Division Chief of the State Economic Commission and Deputy
Division Director of the State Planning Commission. He joined the
Board in September 2004.

LI XUEMING - VICE-CHAIRMAN

aged 64, is the Vice-chairman of the Company. He is also an
Executive Director and Deputy General Manager of China Everbright
Group Limited and China Everbright Holdings Company Limited. He
is the Chairman of Shanghai Everbright Convention and Exhibition
Center Co., Ltd. and Vice-chairman of China Everbright Industry
Group Limited and China Everbright Investment Management
Corporation. Mr. Li was formerly a Non-executive Director and
Deputy Chairman of HKC (Holdings) Limited until 31 May 2011. Mr.
Li holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Industrial Automation from Tsinghua
University. Prior to joining the China Everbright Group in 1998, he
was the Vice-president of China Aerospace International Holdings
Ltd. Mr. Li joined the Board in June 2003.

@ China Everbright International Limited 7 B¢ K BIBR GBR A &)
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

CHEN XIAOPING — CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

aged 58, is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. He is also a
director of China Everbright Holdings Company Limited, a Standing
Director of China Environmental Culture Promotion Association and
a Director of World Eminence Chinese Business Association. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. Chen had been a department head in the
Bureau of Investigation & Supervision of The People’s Bank of China,
the Assistant Governor of China Everbright Bank Company Limited
and the President of the Bank’s Guangzhou Branch. He graduated
from the Department of Finance of the Southwest University in
Finance and Economics, the PRC, finished the MBA class of the
Research Institute of Business Management of Sichuan University,
the PRC and holds a Master’s Degree with a major in Money &
Banking from the Department of Finance and Trade of the China
Research Institute of Social Science. He holds the title of Senior
Economist and Certified Public Accountant in the PRC. He has
comprehensive experience and knowledge in banking, capital market
and management. Mr. Chen joined the Board in August 2001.

WANG TIANY! — GENERAL MANAGER

aged 49, is the General Manager of the Company. Prior to joining the
Group, he was the President of Shandong Academy of Science. He
was formerly the Deputy Mayor of Jinan City of Shandong Province.
He had been the Vice President, Dean and Professor of Economic
Management Faculty of Yantai University of Shandong Province. He is
currently also a part-time professor and doctoral tutor of Shandong
University. He holds a Doctorate’s degree in Economics, a Master’s
degree in Management and a Bachelor’s degree in Electronics from
Tsinghua University. He had pursued advanced studies at Harvard
University and University of California in the United States. Mr. Wang
joined the Board in February 2010.

WONG KAM CHUNG, RAYMOND - CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
aged 48, is the Chief Financial Officer of the Company. He holds a
Master of Business Administration Degree, a Master of Management
Degree in Information Technology Management from Macquarie
University, Australia, and a Bachelor of Arts with Honours Degree in
Accountancy from the City University of Hong Kong. He is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a member
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of England and Wales, a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
of United Kingdom and a Certified General Accountant in Canada.
He has extensive experience in accounting, finance and auditing
areas. Mr. Wong joined the Board in December 2002.

BEEHE)

HITEE(E)

BR NP (TTIECAEEL)

BE 68 5L ARRITHAEE - TTRTEXAS
EBERARES  PERRULRESEEHIESR
REFRGEHERHEESE - RELMALEE
Al BEBRPBEARBITEZEERERNTE
HARRITITRIIEFREMBITOITITR ° WEX
RABEAEPFEASESHE  WIIARTHER
BFTAIMBART ST AL Ko 45 8 B S R AT 5B
MEMERRITERET2ME - BASREH
BB R AL &R R AR » RINIRTT - BEAMS
REFERTEER BZERIAE - BREER
—ET-F)\ANMAERE -

TR (HBHHE)

BEARR - NATELIE - EIMAREKER - 5
WERERSERE - RABELREEREHEITH
o WEELREFEARBEINE - LELh
RNHIE - BAIMEILRASRBHER NG LS
fb - RIFABERBEESEL EBBELRK
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Directors and Senior Management =K &R &R A B

DIRECTORS (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

CAl SHUGUANG — DEPUTY GENERAL MANAGER

aged 56, is the Deputy General Manager of the Company. He is also
the Managing Director of China Everbright Environmental Energy
Limited and Everbright Environmental Energy (Suzhou) Limited.
Prior to joining the Group, he was formerly Deputy General Manager
of Shenzhen Kingway Brewery Limited. He graduated from the
Department of Computer Science from Shanghai Fudan University
and holds a Master of Business Administration Degree from the
University of Ballarat in Australia. He holds the title of senior engineer.
Mr. Cai has comprehensive experience and knowledge in corporate
management and project planning. Mr. Cai joined the Board in
August 2010.

Non-executive Director

FAN YAN HOK, PHILIP

aged 62, is the Non-executive Director of the Company. He is an
independent non-executive director of HKC (Holdings) Limited
and Hysan Development Company Limited. Mr. Fan is also an
independent director of Zhuhai Zhongfu Enterprise Co., Ltd., a
Shenzhen listed company, and Goodman Group, an Australia
listed company. Mr. Fan holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Industrial
Engineering, a Master’s Degree in Operations Research from
Stanford University and a Master’s Degree in Management Science
from Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Fan had been an executive director of CITIC Pacific
Limited in charge of industrial projects in China. He joined the Board
in November 1997 and was re-designated as the Non-executive
Director of the Company in January 2010.

Independent Non-executive Directors

MAR SELWYN

aged 76, is the Independent Non-executive Director of the Company.
Mr. Mar graduated from the London School of Economics, University
of London. He is a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of United Kingdom and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. He is a partner of Nexia Charles
Mar Fan & Co. He is an independent non-executive director and
chairman of the board audit committee of Standard Bank Asia
Limited. He is also an independent non-executive director and
chairman of the audit committee of Minmetals Land Limited and Man
Yue International Holdings Limited. He was the President of Hong
Kong Society of Accountants (now known as Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants) in 1991. Mr. Mar is an Honorary Fellow
of the Lingnan University and appointed member of the Court of
Lingnan University by the Chief Executive of the HKSAR. He joined
the Board in September 2004.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

LI KWOK SING, AUBREY

aged 62, is the Independent Non-executive Director of the Company.
He is the Chairman of MCL Partners Limited, a Hong Kong based
financial advisory and investment firm, and has over 30 years’
experience in merchant banking and commercial banking. He is
also a non-executive director of The Bank of East Asia, Limited and
an independent non-executive director of Café de Coral Holdings
Limited, Kunlun Energy Company Limited, Kowloon Development
Company Limited, Pokfulam Development Company Limited and Tai
Ping Carpets International Limited. Mr. Li has a Master of Business
Administration from Columbia University and a Bachelor of Science
in Civil Engineering from Brown University. He joined the Board in
November 1998.

ZHAI HAITAO

aged 43, is the Independent Non-executive Director of the Company.
He is the President and Partner of Primavera Capital Group. He
was formerly Managing Director of Goldman Sachs Asia LLC
and Chief Representative of Goldman Sachs Beijing Office. Prior
to joining Goldman Sachs, Mr. Zhai worked at the International
Department of the People’s Bank of China in Beijing, and was
Deputy Representative of the Peoples Bank of China Representative
Office for the Americas based in New York. He holds a Master’s
Degree in International Relations from Columbia University, a Master
of Business Administration Degree from New York University and a
Bachelor of Arts Degree in Economics from Peking University. He
has comprehensive experience and knowledge in banking, capital
market and management. Mr. Zhai joined the Board in January 2011.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

POON YUEN LING

aged 44, is the Company Secretary of the Company. She is
an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators. She joined the Group in April 1994, with over 15
years of experience in company secretarial and administration areas.
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Report of the Directors
EEEWE

The directors have pleasure in submitting their annual report
together with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2011.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

China Everbright International Limited (the “Company”) is a company
incorporated and domiciled in Hong Kong and has its registered
office and principal place of business at Room 2703, 27th Floor, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries are set out
in note 15 to the financial statements.

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of
the operations of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
during the financial year are set out in note 3 to the financial
statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
The information in respect of the major customers and suppliers of
the Group respectively during the financial year is as follows:

The largest customer BAEP

Five largest customers in aggregate AAREFAR
The largest supplier AEER

Five largest suppliers in aggregate hREEEER

At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the directors
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest
in these major customers and suppliers.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(@ In June 2004, Qingdao EB-VW Waste Water Treatment Co.,
Ltd. (“Qingdao EB-VW”, a subsidiary of the Company) entered
into an operation and maintenance agreement with Qingdao
Veolia Water Operating Company Limited (“Qingdac Veolia”, an
associate of the Group). Pursuant to the agreement, Qingdao
EB-VW will subcontract to Qingdao Veolia the provision of the
operation and maintenance services in respect of the waste-
water treatment plants (the “Plants”) in Qingdao, the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”). During the year ended 31
December 2011, service fee for the operation and maintenance
of the Plants paid/payable to Qingdao Veolia amounted to
HK$44,783,000 (2010: HK$40,592,000).

(b) In June 2004, Qingdao EB-VW entered into a waste-water
treatment agreement with Qingdao Municipal Drainage
Company (“Qingdao Drainage”, a non-controlling shareholder of
Qingdao EB-VW). Pursuant to the agreement, Qingdao EB-VW
will provide waste-water treatment services and other related
services to Qingdao Drainage on an exclusive basis. During
the year ended 31 December 2011, waste-water treatment
revenue received/receivable from Qingdao Drainage amounted
to HK$109,949,000 (2010: HK$92,005,000).

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have
reviewed these connected transactions and confirmed that such
transactions were:

e entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

e conducted either on normal commercial terms or, if there are
not sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether they are
on normal commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to the
Group than terms available to or from independent third parties;
and

e in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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Report of the Directors = E &R &

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

The Company’s auditors were engaged to report to the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagement 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter of Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditors have issued an unqualified letter containing their findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions as
disclosed by the Group in the annual report in accordance with Rule
14A.38 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011 and
the state of the Company’s and the Group’s affairs as at that date
are set out in the financial statements on pages 118 to 239.

TRANSFER TO RESERVES

Profit for the year, before dividends, of HK$845,264,000 (2010:
HK$653,165,000) have been transferred to reserves. Other
movements in reserves are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

An interim dividend of HK2 cents per share (2010: HK1 cent per
share) was paid on 20 October 2011. The directors now recommend
the payment of a final dividend of HK2.5 cents per share (2010:
HK1.5 cents per share) in respect of the year ended 31 December
2011.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted
to HK$175,000 (2010: HK$664,000).

FIXED ASSETS

Details of the movements in fixed assets during the year are set out
in note 12 to the financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 30(c) to the financial statements. Shares were
issued during the year on exercise of share options.

There were no purchases, sales or redemptions of the Company’s
listed securities by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the
year.

DIRECTORS
The directors during the financial year and up to the date of this
report were:

Tang Shuangning, Chairman

Zang Qiutao, Vice-chairman

Li Xueming, Vice-chairman

Chen Xiaoping, Chief Executive Officer

Wang Tianyi, General Manager

Wong Kam Chung, Raymond, Chief Financial Officer
Cai Shuguang, Deputy General Manager

Fan Yan Hok, Philip

Mar Selwyn
Li Kwok Sing, Aubrey
Zhai Haitao (appointed on 1 January 2011)

In accordance with articles 77, 78 and 79 of the Company’s Articles
of Association, Mr. Wong Kam Chung, Raymond, Mr. Fan Yan Hok,
Philip, Mr. Mar Selwyn and Mr. Li Kwok Sing, Aubrey will retire from
the board at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The non-executive directors of the Company including the
independent non-executive directors are appointed for a specific
term, subject to re-election. The term of appointment of Mr.
Mar Selwyn, Mr. Li Kwok Sing, Aubrey and Mr. Zhai Haitao, the
independent non-executive directors, is for two years until 31
December 2013. The term of appointment of Mr. Fan Yan Hok,
Philip, a non-executive director of the Company is for two years until
31 December 2013. They are all subject to retirement in accordance
with the Company’s Articles of Association as indicated above.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one
year without payment of compensation, other than normal statutory
obligations.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

The directors and chief executive of the Company who held office
at 31 December 2011 had the following interests in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company, its holding
companies, subsidiaries and other associated corporations (within
the meaning of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”))
at that date as recorded in the register of directors’ and chief
executive’s interests and short positions required to be kept under
section 352 of the SFO:

(i) Long position in shares of the Company

Nature of
interest

M

Name of director

EEZRBEN

AR B S E (AT E A B R B B RER 1T 2 BX
RBFREG LRABBEZERITLNAIRN—FR
RNERE(—RORERERIN) TR L Z RER
RIGEH °

EERFETHRAEFAZRM - HEKRSD
REFEZERKXR

BANRRIRIERE 77 LR 1R B 3621F A EA T
FEZEERTETRABER AR BMAT
ST R-E——F+t-A=1t—H%&E
ZARBEZRTETRABRZBEARRT]
HZER AR MBARREMBEAR(EERER
& R BRG] 2 Btn - ABRERD RIEFFF AT
A S

() REQFRGDZHFR

Number of
shares

r%E

Percentage

Bakt
(ordinary shares)
(BBR)

Wong Kam Chung, Raymond & 782 Personal & A 500,000 0.01%
Fan Yan Hok, Philip SBRR Personal {iE A 8,500,000 0.23%
Li Kwok Sing, Aubrey ZEE Personal {E A 1,000,000 0.08%
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS EERFETHRAEREEZRM - HERG
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING LESEERAE(E)
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (continued)
(i) Long position in underlying shares of equity derivatives (i) RA2ATHEERDRASTETEZHAE
of the Company

Number of
equity
derivatives Number of
Nature of held underlying
interest e T =17 N shares Percentage
Name of director e fTETA®EHE 1R E Bt
(share options) (ordinary shares)
(BB ) ( ZApR)
Zang Qiutao Y Personal & A 2,000,000 2,000,000 0.05%
Li Xueming ZE281 Personal & A 10,000,000 10,000,000 0.27%
Chen Xiaoping B/ N Personal & A 9,000,000 9,000,000 0.24%
Wong Kam Chung, =R Personal & A 3,000,000 3,000,000 0.08%
Raymond
All the above shares and underlying shares of equity derivatives LR RABERORAITETA(GELT
(being unlisted and physically settled) were beneficially owned by NEMEE)HHREBRESTERRFEA - £X
the directors concerned. The percentage shown was calculated FIBERZBAOLUAARRR T —F+=
based on the number of issued shares of the Company as at 31 A=+—HEZTRHEEHE -
December 2011.

Further details relating to the options granted to the directors and ~ BRAZARRBIRIESE K& F E1THA B HERIER
chief executive of the Company are set out in the section “Share  #— P T X[ EARAERT 8] ] —&D -
option scheme” below.

Apart from the foregoing, none of the directors and chief executive ~ Fr_EXPFRULESN - AR BIRZEE K HAE EA
of the Company or any of their spouses or children under eighteen  SE352{FRER TFE 2 ErcMAAH AT

years of age has interests or short positions in the shares, underlying AR RIFRESRRF BTHA BKE 2 (EAIEE
shares or debentures of the Company, or any of its holding T\ N2 FLBBAERLDE] « EAEMIER
companies, subsidiaries or other associated corporations, as A7) * MiB AR EAMBB AT ZRG - HER
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the A S EHFFHEE R FOXR HIRE LT ARIES
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company pursuant to the Model  #1TBHFR 5 Z RAEFAIBME RN E] 2 sk
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies. KA ©
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has a share option scheme which was adopted on 26
May 2003 whereby the directors of the Company are authorised, at
their discretion, to invite employees of the Group, including directors
of any company in the Group, to take up options to subscribe for
shares of the Company. The purpose of the scheme is to provide
an opportunity for employees of the Group to acquire an equity
participation in the Company and to encourage them to work
towards enhancing the value of the Company and its shares for
the benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a whole. The
share option scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten
years ending on 25 May 2013, after which no further options will be
granted.

The exercise price of options is the highest of the nominal value of
the shares, the closing price of the shares on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on the date of grant and
the average closing price of the shares on the Stock Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant. The
options are exercisable six months (or a later date as determined by
the directors of the Company) after the date on which the options are
granted for a period up to ten years or 25 May 2013, whichever is
earlier.

The total number of securities available for issue under the share
option scheme as at 31 December 2011 was 254,831,170 shares
(including options for 28,250,000 shares that have been granted but
not yet lapsed or exercised) which represented approximately 7%
of the issued share capital of the Company at 31 December 2011.
In respect of the maximum entitlement of each participant under the
share option scheme, the number of securities issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to each participant in any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the Company’s ordinary shares
in issue.

Offer of an option shall be deemed to have been accepted when the
letter comprising acceptance of the option duly signed by the grantee
together with a remittance of HK$1 is received within 28 days from
the date of offer. The share option scheme will expire on 25 May
2018.

At 31 December 2011, the directors and employees of the Company
had the following interests in options to subscribe for shares of
the Company (market value per share at 31 December 2011 was
HK$2.81) granted at nominal consideration under the share option
scheme of the Company. The options are unlisted. Each option gives
the holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary share of HK$0.1
each of the Company.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) MBI REETEI(2)

No. of
No. of shares * Market
options  acquired No. of valueper  *Market
outstanding on exercise options shareat  value per
atthe of options outstanding Period dateof  shareon
beginning during atthe during which grantof exercise of
oftheyear ~ theyear  yearend optionsare  Exercise options options
9 ERfE FR Date exercisable  priceper *REERRE < *BRE
HATEZ BREEA EERTEZ granted Rl share RIHAHZ  fTERZ
Director BRENE ZRHYME ERERE RHBH i BRiTEE SkHE SkiE
Zang Qiutao EilE 2,000,000 (2,000,000) - 3August2006  3August2007  HK$0.85  HKS0.85  HK$3.42
ZZERE to5Mey2013  E¥o08sT  EM08ST  EES4n
NA=AH e 2
NA=RZE
“T-=F
RA-tHA
2,000,000 - 2000000 3August2006 3August2008to  HK$0.85 HK30.85 -
“EENE 5My2013  BH0ssT  E¥0SST
NA=AH e =2
NB=ZRZE
“T-=F
RA-tHA
Li Xueming ZEH 5,000,000  (5,000,000) - 29September 29March2004t0  HK$0.296  HK$0.296  HK$3.42
2008 25May 2013 E%0206 #0206 AE342T
—BT=F —TIME
hAZThE ZA=thBEZE
—3-=%
RA-tHA

9000000 (3000000 6000000 29September  29September  HKS0206  HKS0206  HK$342
2003 2004t0 EH0206T K020 BE3ATT

SEESE 25May 2013

NAZthH ‘gfﬂi

2,000,000 - 2000000 3August2006 3August2007to  HK$085  HK$0.85 =
e N3 25May2013 %0857  BH085T
NBZE  2BtE
NA=Rz
gz
EA-TEA

2,000,000 - 2000000 3August2006 3August2008to  HK$085  HKS0.85 =
e N3 25May2013  #E¥08T  AHB0.85T
NA=R “TENF
AH Rz
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Director

Chen Xiaoping

Wong Kam Chung,
Raymond

No. of
options
outstanding
atthe
beginning
of the year
)
ERATHEZ
Ry E

7,000,000

%
BT

9,000,000

2,600,000

2,600,000

i

1,500,000

1,500,000

No. of
shares
acquired No. of
on exercise options
of options outstanding
during atthe
theyear  yearend
ERfTE R
BIRERA HATEZ
ZRGYE ERENE
(7,000,000) -
(6,000,000) 4,000,000
- 2,500,000
- 2,500,000
- 1,500,000
- 1,500,000
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Date
granted

RitinH

Period
during which
options are
exercisable
Rl
Z1TER

29 September 29 March 2004 to

2003
—FECF

AAZTAA

29 September
2003
—TT=F
AAZTAA

3 August 2006
ZEERE
NR=R

3 August 2006
“ETENE
NB=R

3 August 2006
“TERE
AV ==

3 August 2006
“TENE
NA=H

25 May 2013
“TEE
=A= +nHi
2%
HTA-tEA

29 September
2004 to

25 May 2013
—“EENE
NAZTNAZE
—F--F
FA=tHE

3 August 2007 to
25 May 2013
ZERLE
JAV: E==E
3%
RA-tEA

3 August 2008 to
25 May 2013
—EEN\F
NAZRZE
“F-=E
FA-tHE

3 August 2007 to
25May 2013
“TTE
/\H EI ES

3 August 2008 to
25May 2013
—TI)N\E
/\H =Rz
—E-=f%
RA=THA

Exercise
price per
share

BRITER

HK$0.296
7550.2967T

HK$0.296
7802967

HK$0.85
BRE0.857C

HK$0.85
150.857T

HK30.85
BH50.857T

HK30.85
H50.857T

* Market
value per
share at
date of
grant of
options

* PRl
RitEH2
BiRHE

HK$0.296
7B #50.2967T

HK$0.296
A150.2967

HK$0.85
BH0.857

HK$0.85
750,857

HK$0.85
750.857T

HK$0.85
B¥0.857T

* Market
value per
share on
exercise of
options

* Rl
TiEr2
ShkmiE

HK$3.42
3427

HK$3.42
B340



SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

BRESTRICE

No. of
No. of shares * Market
options  acquired No. of value per * Market
outstanding on exercise options shareat  value per
atthe of options outstanding Period dateof  shareon
beginning during atthe during which grantof exercise of
of the year theyear  yearend options are Exercise options options
N ERfT FR Date exercisable  price per  * ABERR{E * EERRHE
HATHEZ BRERA ERTEZ granted Rl share FHAYz  TEHZ
Employees BRESE ZRHHE BRENE Ria% 2T BRTEE SRHE SkhE
Employees & 1,700,000 - 1,700,000 3August2006 3August2007to  HK$0.85 HK$0.85 =
“EERE 25May 2013 E#085m  AE085T
AV == “ET4E
NR=R%
—F-=F
fA=thA
2,550,000 - 2550000 3August2006 3 August2008to HK$0.85 HK$0.85 =
ZTTRE B5May2013  EH0ssT  AH08ST
JNR=H “ET\&
JAV: ==
“T-=F
TA=tHA

*  being the weighted average closing price of the Company’s ordinary
shares immediately before the dates on which the options were granted or
exercised, as applicable.

The options granted to the directors are registered under the names
of the directors who are also the beneficial owners. During the year,
no options was granted, cancelled or lapsed under the share option
scheme. Information on the accounting policy for share options
granted and the weighted average value per option is provided in
note 1(s)(ii) and note 29 to the financial statements respectively.

Apart from the foregoing, at no time during the year was the
Company, or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in
or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

* AR R ERRAEZRERER N RTEGRAEE
F3) B AR Z e T E
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Pt 2 It FI9EE 2 BRI 5 RIS I 7 Rk
A ()i RME= T
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Report of the Directors = E &R &

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

The Company has been notified of the following interests in the
Company’s issued shares at 31 December 2011 amounting to 5%
or more of the ordinary shares in issue:

Capacity
54

FERRREMALTERG RAEBRKRSGF
BEREERAR

ARFEEN-F——F+= A=+ —AEAX
AREBTRI 2 AT BT HBIRE% T
2 BEIT -

Long position Percentage

in ordinary of total

Nature of shares held issued shares
interest Fits (H28C8T
e TiEkzi3e 40 1=1 07 4

China Everbright Holdings  # It A&EGMR /A 7] Interest of controlled
Company Limited ([HAEE]) corporation
(‘CEH") (note (1)) GEiQ) SN R R

Allianz SE (note (2)) Allianz SE(FE(2)) Interest of controlled

corporation

R AR S

Notes:

(1) Out of the 1,843,951,910 ordinary shares, 1,758,215,910 ordinary shares
are held by Guildford Limited (“Guildford”). Guildford is owned as to 55%
by Datten Investments Limited (“Datten”) and the remaining 45% by CEH.
Datten is wholly owned by CEH. The remaining 85,736,000 ordinary shares
are held by Everbright Investment & Management Limited (“EIM”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of CEH. Accordingly, CEH is deemed to be interested in
the 1,758,215,910 ordinary shares held by Guildford and the 85,736,000
ordinary shares held by EIM.

According to the register kept under section 336 of the SFO, as at 31
December 2011, CEH and its associates had interested in aggregate of
1,838,454,910 ordinary shares (representing 50.02% of the issued shares of
the Company).

(2) The corporate interest of Allianz SE was attributable on account through a
number of its wholly-owned subsidiaries.

Apart from the foregoing, the Company had not been notified of any
other interests by prescribed notices which had been recorded in the
register kept under section 336 of the SFO as at 31 December 2011.

@ China Everbright International Limited  Ff B¢ K EIBE A R A &)

Corporate interest ~ 1,843,951,910  Approximately
NAER 50.17%
#150.17%

Corporate interest 185,763,000  Approximately
NGl 5.05%
#5.05%

ML

(1) 71,843,951 910 E@mAR+ - EH1,758,215910
% A% T Guildford Limited([ Guildford ))#4 o
Guildford JhFDatten Investments Limited([ Datten )
HEEE5%%HE + Hep45% MK AEERFE © Datten/s
AAAREEEZEHE - H##85,736,0000% L @A A
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(TRARZEBE DR - Bt - XAEBHERAHEE
Guildford Fr#A 2 1,758,215,9100 M M e A3%
BEIRFH A 2 85,736,0000% L EA%
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors of the Company as at
the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contract of significance to which the Company, or any of its
holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party,
and in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

COMPETING INTEREST

As at the date of this annual report, as far as the directors are aware,
Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip is an independent non-executive director of
HKC (Holdings) Limited, a company incorporated in Bermuda with
limited liability, whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange and
its business activities include property development and investments,
alternative energy investment, infrastructure, and in particular, waste-
to-energy and wind power, are considered to compete or likely to
compete with the business of the Group. Although Mr. Fan Yan Hok,
Philip is an independent non-executive director of HKC (Holdings)
Limited, he does not engage in the daily operation of HKC (Holdings)
Limited and thus the Group is capable of carrying on its business
independently from HKC (Holdings) Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report and as
far as the directors are aware, none of the directors or their respective
associates had any interests in a business which competes or may
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group
or any other conflicts of interests with the Group.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Company and
the Group as at 31 December 2011 are set out in notes 24, 26 and
27 to the financial statements.

FIVE YEAR SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on pages 240 and 241 of the
annual report.
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PROPERTIES
Particulars of the major properties of the Group are shown on page
242 of the annual report.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Company provides retirement benefits to all local eligible
employees in Hong Kong under an approved defined contribution
provident fund (the “ORSO Scheme”). The ORSO Scheme is
administered by trustees, the majority of which are independent, with
its assets held separately from those of the Company. The ORSO
Scheme is funded by contributions from employees and employers
at 5% each based on the monthly salaries of employees. Forfeited
contribution may be used to reduce the existing level of contribution
by the Company.

As from 1 December 2000, the Group also operates a Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance and not previously covered by the ORSO Scheme.
The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement scheme
administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the
employer and its employees are each required to make contributions
to the scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income. Employee
can choose to contribute with a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$20,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The employees of the subsidiaries in the PRC are members of
the retirement schemes operated by the local authorities. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll to these schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to these schemes is the required
contributions under the schemes.

The Group’s total contributions to these schemes charged to

the income statement during the year ended 31 December 2011
amounted to HK$16,605,000.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent
non-executive directors to be independent.

AUDITORS

KPMG retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment.
A resolution for the reappointment of KPMG as auditors of the
Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

By order of the board

Tang Shuangning

Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 February 2012
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Independent Auditor's Report

B 2B RS

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO

THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA EVERBRIGHT
INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Everbright International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 118 to 239, which comprise
the consolidated and company balance sheets as at 31 December
2011, the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the
year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the presentation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with section 141 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at
31 December 2011 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

20 February 2012
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®
Consolidated Income Statement

. =
— NI S . : Sy
N == = nnnk For the year ended 31 December 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) &&= =% ——4%+ = F=+—R I FZ (AEK1E)

Turnover o ] 3 3,663,563 2,929,415
Direct costs and operating expenses BERAREEER (2,088,436) (1,783,651)
1,575,127 1,145,764
Other revenue H U an 4 59,746 61,544
Other loss H &8 4 (943) 978)
Administrative expenses THER (252,094) (187,245)
Valuation gains on investment properties 1% &34 {E R 12 - 3,996
Profit from operations gEmEN 1,381,836 1,023,081
Finance costs B758 A 5() (246,622) (177,567)
1,135,214 845,514
Share of loss of associate FiREsE & A RS 1E 6 - (688)
Profit before taxation BrEiRIZ T & 1,135,214 844,926
Income tax Fif5 7 7(a) (289,950) (191,761)
Profit for the year REEEF 845,264 653,165
Attributable to: FEIGER S -
Equity shareholders of the Company ¥iN/NE] 823 10 801,441 616,433
Non-controlling interests IR 2 43,823 36,732
Profit for the year REEERF 845,264 653,165
Earnings per share BRERN 11
Basic HAR 21.86 cents flll 16.92 cents Il
Diluted e 21.68 cents flll 16.68 cents 1l

The notes on pages 128 to 239 form part of these financial N FE128E EF239H ¥ Wit At B HRE <
statements. Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of — —%[5 o 4 RRR S AL fERS T AR T IEER
the Company attributable to the profit for the year are set out in note 7 i B 5FIEEAMIE=1(b) °

30(0).
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e
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

A REENE
wvNE £ /g\ I For the year ended 31 December 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #{ZE =2 ——4%+ = F=+—RI-FE (K E)

Profit for the year REERF 845,264 653,165
Other comprehensive income REEHMEEBA :

for the year:
Exchange differences on translation of BEWBRRMBHRREEZ

financial statements of subsidiaries PEH A=RE 242,019 209,087
Changes in fair value of available-for-sale FEBE QAL EEH

securities (69,011) 43,738
Reclassification adjustment for amounts NEEFEFLFEREIERNRY

transferred to profit or loss upon SR BN ERAE

disposal of available-for-sale securities 1,030 -
Tax effect relating to changes in fair value of & FEEA R EE S 2 AT BT E

available-for-sale securities 15,739 (12,005)

189,777 240,820

Total comprehensive income FEEE2ARANEE

for the year 1,035,041 893,985
Attributable to: FE{LER {5
Equity shareholders of the Company /NG )43 972,367 838,591
Non-controlling interests FEFENSHE S 62,674 55,394
Total comprehensive income FEED2AWRNGEE

for the year 1,035,041 893,985

The notes on pages 128 to 239 form part of these financial R F128E E 52398 7 ftst At Eo 15K 2
statements. —&B1R ©
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

AN
A

> ? == %
é =®= :%\ ,f/g\ At 31 December 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) A =& ——F+= A=+—H (LB E)

Non-current assets

Fixed assets

— Investment properties

— Other property, plant
and equipment

— Interest in leasehold land held
for own use

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Interest in associate

Other financial assets

Other receivables and deposits

Gross amounts due from
customers for contract work

Finance lease receivables

Deferred tax assets

Current assets

Inventories

Debtors, other receivables,
deposits and prepayments

Gross amounts due from
customers for contract work

Tax recoverable

Finance lease receivables

Pledged bank deposits

Deposits with bank

Cash and cash equivalents

Current liabilities

Bank loans
— Secured
— Unsecured

Creditors, other payables
and accrued expenses
Current taxation

Net current assets

@ China Everbright International Limited 2 Byt A BB AR A &)
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12(a)

20
18
19
28(a)
21
22

23

24

28(a)

43,475
1,016,164
553,177

432
215,670

1,684,299

3,513,217

507,152
556,928

1,064,080

1,423,305
52,101

10,509
845,511
31,577

887,597
1,069,730
46,133

184,284
2,181,165

5,963,047

21,608
12,836

10,366,400

973,731

28,856

385,021

413,877

638,728

46,133

244,949

2,399,734

4,629,124

14,080

8,386,625
21,490
673,635
350,836
5,381
38,852
52,087
1,341,485
2,483,766
365,308
366,946
732,254
853,444
29,136
1,614,834

868,932



Consolidated Balance Sheet

FRAERRR
IZ\\/_.]—\ - é ES :%\ /E\ At 31 December 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) A =Z——F+ =3 =+—H (LAEET &)

Total assets less current
liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Bank loans

- Secured
— Unsecured

Other loans

Loans from ultimate holding
company

Deferred tax liabilities

NET ASSETS

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Share capital
Reserves

Total equity attributable to
equity shareholders of
the Company

Non-controlling interests

TOTAL EQUITY

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

20 February 2012.

Chen Xiaoping
FR/INE
Director

EF

The notes on pages 128 to 239 form part of these financial

statements.
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24

26

o7
28(0)

30(c)

11,340,131 9,255,557
3,012,588 1,817,165
1,016,341 1,219,978
4,028,929 3,037,143
55,350 53,271
122,022 117,439
472,266 299,055

4,678,567 3,506,908

6,661,564 5,748,649

367,546 365,246

5,822,478 4,972,806

6,190,024 5,338,052

471,540 410,597

6,661,564 5,748,649

BEeN T _F_A-_t+tHZERGFIE
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Wang Tianyi
FX&
Director
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®
Balance Sheet

BEEREAER
é ES :%\ f/g\ At 31 December 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) A =2 ——%F+— A =+—H (LABEE)

2010
—E-FTF
$000 $000
Tt Tt
Non-current assets FEREE
Property, plant and M - B RERAE
equipment 12(b) 1,229 1,622
Interest in subsidiaries [ BiEE NI 15 4,143,361 3,723,121
Other financial assets HEASEE 17 3,899 3,899
4,148,489 3,728,642
Current assets RENEE
Other receivables, deposits  ELABFEIGRIE ~ S K&
and prepayments FEfTROR 52,420 45,369
Cash and cash equivalents 4 MIREZEY) 23 252,063 244,054
304,483 289,423
Current liabilities REARE
Bank loans IRITEX 24
— Secured — B 40,000 40,000
— Unsecured — 50,000 -
90,000 40,000
Other payables and accrued EL 1 & (< 7k 78 K fE T
expenses £ 19,871 16,443
109,871 56,443
Net current assets TENEERE 194,612 232,980
Total assets less current BB ERRIEE
liabilities 4,343,101 3,961,622
Non-current liabilities FERIBEE
Bank loans IRITEK 24
— Secured — B 47,500 87,500
— Unsecured — IR 50,000 -
97,500 87,500
Amounts due to subsidiaries FE{THIE A Fl21E 15 1,149,436 634,938
1,246,936 722,438
NET ASSETS BETH 3,096,165 3,239,184
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Balance Sheet

> g = %
é ES :%\ 1/§\ At 31 December 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) R =F——4F+= B =+—H (LABE:E)

CAPITAL AND RESERVES R&A R fitth 30(@)
Share capital AR

Reserves T

TOTAL EQUITY HEniBER

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
20 February 2012.

Chen Xiaoping
BR/NE
Director

EE

The notes on pages 128 to 239 form part of these financial
statements.

367,546 365,246
2,728,619 2,873,938
3,096,165 3,239,184
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e
Consohdated Statement of Changes in Equity

—H—\/

4= >< Ak @J ?E .
N I:l ’% For the year ended 31 December 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) &= =% ——4%+ = f=+—H I FE (K E)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

AT R
Capital
redemption
Share Special reserve Capital
premium reserve i reserve
RiriE FRIfE EXfE
$000 $000 $000
Tr T T
Balance at 1 January 2010 R=F-FE-A—-HZ
et 363,932 2,147,545 - 70 6,828
Changes in equity for 2010: “E-FEZESES:
Profit for the year KEREF - - - - -
Other comprehensive income HiZ2mEKA - - - - -

Total comprehensive income for the year R4 2 IR A 458 = = - - -

Dividend approved in respect BHERFEZRE
of the previous year 30()i) - - - - -
Shares issued under share option scheme iR INE 212/ T 2 k(5 30(0)(i) 1,314 5,804 - - (384)
Transfer to reserve fund BEEREES = - - - -
Dividend paid to non-controling EXAFIHERRE 28
shareholder - - - - -
Dividend declared in respect BERAEE RS
of the current year 30(0)() = - - - -
Balance at 31 December 2010 R-F-BF
+=R=t-B2%6k 365,246 2,153,349 - 70 6,444
Balance at 1 January 2011 R=F——F—-H—-HZ
ih 365,246 2,153,349 - 70 6,444
Changes in equity for 2011: —R—— i
Proft for the year REEER > = - - -
Other comprehensive income Hit2ERA = = - - -
Total comprehensive income for the year  AFE2ERALE = = - - -
Dividend approved in respect of ERELERZRE
the previous year 30(o)( - - - - -
Shares issued under share option scheme IR EEEfTIERT 213417 2 R{7  30(c)(i) 2,300 6,731 - - (1,115)
Transfer to reserve fund BEEREES = = = - -
Dividend paid to non-controling BX AP IR R 2 RS,
shareholder - - - = -
Dividend declared in respect EERAFRE ZRE
of the current year 30(0)(i) - = = = -
Balance at 31 December 2011 R-B——F
+=R=t-B2&k 367,546 2,160,080 - 70 5,329

The notes on pages 128 to 239 form part of these financial ~ZNFE128B EF2308 Z M At FEH K2
statements. —&B17 °
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Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

ARFRRAEN
Goodwill
arising on
consolidation Exchange Fair value Reserve Retained Non-controlling
HGEIRE reserve reserve fund profits interests Total equity
EL2HE B i A ERE -1k REEF E3uliy 54 e
$000 $000 $000 $'000 $000 $'000 $'000
T T T T Fr T T
(1,806) 288,851 (1,497) 61,849 1,707,060 4,572,832 356,934 4,929,766
- - - - 616,433 616,433 36,732 653,165
- 190,425 31,733 - - 222,158 18,662 240,820
- 190,425 31,733 - 616,433 838,591 55,394 893,985
- - - - (43,683) (43,683) - (43,683)
- - - - - 6,734 - 6,734
— - - 32932 (32,932 — - -
_ _ - = - - 1,731) (1,731)
- - - - (36,422) (36,422) - (86,422)
(1,806) 479,276 30,236 94,781 2,210,456 5,338,052 410,597 5,748,649
(1,806) 479,276 30,236 94,781 2,210,456 5,338,052 410,597 5,748,649
- - - - 801,441 801,441 43,823 845,264
- 223,168 (52,242) - - 170,926 18,851 189,777
- 223,168 (52,242) - 801,441 972,367 62,674 1,035,041
- = = = (64,802) (54,802 = (54,802)
- - - - - 7916 - 7916
- - - 32,801 (32,801) - - -
- - = - - - (1,731) (1,731)
= = = = (73,509) (73,509) = (73,509)
(1,806) 702,444 (22,006) 127,582 2,850,785 6,190,024 471,540 6,661,564
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®
idated Cash Flow Statement

Conso

= A ==L 2%
I\‘/_.I_\ Eﬁr i /)L E For the year ended 31 December 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #{ZE = ZE——4%+ =B =+—HIFEE (LB E)

Operating activities ST
Profit before taxation BRAE AT 22 A 1,135,214 844,926
Adjustments for: AR HEER

Valuation gains on investment properties & &Y (L EE S 12 - (3,996)

Depreciation e 5(c) 27,221 16,872

Amortisation of intangible assets A Y 5(c) 30,291 24,489

Amortisation of land lease premium + IS B 5(c) 223 -

Finance costs BifsE R 5(a) 246,622 177,567

Dividend income from listed securities AR EUA 4 (6,316) (1,766)

Bank interest income RITH B A 4 (13,783) (8,260)

Share of loss of associate BT 5%&%’2\ A& 6 - 588

Net loss on sale of other property, HeED \ﬁﬁ%% = KR

plant and equipment 25 Eﬁa 4 943 978

Loss on disposal of listed securities HeE FiEAER 5(c) 1,030 =

Effect of foreign exchange rates changes [ KEfE) 2 2 2 10,558 44,518
Operating profit before changes in ZESSEHHZEEZET

working capital 1,432,003 1,095,916
Increase in inventories FEEN (21,146) (7,771)
Increase in debtors, other receivables, FEURBETR  E b e Y kaa

deposits and prepayments & R IBR a0 (6,103) (635,064)
Increase in gross amounts due from FEHSZ%:)E 4 TR EhIE4A%E

customers for contract work 1340 (1,341,912) (1,352,100)
Increase in creditors, other payables and FEHEE,TA E{ﬁyﬁiﬁ I8 N

accrued expenses FERTE A N 537,196 352,208
Cash generated from/(used in) CERESE (B ZRE

operations 600,038 (646,811)
Interest received 2WF 2 13,783 8,260
People’s Republic of China (‘PRC”) income & 1~ E AREMBE([FRE])

tax paid SRy (86,011) (36,285)
Net cash generated from/(used in) SRR BhRTEL (B )2

operating activities MEFH 527,810 (574,836)
Investing activities IREEE)
Payment for the purchase of other property, B2 E 3 - [ME L&

plant and equipment 2 (518,354) (251,356)
Proceeds from government grant BB S Fﬁ?%;j( 10,963 —
Payment for the additions of intangible assets 1% & 2 &&= 2 W\IE (428,013) (83,891)
Payment for the purchase of listed securities BEE 54 2 FAIH - (173,100)
Proceeds from sale of other property, plant &7 Jnﬁ#@% - B KRR

and equipment PS8 122 1,671
Proceeds from disposal of listed securities  H & Fri M%} 1S 318 217 -
Dividend received from listed securities 2 ETIEAIR S 6,316 -
Increase in pledged bank deposits E}fﬁﬁﬂ?{fﬂ_ i“jju - (8,154)
Decrease in deposits with bank RITIFEIOR D 54,120 1,185
Return of investment from Ik ET A I E O R

unlisted securities - 750
Repayment from finance lease & H & e W IEE R

receivables 399 -
Net cash used in investing activities RS EE A ZIRSFE (874,230) (512,895)
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Conso

idated Cash Flow Statement

BREMER
I\‘/_J—\ i /)L E For the year ended 31 December 2011 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 82 = ——#+=-A=+—H L FE (LB E)

Financing activities BEEE)
Proceeds from new bank loans FERITE R ATS IR 2,609,159 1,419,420
Repayment of bank loans (=1 ﬁfﬁﬁ%m (1,422,969) (723,762)
Proceeds from other loans HEFRERIA - 11,540
Increase in pledged bank deposits IR TIEIIE N (175,302) —
Proceeds from shares issued under share R4S BE A& 2121 TRE D TS

option scheme B 7,916 6,734
Interest paid BRFE (246,622) (177,567)
Dividend paid to equity shareholders of the B2 {4~ &I IZ B

Company (128,311) (80,105)
Dividend paid to a non-controlling BINE 2 E TS

shareholder (1,731) (1,731)
Net cash generated from financing MRS EHFEEZIRETE

activities 642,140 454,529
Net increase/(decrease) incashand  IR&RIFE&ZEEWEM,(GEL)

cash equivalents TBZA 295,720 (633,202)
Cash and cash equivalents at R—A—BZRERIRESEEY

1 January 1,341,485 1,943,785
Effect of foreign exchange rates [ExREE 2 aE

changes 47,094 30,902
Cash and cash equivalents at R+-A=+—HZHER

31 December Re%EY 23 1,684,299 1,341,485

2898 v MizE Rt EM B HE 2

The notes on pages 128 to 239 form part of these financial FHRFE128E
il

statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 15 T M5
/N F yal iF A (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (F2AEAIN @ FTE SRS EE)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASSs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
These financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”). A summary of the significant accounting

policies adopted by the Group is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for
the current accounting period of the Group and the
Company. Note 1(c) provides information on any changes in
accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected

in these financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2011 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries

and the Group’s interest in associate.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except that
the following assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value
as explained in the accounting policies set out below:

— investment property (see note 1(h)); and

— financial instruments classified as available-for-sale

securities (see note 1(g)).

@ China Everbright International Limited 7 B3¢ A BIBR G BR A &)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

R M=t
/N T Va) iF A (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fk BAETLRRIN © A £RBIABETE)

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b)

(c)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are
discussed in note 2.

Changes in accounting policies
The HKICPA has issued a number of amendments to
HKFRSs and one new Interpretation that are first effective
for the current accounting period of the Group and the
Company. Of these, the following developments are relevant
to the Group’s financial statements:

— HKAS 24 (revised 2009), Related party disclosures

— Improvements to HKFRSs (2010)

— HK(FRIC) 19, Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity
instruments

The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.

— FEEEBRE)
(b) HBHMRMHEEE(E)

(c)

REMEN AT B BEREERN 2
WRFBEEEEELHE - (A5 R&R
& MZFHE - At RBREFER
ReERANMRRZEEREE - WA
KAXEHER - ZEEFTRABERR
BREBELRMERERENZERS
ThEAEz EREMEARSEEME
- TS ERBREEERL B ATRBER
Hip RS EE R BE 2 REE
FRYE bR 2 2% - BB FHEF S
RIEETECF -

REBEFER TG RABARERIEL
b o SRt BB NEXEEH
AlEFgsHETE BN S R - 1
ZEEHAAEHTEEHRAEE
M- ABE#EgH AT Z 2N E BRI
1% BRFEIRERR o

BB EBEEAD B KRS ELREFTIE
EWHFERERABATLE 2 HIE - LA
REEEETHEE 2 EEZRE - it
REIE= -

BHEEZ BD
EERHM A B T RAT B
SRAZ T R—BRHNRIE - WH
AEE R AR ARG B ERE
B o Beh AT AR A R B 3
EERB)

- (BAGHEADF24R(ZFTTNEF

{ER]) — [ Bolt 7y 7 28 )

- (BEMBHRE
ZF)

A2 B (ZF—

- (BE(ERMBRERERES)R
B)FAR [ AKX TALAHTH
B

ZRER B30 R e R X A& E R H R
R TR -
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 15 T M5
/N F yal iF A (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (F2AEAIN @ FTE SRS EE)

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c)

(d)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)
HK(IFRIC) 19 has not yet had a material impact on the
Group’s financial statements as these changes will first
be effective as and when the Group enters a relevant
transaction (for example, a debt for equity swap).

The remaining developments related primarily to clarification
of certain disclosure requirements applicable to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements. These developments
have had no material impact on the contents of these
consolidated financial statements.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control
exists when the Group has the power to govern the financial
and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits
from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights
that presently are exercisable are taken into account.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances and transactions and any unrealised profits
arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in
preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent
that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary
not attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in
respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional
terms with the holders of those interests which would result
in the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation
in respect of those interests that meets the definition of a
financial liability. For each business combination, the Group
can elect to measure any non-controlling interests either at
fair value or at their proportionate share of the subsidiary’s
net identifiable assets.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

R M=t
/N T Va) :\fﬁ A (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fk BAETLRRIN © A £RBIABETE)

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
balance sheet within equity, separately from equity
attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-
controlling interests in the results of the Group are presented
on the face of the consolidated income statement and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between non-controlling interests
and the equity shareholders of the Company. Loans from
holders of non-controlling interests and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are presented as financial
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet in accordance
with notes 1(p) or (q) depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the
amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests within
consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative interests,
but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or
loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with
a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial
asset or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of
an investment in an associate or jointly controlled entity.

In the Company’s balance sheet, an investment in a
subsidiary is stated at cost less any impairment losses (see
note 1()), unless the investment is classified as held for sale.

— EERBBR(E)
(d) MEAARERRERSE)

RS ERABEERBR S
HEH  BEARBRRZ EEERDF
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FRHERAN R BRI a AN R B AR
RZENFRERERENREERALR
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 15 T M5
/N F yal iF A (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (F2AEAIN @ FTE SRS EE)

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(e) Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group or the Company
has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over
its management, including participation in the financial and
operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity method,
unless it is classified as held for sale. Under the equity
method, the investment is initially recorded at cost, adjusted
for any excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-date
fair values of the associate’s identifiable net assets over the
cost of the investment (if any). Thereafter, the investment
is adjusted for the post acquisition change in the Group’s
share of the associate’s net assets and any impairment
loss relating to the investment (see notes 1(f) and (). Any
acquisition-date excess over cost, the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the associate and
any impairment losses for the year are recognised in the
consolidated income statement, whereas the Group’s share
of the post-acquisition post-tax items of the associate’s
other comprehensive income is recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
For this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying amount
of the investment under the equity method together with the
Group’s long-term interests that in substance form part of
the Group’s net investment in the associate.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associate are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the associate, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred, in which case they are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

R M=t
/N T Va) iF A (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fk BAETLRRIN © A £RBIABETE)

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(e) Associates (continued)

(f)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over
an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in that associate, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that
former associate at the date when significant influence is lost
is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as
the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of:

() the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the fair value of the Group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree; over

(i) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets
and liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

When (i) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Goodwill arising on a business combination is
allocated to each cash-generating units, or groups of
cash-generating units, that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination and is tested annually for
impairment (see note 1()).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the year, any
attributable amount of purchased goodwill is included in the
calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 15 T M5
/N F yal iF A (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (F2AEAIN @ FTE SRS EE)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Other investments in equity securities

The Group’s and the Company’s policies for investments in
equity securities, other than investments in subsidiaries and

associate, are as follows:

Investments in equity securities are initially stated at fair
value, which is their transaction price unless fair value can
be more reliably estimated using valuation techniques
whose variables include only data from observable markets.
Cost includes attributable transaction costs, except
where indicated otherwise below. These investments are
subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on their

classification:

Investments in securities held for trading are classified
as current assets. Any attributable transaction costs are
recognised in profit or loss as incurred. At the end of each
reporting period the fair value is remeasured, with any
resultant gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. The
net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does not include
any dividends or interest earned on these investments as
these are recognised in accordance with the policies set out

in notes 1(v)(v) and (vii).

Investments in equity securities that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot
be reliably measured are recognised in the balance sheet at

cost less impairment losses (see note 1()).

Investments in securities which do not fall into any of
the above categories are classified as available-for-sale
securities. At the end of each reporting period the fair value is
remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss being recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated separately
in equity in the fair value reserve. Dividend income from these
investments is recognised in profit or loss in accordance with
the policy set out in note 1(v)(vi). When these investments
are derecognised or impaired (see notel()), the cumulative
gain or loss is reclassified from equity to profit or loss.

Investments are recognised/derecognised on the date the

Group commits to purchase/sell the investments.
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1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(h) Investment property

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are
owned or held under a leasehold interest (see note 1(k)) to
earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are stated at fair value. Any gain or
loss arising from a change in fair value or from the retirement
or disposal of an investment property is recognised in
profit or loss. Rental income from investment properties is
accounted for as described in note 1(v)(vi).

Other property, plant and equipment
Other property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see note

1)

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the
initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling
and removing the items and restoring the site on which they
are located, and an appropriate proportion of production
overheads and borrowing costs (see note 1(y)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit or
loss on the date of retirement or disposal.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(i) Other property, plant and equipment (continued)
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

— Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated
over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their
estimated useful lives, from 20 to 50 years after the date

of completion.
—  Plant and machinery 10 to 25 years
— Leasehold improvements 10 years or over the
remaining term of the
lease, if shorter
—  Fumiture and fixtures 510 10 years
—  Motor vehicles, electronic 310 12 years
equipment and other fixed
assets

No depreciation is provided in respect of construction in
progress.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and
its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

)

(k)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets represent operating rights of a toll bridge
and certain alternative energy power plants under Build-
Operate-Own (“BOQO”) arrangements. The intangible assets
are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses (see note 1())).

Amortisation of intangible assets is charged to profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of
30 years. Both the period and method of amortisation are
reviewed annually.

Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines
that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific
asset or assets for an agreed period of time in return for
a payment or a series of payments. Such a determination
is made based on an evaluation of the substance of the
arrangement and is regardless of whether the arrangement
takes the legal form of a lease.

(i)  Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases which
transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as being held
under finance leases. Leases which do not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the Group are classified as operating leases, except
that land held for own use under an operating lease,
the fair value of which cannot be measured separately
from the fair value of a building situated thereon at the
inception of the lease, is accounted for as being held
under a finance lease, unless the building is also clearly
held under an operating lease. For these purposes,
the inception of the lease is the time that the lease was
first entered into by the Group, or taken over from the
previous lessee.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(k) Leased assets (continued)
(i) Assets acquired under finance leases

— EEHHBEE)
k) HEEE(E)
i) REREHEEHAZ S

(i)

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under
finance leases, the amounts representing the fair value
of the leased asset, or, if lower, the present value of the
minimum lease payments, of such assets are included
in fixed assets and the corresponding liabilities, net of
finance charges, are recorded as obligations under
finance leases. Depreciation is provided at rates which
write off the cost of the assets over the term of the
relevant lease or, where it is likely that the Group wil
obtain ownership of the asset, the life of the asset, as
set out in note 1(i). Impairment losses are accounted for
in accordance with the accounting policy as set out in
note 1()). Finance charges implicit in the lease payments
are charged to profit or loss over the period of the
leases so as to produce an approximately constant
periodic rate of charge on the remaining balance of the
obligations for each accounting period.

Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets under operating
leases, payments made under the leases are charged
to profit or loss in equal instalments over the accounting
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern
of benefits to be derived from the leased asset. Lease
incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an
integral part of the aggregate net lease payments made.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease
is amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of
the lease term except where the property is classified as
an investment property (see note 1(h)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
() Impairment of assets

)

Impairment of investments in equity securities and other
receivables

Investments in equity securities and other current
and non-current receivables that are stated at cost or
amortised cost or are classified as available-for-sale
securities are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to determine whether there is objective evidence
of impairment. Objective evidence of impairment
includes observable data that comes to the attention
of the Group about one or more of the following loss
events:

— significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor; and

— a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value
of an investment in an equity instrument below its
cost.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) — EE&BR(Z)

() Impairment of assets (continued) n EBEE#BEGGE)
() Impairment of investments in equity securities and other () BREEFHKRERAMENNEZ
receivables (continued) FEBE(E)
If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is INEFEAM LM EE - AEEER

FERFEIEEIR T ¢

determined and recognised as follows:

For investments in subsidiaries and associate,
the impairment loss is measured by comparing
the recoverable amount of the investment with
its carrying amount in accordance with note 1())
(ii). The impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount in accordance
with note 1(l)(ii).

For unquoted equity securities carried at cost, the
impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the carrying amount of the financial asset
and the estimated future cash flows, discounted
at the current market rate of return for a similar
financial asset where the effect of discounting is
material. Impairment losses for equity securities
carried at cost are not reversed.

For trade and other current receivables and other
financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed
at initial recognition of these assets), where the
effect of discounting is material. This assessment is
made collectively where these financial assets share
similar risk characteristics, such as similar past due
status, and have not been individually assessed
as impaired. Future cash flows for financial assets
which are assessed for impairment collectively are
based on historical loss experience for assets with
credit risk characteristics similar to the collective

group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) — XEE&TBR(Z)

() Impairment of assets (continued) ) BEEFEGE)
() Impairment of investments in equity securities and other () BRAEZFHKERAMBEUNSEZ
receivables (continued) FEBE(E)

If in a subsequent period the amount of an
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can
be linked objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised, the impairment
loss is reversed through profit or loss. A reversal
of an impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s
carrying amount exceeding that which would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years.

— For available-for-sale securities, the cumulative loss
that has been recognised in the fair value reserve
is reclassified to profit or loss. The amount of the
cumulative loss that is recognised in profit or loss
is the difference between the acquisition cost (net
of any principal repayment and amortisation) and
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that
asset previously recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss in
respect of available-for-sale equity securities are
not reversed through profit or loss. Any subsequent
increase in the fair value of such assets is
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Impairment losses are written off against the
corresponding assets directly, except for impairment
losses recognised in respect of debtors included within
debtors, other receivables, deposits and prepayments,
whose recovery is considered doubtful but not remote.
In this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts
are recorded using an allowance account. When the
Group is satisfied that recovery is remote, the amount
considered irrecoverable is written off against debtors
directly and any amounts held in the allowance
account relating to that debt are reversed. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously charged to the
allowance account are reversed against the allowance
account. Other changes in the allowance account and
subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off
directly are recognised in profit or loss.
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
() Impairment of assets (continued)
(i) Impairment of other assets
Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period to identify indications
that the following assets may be impaired or, except
in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

— property, plant and equipment (other than
properties carried at revalued amounts);

— pre-paid interests in leasehold land classified as
being held under an operating lease;

— intangible assets; and
—  goodwill.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill and
intangible assets that are not yet available for use, the
recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or
not there is any indication of impairment.

—  Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. Where an asset does
not generate cash inflows largely independent of
those from other assets, the recoverable amount
is determined for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1

15 7= i 5
7J> T yal #& ’z FIE (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fk BAETLRRIN © A £RBIABETE)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of assets (continued)
Impairment of other assets (continued)

0

(i)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised
in respect of cash-generating units are allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwiill
allocated to the cash-generating unit (or group of
units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount of
the other assets in the unit (or group of units) on
a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of
an asset will not be reduced below its individual
fair value less costs to sell, or value in use, if
determinable.

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment
loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 15 T B 5
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
() Impairment of assets (continued)
(ii))  Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to
prepare an interim financial report in compliance with
HKAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in respect of the
first six months of the financial year. At the end of the
interim period, the Group applies the same impairment
testing, recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at
the end of the financial year (see notes 1()(i) and (ii).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period
in respect of goodwill and available-for-sale equity
securities and unquoted equity securities carried at cost
are not reversed in a subsequent period. This is the
case even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have been
recognised had the impairment been assessed only at
the end of the financial year to which the interim period
relates. Consequently, if the fair value of an available-
for-sale equity security increases in the remainder of the
annual period, or in any other period subsequently, the
increase is recognised in other comprehensive income
and not profit or loss.

(m) Inventories

Inventories, mainly comprise biomass fuel, spare parts and
consumables used in the repairs and maintenance of the
waste-water treatment plants, waste-to-energy power plants
and solid waste landfill, are carried at cost less provision
for obsolescence. Cost is calculated using the weighted
average cost formula. WWhen inventories are consumed, the
carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an
expense in profit or loss.
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1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(n)

(o)

Construction contracts

Construction contracts are contracts specifically negotiated
with a customer for the construction of an asset or a group
of assets, where the customer is able to specify the major
structural elements of the design. The accounting policy for
contract revenue is set out in note 1(v)(). WWhen the outcome
of a construction contract can be estimated reliably,
contract costs are recognised as an expense by reference
to the stage of completion of the contract at the end of the
reporting period. When it is probable that total contract
costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is
recognised as an expense immediately. When the outcome
of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably,
contract costs are recognised as an expense in the period in
which they are incurred.

Construction contracts in progress at the end of the
reporting period are recorded at the net amount of costs
incurred plus recognised profit less recognised losses and
progress billings, and are presented in the balance sheet as
the “Gross amounts due from customers for contract work”
(as an asset) or the “Gross amounts due to customers for
contract work” (as a liability), as applicable. Progress billings
not yet paid by the customer are included under “Debtors,
other receivables, deposits and prepayments”.

Debtors, other receivables, deposits and
prepayments

Debtors, other receivables, deposits and prepayments
are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
allowance for impairment of doubtful debts (see note 1()),
except where the receivables are interest-free loans made
to related parties without any fixed repayment terms or the
effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the
receivables are stated at cost less allowance for impairment
of doubtful debts.
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(p) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated
at amortised cost with any difference between the amount
initially recognised and redemption value being recognised in
profit or loss over the period of the borrowings, together with
any interest and fees payable, using the effective interest

method.

(q) Creditors, other payables and accrued expenses
Creditors, other payables and accrued expenses are initially
recognised at fair value. Except for financial guarantee
liabilities measured in accordance with note 1(u)(i), creditors,
other payables and accrued expenses are subsequently
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

() Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
having been within three months of maturity at acquisition.
Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for
the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement.

(s) Employee benefits

()  Short-term employee benefits and contributions to

defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in
the year in which the associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred
and the effect would be material, these amounts are

stated at their present values.
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1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(s) Employee benefits (continued)

(i)

(i)

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in a capital reserve within equity. The fair value
is measured at the grant date using the Black-Scholes
Option Pricing Model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted. Where
the employees have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the options, the
total estimated fair value of the options is spread over
the vesting period, taking into account the probability
that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised
in prior years is charged/credited to profit or loss for
the year of the review, unless the original employee
expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the capital reserve. On
the vesting date, the amount recognised as an expense
is adjusted to reflect the actual number of options that
vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the capital
reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to not
achieving vesting conditions that relate to the market
price of the Company’s shares. The equity amount is
recognised in the capital reserve until either the option
is exercised (when it is transferred to the share premium
account) or the option expires (when it is released
directly to retained profits).

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result
of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed formal
plan which is without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

— FEEEBRE)
(s) BEENE)

(i)

(i)

KRG 1ETT
BREERBREZAAESRER
RBBETRA > MEEZDAZEXR
R RIEARRE ZIE 0 - 2 AETIR
B AR A1 0 e — &7 R AT | 38
REERN  UREEBBREZR
HIERKEGETE - EEBATA
ERGH TR BIETZERERBK
R - EE ERRE AR A X
% BREZGAABERBEEE
MR E D AFR ©

RAEREBA - AT A ARz e
ZEEFEL®RT - RIFRENEE
AXAETERAIERREE BRI
TREEBEFEER LR AN
BZHABBERNFAZBERT
A BEE - WA E AN E AR RE
AR EEMBH - BRIFEREER
B G 5| BUE M) 3. R AL B R
RERMcHERR  TRRERS
Xz RRERERE 2 BERE
BERB (L AEEAREEIERER
)  EaDeBEEANFRETER
HEBREETE(EREERDRE
fR) - BRERER (EREARE
BN BIE -

AUEREFY

RIEBAERAREEABENM
HABTAIREHE TR ZBERT -
RE R B ok R BRER B FREE e
Hem a5 TRER

Annual Report 2011 =& ——F 55 @
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1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax
are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and
unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a period,
or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.
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1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(t)

Income tax (continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of
a business combination), and temporary differences relating
to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case
of taxable differences, the Group controls the timing of
the reversal and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the
future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that
it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against
deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and the following additional conditions
are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
() Income tax (continued)

in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis or
realise and settle simultaneously.

(u) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities

()

Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments to
reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”)
for a loss the holder incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the fair
value of the guarantee (being the transaction price,
unless the fair value can otherwise be reliably estimated)
is initially recognised as deferred income within
creditors, other payables and accrued expenses. Where
consideration is received or receivable for the issuance
of the guarantee, the consideration is recognised in
accordance with the Group’s policies applicable to
that category of asset. Where no such consideration
is received or receivable, an immediate expense is
recognised in profit or loss on initial recognition of any
deferred income.
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(u) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities (continued)

U

(i)

Financial guarantees issued (continued)

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as
deferred income is amortised in profit or loss over
the term of the guarantee as income from financial
guarantees issued. In addition, provisions are
recognised in accordance with note 1(u)i) if and when
(i) it becomes probable that the holder of the guarantee
will call upon the Group under the guarantee, and (i)
the amount of that claim on the Group is expected
to exceed the amount currently carried in creditors,
other payables and accrued expenses in respect of
that guarantee i.e. the amount initially recognised, less
accumulated amortisation.

Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group or the Company has
a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(v) Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Provided it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue
and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is
recognised in profit or loss as follows:

()  Revenue from construction contracts
When the outcome of a construction contract can be
estimated reliably, contract revenue and expenses are
recognised in profit or loss in proportion to the stage of
completion of the contract.

The stage of completion is assessed by reference to
surveyors of work performed. When the outcome of
a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably,
contract revenue is recognised only to the extent of
contract costs incurred that are likely to be recoverable.
An expected loss on a contract is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

(i)  Revenue from service concession arrangement
Revenue relating to construction services under a
service concession arrangement is recognised based
on the stage of completion of the work performed,
consistent with the Group’s accounting policy on
recognising revenue from construction contracts (see
note 1(v)(i)). Operation or service revenue is recognised
in the period in which services are provided by the
Group. When the Group provides more than one
service in a service concession arrangement the
consideration received is allocated by reference to the
relative fair values of the services delivered.

(i) Toll bridge revenue
Toll bridge revenue, net of business tax, is recognised
upon the passage of vehicles through the bridge.

(iv) Revenue from environmental water project,
environmental energy project and alternative energy
project operation services
Revenue from environmental water project, environmental
energy project and alternative energy project operation
services are recognised when the related services are
rendered.
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1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(v) Revenue recognition (continued)

v)

(vi)

(Vi)

Finance income
Finance income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern
of benefits to be derived from the use of leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable.

Dividends

Dividend income from unlisted investments is
recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive
payment is established.

Dividend income from listed investments is recognised
when the share price of the investment goes ex-
dividend.

(vii) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the balance sheet
initially when there is reasonable assurance that they
will be received and that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them. Grants that compensate
the Group for expenses incurred are recognised as
revenue in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the
same periods in which the expenses are incurred.
Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an
asset are deducted from the carrying amount of the asset
and consequently are effectively recognised in profit or
loss over the useful life of the asset by way of reduced
depreciation expense.

(w) Repairs and maintenance
Expenditures on major overhaul, repair and maintenance are
charged to profit or loss as incurred.
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1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(x) Translation of foreign currencies

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (“functional currency”). The financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is both the
Company’s presentation currency and functional currency.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair
value was determined.

The results of foreign operations are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
transactions. Balance sheet items, including goodwill arising
on consolidation of foreign operations acquired on or after 1
January 2005, are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated separately
in equity in the exchange reserve. Goodwill arising on
consolidation of a foreign operation acquired before 1
January 2005 is translated at the foreign exchange rate that
applied at the date of acquisition of the foreign operation.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount
of the exchange differences relating to that foreign operation
is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or
loss on disposal is recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

v)

(@)

Borrowing costs

Borrowings costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost
of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of
a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the
asset are being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for
its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of
borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially
all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for
its intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.

Related parties
(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

() has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

() The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third

party.
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(2)

EERA

HEA REILEFLE-BRREHE
BHAFRMERIHEZEERRA
ZEERA  FEXMUERBREE
Z BN o BAbfE B AR EL 2 /]
RIZIVERS RIE

BERATTREEZRXES - BEX
AEERBEREHEEEFLRER RN
HEMR AEETR - ERMUER
BREEZRNKE - EMEAHER
EREEFEREREIHERT A
BIRB R ET S TE AR - BNE R IES
EIEEARMEEERA -

BAREA L
(@) RALHEMHKEKE BEARE
B G RAR - R AL

() HBEAKEZEHERHRE
R

i) BAKEBBEEATESN =X

(i) RAEEIXANEEFRAR2E
EEEAR °

b) fHFE NIMEMMGRSE - AIXERS
BN E BRI

) ZERBEKAEERFRA-—%EZ
KRERAB(NERFLRR] - HEBA
CISEESNEYNCIVEEEY

i) —EERRS—ERZBZR
AHAERR (KR —ERBAK
BRABIZEEETKERAZ

BEATRAREE) -

(i) MEEEHAERE=F286
o

Annual Report 2011 =& ——F 55 @



Notes to the Financial Statements

1 15 T B 5
/N F yal iF A (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& 2AEAIN @ FTA SRS EE)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) — I%Aﬁfﬁi%(ﬁ)
(2) Related parties (continued) (2) BAEEA (7

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (continued)

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(V) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

(v The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

(aa) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified from
the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance
of, the Group’s various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

@ China Everbright International Limited 2 B3¢ A BB AR A )
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2 ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES = EEHHIETREE
(a) Critical accounting judgements in applying the () EEAAREEESHBREMECBAES

Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following accounting
judgements:

Service concession arrangements

The Group entered into Build-Operate—Transfer (“BOT”),
Transfer—Operate—Transfer (“TOT”) and BOO arrangements
in respect of its environmental water projects, environmental
energy projects, alternative energy projects and toll bridge
projects.

The Group concluded that all the BOT and TOT arrangements
and certain BOO arrangements are service concession
arrangements under HK(IFRIC) 12, because the local
government controls and regulates the services that
the Group must provide with the infrastructure at a pre-
determined service charge. In respect of BOT and
TOT arrangements, upon expiry of concession right
agreement, the infrastructure has to be transferred to
the local government at nil consideration. Infrastructure
for BOO arrangements is used in the service concession
arrangements for its entire or substantial useful life.

S
EREERAAEERHEER - B
BB

RIS I A S HE
REEFERRKBEIEE - BIRAEIRIE
B - ¥eeRER RKBBRIER 71
BOT(E&E—EZ %) « TOT(E%—
B —8%) RBOOZHE °
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2 ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continued)

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty
Notes 12(c), 14, 29 and 31 contain information about the
assumptions and their risk factors relating to valuation of
investment properties, goodwill impairment, fair value of
share option granted and financial instruments. Other key
sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

)

(i)

Construction contracts

As explained in notes 1(n) and 1(v)(i), revenue and profit
recognition on an incompleted project is dependent
on estimating the final outcome of the construction
contract, as well as the work done to date. Based
on the Group’s recent experience and the nature of
the construction activity undertaken by the Group,
the Group makes estimates of the point at which it
considers the work is sufficiently advanced such that
the costs to complete and revenue can be reliably
estimated. As a result, until this point is reached, the
“Gross amounts due from customers for contract work”
as disclosed in note 19 will not include profit which the
Group may eventually realise from the work to date.
In addition, actual outcomes in terms of total cost or
revenue may be higher or lower than estimated at the
balance sheet date, which would affect the revenue and
profit recognised in future years as an adjustment to the
amounts recorded to date.

Impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts

The Group estimates impairment losses for bad
and doubtful debts resulting from the inability of the
customers to make the required payments. The Group
bases the estimates on the ageing of the receivables,
customer credit-worthiness, and historical write-off
experience. If the financial conditions of customers were
to deteriorate, actual write-offs would be higher than
estimated.
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2 ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

(i)

(v)

Other impairment losses

If circumstances indicate that the carrying value of
investments in subsidiaries, associate, fixed assets,
intangible assets and other financial assets may not
be recoverable, these assets may be considered
impaired, and an impairment loss may be recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36, Impairment of assets.
The carrying amounts of these assets are reviewed
periodically in order to assess whether the recoverable
amounts have declined below the carrying amounts.
These assets are tested for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that their
recorded carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
When such a decline has occurred, the carrying amount
is reduced to recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the greater of the fair value less costs to sell
and the value in use. It is difficult to estimate precisely
fair values because quoted market prices for the
Group’s assets are not readily available. In determining
the value in use, expected cash flows generated by
the asset are discounted to their present value, which
requires significant judgement relating to revenue
and amount of operating costs. The Group uses all
readily available information in determining an amount
that is a reasonable approximation of recoverable
amount, including estimates based on reasonable and
supportable assumptions and projections of revenue
and amount of operating costs.

Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves judgement
on the future tax treatment of certain transactions.
The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of
transactions and tax provisions are set up accordingly.
The tax treatment of such transactions is reconsidered
periodically to take into account all changes in tax
legislations. Deferred tax assets are recognised for
temporary deductible differences. As those deferred
tax assets can only be recognised to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the unused tax credits can be utilised,
management’s judgement is required to assess the
probability of future taxable profits. Management
reassess these estimates at each balance sheet date.
Additional deferred tax assets are recognised if it
becomes probable that future taxable profits will allow
the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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3 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(a) Turnover (a) =%

= EXHERSEHRE

The principal activities of the Group are construction,
environmental water project operation (waste-water
treatment plants and reusable water treatment plants),
environmental energy project operation (waste-to-energy
power plants and industrial solid waste landfill), alternative
energy project operation (methane-to-energy power plants,
photovoltaic energy projects, biomass power generation
plants and waste water source heat pump project),
environmental technology and construction management,
toll bridge operation, property investments and investment
holding.

Turnover represents the revenue from construction
contracts, revenue from environmental water projects,
environmental energy projects and alternative energy
projects operation services, finance income, toll bridge
revenue and rental income. The amount of each significant
category of revenue recognised in turnover during the year is
as follows:

ARE 2 EBEB/RE - RIRKIEA
BEE OS/KEE IR S /KB IER) « 3R
TReERIE B EE (RN R EM N TXEER
REYIRIES) - FrELIRIR B &% OBR
B - KRBEIRR  £MERLEER
NEKRERIER) - BRBRAIREE
B WEBRREE MERERREE

B e

ERBERBRZESHWE - RERFRK
BIARE - IRIREEIRIE R RFTBERIAR 2
BERB WS - BB - EBRIK
BmRESWA - FRABHELEBPHER
MEIAT BWASERISRERNT -

Revenue from environmental water project

RIRKHSIA B 2R ek

construction services 128,876 233,243
Revenue from environmental energy project IB{RELIRIE B iSRRG IS
construction services 1,536,109 1,360,418
Revenue from alternative energy project ¥aelRIE B bR is s
construction services 453,626 91,220
Revenue from environmental water project  ER{R/KFIE B & < AR 7SI e
operation services 431,275 381,547
Revenue from environmental energy project IB{ReLIRIE B B4 RIS IS
operation services 347,148 270,045
Revenue from alternative energy project FaclRIE B & BRis e
operation services 61,743 12,160
Finance income BRI 526,616 431,029
Toll bridge revenue W E BRI 176,866 147,977
Gross rentals from investment properties &R S 1258 1,304 1,776
3,663,563 2,929,415
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3 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT REPORTING = BEBERNEEREE)
(continued)
(@) Turnover (continued) (a) &R (&

The Group has transactions with the PRC local government
authorities which in aggregate exceeded 10% of the
Group’s revenues. For the year ended 31 December
2011, aggregated revenues from environmental water
project construction and operation services, environmental
energy project construction and operation services,
alternative energy project construction and operation
services and finance income derived from local government

ztsﬁléﬁiqﬂééimﬂﬁ&%%ﬁsﬁﬁi
5 BEARZEMAEERZEHE10% °
HE-_Z——F+=-A=+—HLHF
fE o REREE BT EE 2 RERK
BEERENMELRB K  RIRME
RIBEEERBEERS WS - FER
HB EENMEE RS WS &I A
4258 53,432,212,0007( — T — T4 ¢

2,779,662,0007T ) ° ﬁﬁwz St AR
RKEEEBEREE |90 [IRIRAE
TRIE B EE MBS | ol M #eeRIE B

authorities in the PRC amounted to $3,432,212,000
(2010: $2,779,662,000). The revenues are included in
“Environmental water project construction and operation”,

“Environmental energy project construction and operation” BEMEE | D (F R MBS REM T
and “Alternative energy project construction and operation” =(b) - BEZERFERZEREER

segments as disclosed in note 3(b) to the financial % 2 AR E=1—(@) °
statements. Details of concentrations of credit risk arising

from these customers are set out in note 31(a).

(b) Segment reporting (b) 7EBHRE
The Group manages its business by divisions, which are REE ¥R REBERED RZES
organised by business lines. In a manner consistent with the I IAEER o B AR ALHERSD
way in which information is reported internally to the Group’s REEERBFEMASERREEEZR
most senior executive management for the purposes of ERly—BAR  XEBREE T TN
resource allocation and performance assessment, the fl/,\%#&%ﬁj\a‘ﬁ REEWEES OHEM
Group has presented the following six reportable segments. BEDE - LAEK THIETHEDES
No operating segments have been aggregated to form the
following reportable segments.

- Environmental energy project construction and — RIREERIBEBERES : WEK
operation: this segment engages in the construction DEPBEBEENRES iﬂﬂ?ﬁ? B
and operation of waste-to-energy power plants, 11 BEIEIBIS R T BB EYIER
hazardous waste landfill and industrial solid waste landfill A ﬁﬁHXLLHENﬁzm BERR
to generate revenue from construction services, revenue f“”& 5 TSI o
from operation services as well as finance income.

- Environmental water project construction and operation: — RRKBIBEERERES : LEK
this segment engages in the construction, upgrade and DEPBE BRI  BuE RIBEE5KE
operation of waste-water treatment plants, reusable EEJ? H 7K BT B R K 3t 5% 7K BT BB
water treatment plants and a surface water treatment + DABRER 3 4 B UE R A M s -
plant to generate revenue from construction and & AR TS s M B TSI o
upgrading services, revenue from operation services as
well as finance income.
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3 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(continued)
(b) Segment reporting (continued)

Alternative energy project construction and operation:
this segment engages in the construction and operation
of methane-to-energy power plants, photovoltaic
energy projects, a biomass power generation plant and
a waste water source heat pump project to generate
revenue from construction services, revenue from
operation services as well as finance income.

Environmental technology and construction management:
this segment engages in the conduct of environmental
protection technology research projects and the
provision of construction management services to
generate management and consultancy fee income.

Infrastructure construction and operation: this segment
engages in the construction and operation of a toll
bridge to generate revenue from construction service
and toll fee revenue.

Property investment: this segment engages in the
leasing of office premises to generate rental income and
to gain from the capital appreciation of the properties’
values in the long term.

@ China Everbright International Limited 7 B3¢ A BIBR G BR A &)
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3 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(continued)
(b) Segment reporting (continued)

()  Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
Group’s senior executive management monitors
the results, assets and liabilities attributable to each
reportable segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible assets, intangible
assets, interest in associate, deferred tax assets
and current assets with the exception of goodwill,
investments in other financial assets, intercompany
receivables and other corporate assets. Segment
liabilities include current taxation, deferred tax liabilities,
creditors, other payables and accrued expenses
attributable to the activities of the individual segments
and borrowings managed directly by the segments,
with the exception of intercompany payables.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to revenue generated by
those segments and the expenses incurred by those
segments or which otherwise arise from the depreciation
or amortisation of assets attributable to those segments.
However, other than reporting inter-segment provision
of construction management services, assistance
provided by one segment to another, including technical
know-how, is not measured.

The measure used for reporting segment profit
is “EBITDA” i.e. “earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation”. To arrive at EBITDA,
the Group’s earnings are further adjusted for items not
specifically attributed to individual segments, such as
directors’ and auditors’ remuneration and other head
office or corporate administration costs.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning
EBITDA, management is provided with segment
information concerning revenue (including inter-segment
revenue from construction management services),
interest expense from borrowings managed directly
by the segments, depreciation and amortisation and
additions to non-current segment assets used by the
segments in their operations.
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3 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(continued)
(b) Segment reporting (continued)
()  Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments

= EXHERDESREE)

(b) 2 EBIRE(Z)
() SEFEE  BEIKBEGE)
HE TN T TF+—

as provided to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purpose of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance for the years
ended 31 December 2011 and 2010 is set out below.

A=1T—HLFE ~AKEBRER
2B B RIR AR AR E &
SERERGZ DBMEHNT

Environmental energy  Environmental water ~ Alterative energy Environmental
project construction project construction  project construction technology Infrastructure
and operation and operation and operation and construction construction
IRRERER BRkIER HREER management and operation  Property investment Total
BiEREE BiERiEE BlERER FREKRIZEE  SERiEREE YERE ]
2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
S F—-% £ Z§—-f 35 Z§—-f ° 3
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $1000 $000
n T fr Tt fr ™ Tt T
Revenwefiom  RENR
externel REWE
customers 2,160,866 1816442 804,505 856,714 520,022 106,506 - - 176866 147977 1,304 1,776 3,663,563 2,929,415
Iter-segment AL
Tevenue - - - - - - 217934 129,058 - - - - 217934 129,098
Reportable APREZ
segment Pl
revenue 2,160,866 1816442 804,505 856,714 520,022 106506 277,934 129058 176,866 147977 1,304 1,776 3,941,497 3058473
Reportable APREZ
segmentprofit &
(EBITDA) (EBITDA) 820,373 584,89 440454 363801 98752 23908 196,607 60897 149,164 126,750 761 4,615 1,706,111 1,164,867
Interestincome from $R/7753%
bank deposits HEMA 3177 1686 1,581 1,1% 42 81 1,410 498 a7 799 - 15 7,581 4214
Interestexpense  FIER 111,883 65912 103499 100257 4,013 - 4413 - 584 10245 - - 229652 176414
Depreciatonand ~ TEREH
amortisation 526 4217 6491 6031 12,581 88 4966 3308 25801 24679 - 2 55105 38320
Addtonstofied BRI
assets and EER
ntangbleassets ~ EF/EE 8604 9293 50,749 36772 830,711 285651 56,081 2594 54 501 90 17 946,289 334,828
Addtonstonon-  EERAE
curentporonof — WEUER
ofherrecevables  RER
anddeposisend ~ [ENER
gossamounts e A4)T12
from customersfor  SUESE
contractwork  Z3EE0ER
B 1,813,718 1,546,397 394,177 771,704 28966 10,456 - - - - - - 2,236,861 2,328,557
Reportable BYEZ
segmentassets  REE 6,134,993 4,480,791 4,170,449 4343109 1,450,728 530881 745437 202769 700,016 611,180 25110 44,086 13,226,733 10,212,816
Reportable Vbeiira
segment AERE
liabilities 3,098,593 2,028496 1,570,190 2,046,218 731,683 136,748 465433 59804 220977 245071 2468 4,254 6,089,344 4520591
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1 1 T B 5
A yal # A (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (F&SAEASN - FrE SRS ETE)

3 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT REPORTING =i
(continued)
(b) Segment reporting (continued)
(i)  Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue, profit,
assets and liabilities

SEERSHME ()

(b) 2 &Pw/E (&)
(i) BTFHED AWK
BIEZHK

B BER

Revenue g
Reportable segment revenue ATRED WIS 3,941,497 3,058,473
Elimination of inter-segment revenue %54 ZBfEI U zS (277,934) (129,058)
Consolidated turnover e 3,663,563 2,929,415
Profit &2F
Reportable segment profit ATRED BT 1,706,111 1,164,867
Elimination of inter-segment profits #4449 ZBf&1 & 7| (233,782 (82,662)
Reportable segment profit derived ~ EAREBINAEE 2

from Group’s external customers AT HRE DB EF 1,472,329 1,082,205
Depreciation and amortisation rE R (57,735) (41,361)
Finance costs H5E A (246,622) (177,567)
Unallocated head office Pl a NI

and corporate income TEWA 7,627 5,788
Unallocated head office AOBBRF R

and corporate expenses PERAY (40,385) (24,139)
Consolidated profit before taxation — #x& B E Al &7 1,135,214 844,926
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets ATREDIEE 13,226,733 10,212,816
Non-current other financial assets ~ FERBIH AL R T& & B 184,284 244,949
Goodwiill fEEs 46,133 46,133
Unallocated head office AOMBRFI R

and corporate assets THEEE 422,467 366,493
Consolidated total assets e BERR 13,879,617 10,870,391
Liabilities 1=l
Reportable segment liabilities BYREDEAE 6,089,344 4,520,591
Unallocated head office ol u NI

and corporate liabilities PHEEE 1,128,709 601,151
Consolidated total liabilities IrEBERE 7,218,053 5,121,742
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fk = 2
/ﬁ\ﬁ 7] #& % Mj- ﬁ (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (F2AEAIN @ FTE SRS EE)

3 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(continued)
(b) Segment reporting (continued)
(i)  Geographic information

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue from
external customers, (ii) the Group’s fixed assets and
intangible assets and (iii) the Group’s non-current
portion of other receivables and deposits and non-
current portion of gross amounts due from customers
for contract work. The geographical location of
customers is based on the location at which the
services were provided. The geographical location
of the assets is based on the physical location of the
asset, in the case of fixed assets, and the location of
the operation to which they are allocated, in the case of
other receivables and deposits, intangible assets and
gross amounts due from customers for contract work.

= EXHERDESREE)

(b) 7ERE (&)

(i) 3bj5 &Y
TREIIBHA()AEERBINATP
2Was - (iAREZ BEEENRE]
BB R (i) AN 5= B 2 EL A WA &
Be 2 MO REKREF G L
TREIRRR ZIEBHIED - BF
PR IRIRF IR E D - B
EFTE IR A E B IR FTEHE (A
BEEEMS)  WRERZEBZ
P B (AR A FE M IR M IR &
BYRAERREEPANIIZNIA
REMmE)ED

Non-current portion of

other receivables and
deposits and gross
amounts due from
customers for
contract work
Revenues from Fixed assets and HtFEERIE K
external customers intangible assets RERERERSL
RENRERZN G ETEERENEE IEREEHEZENSHSRG
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011
—%5——-5 —_T-TF %——% —_T-TF ¥——F
$000 $000 $000 $000 $'000
T T Fx T Fx
Hong Kong B
(place of domicile) (GEfezieh) 505 311 57,463 59,993 - -
Other parts of the PRC ~ FR B & ftb 3th & 3,660,162 2,929,104 1,822,947 992,612 8,144,212 7,028,858
Germany = 2,896 - 76,917 - - -
3,663,563 2929415 1,957,327 1,052,605 8,144,212 7,028,858

@ China Everbright International Limited  Ff B¢ K EIBE A R A &)



Notes to the Financial Statements

ﬁk == L
E\ZT Va| #& % Mj- ﬁ (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (F&SAEASN - FrE SRS ETE)

4 OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER LOSS Hithrzs & H 518

Other revenue Hotbr 25

Bank interest income RITH WA 13,783 8,260

Dividend income from listed securities | iiggsg 818 A 6,316 1,766

Government grant* AR 1,144 1,997

Value-added tax refund*™ I8 (B Fi R 32,381 40,023

Others Hih 6,122 9,498
59,746 61,544

*  Government grant of $1,144,000 (2010: $1,997,000) was granted * REEZE——F+A=t+—HLFE &
during the year ended 31 December 2011 to subsidise certain EEEERBF#BNE 1,144,000 (2 —F
environmental energy, environmental water and alternative energy £ :1,997,0007T) © ARRAA SR EE T BIERR
projects of the Group in the PRC, of which the entitlement was RER  RIRKIS RFREIRIEE - BEFEES )
unconditional and under the discretion of the relevant authorities. AR - WA RIS RN -

** Value-added tax refund of $32,381,000 (2010: $40,023,000) was * REBEZTE——F+A=+—HLFE &
received during the year ended 31 December 2011 in relation to SEEFBEIRREFRIER 2 EEEEHULER
environmental energy project operations of the Group in the PRC. The iR 132,381,000 7T (=& — T £ : 40,023,000
entitlement of the value-added tax refund was unconditional and under JT) ° BRI ERRE EMKENR - YHER
the discretion of the relevant authorities. HRETYIERERE -

Other loss HihgsiE

Net loss on sale of other property, plant & EAYIZ - BFE M&FE 2
and equipment FETE 943 978
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fk = 2
E\ﬁ 7] #& % Mj- El (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (F2AEAIN @ FTE SRS EE)

5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION A BFiaiRF
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting): BRERIAFE IR (GTA) ¢

(@) Finance costs (a) MAFBER
Interest on bank advances wholly HARRAFAZTHERZ
repayable within five years RITERZFIE 106,520 81,903
Interest on other bank advances HEiRTERMEMERZ
and other loans A 140,102 95,664
246,622 177,567
(b) Staff costs (b) BIRAE
Contributions to defined TE R FGR NG TSI TR
contribution retirement plan 16,605 10,799
Salaries, wages and other benefits He  LEKHEMET 222,524 155,872
239,129 166,671
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7 \ﬁ ’ﬁ #& % MT ﬁ (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (F&SAEASN - FrE SRS ETE)

5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued) A BRBHRME)
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting): BRELRTRFIE IR, GTA) « (&)
(continued)

(c) Otheritems (c) HitIEH

Amortisation iy
— land lease premium —+tHHESE 223 -
- intangible assets —mEEE 30,291 24,489
Depreciation e 27,221 16,872
Net foreign exchange loss b 3 B 1R F R 415 1,862
Auditors’ remuneration ZEET B &
— audit services — Bz R 3,250 2,850
— other services — H AR 6 6
Operating lease charges: Z‘«MTETEFH :

minimum lease payments LHEER
— hire of premises = %%fﬂ% 9,070 4,444
Loss on disposal of listed securities HE EMESEE 1,030 -
Research and development costs 7 R BB A AR 5,078 5512
Rentals receivable from investment YU B S REES L

properties less direct outgoings 535,0007C(ZE—Z4F :

of $535,000 (2010: $323,000) 323,0007T) (769) (1,453)

6 SHARE OF LOSS OF ASSOCIATE 7~ FrbEtE ATIESE

Share of loss of associate before P Bt A BB B Bl
taxation &8 = (588)
Share of associate’s taxation FriGEt & A RIFIR = -
- (588)
As at 31 December 2010 and 2011, the Group’s share of RZE—ZEF+_A=+—BEkR_Z—F
accumulated loss of associate exceeds the Group’s interest +=—A=+—8 AR AEEMhE Hﬁzk’\
in the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and RitEBEDBBASE IFﬁTﬁHﬁﬁ%ﬁ Al
recognition of losses is discontinued. o ARBEZERDORET - WHERERRH

Tﬂzﬁéﬂé 2
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fk = 2
E\ﬁ 7] qﬁ& i% M# El (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (F2AEAIN @ FTE SRS EE)

7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME t GEEERZAEH
STATEMENT
(a) Income tax in the consolidated income statement (a) FEBBRIITHAEHRA -
represents:

Current tax - Hong Kong Profits Tax ~ AEA#i1E — Fi&FI15H

Provision for the year NEF R - 8,520
Over-provision in respect of prior years BEFEREAR 612) =
(612) 8,520
Current tax - PRC Income Tax FHABIIE — PE RS
Provision for the year TN SR 91,544 47,356
Under/(over)-provision in respect BAEFERETR(GBF)
of prior years 23,425 (5,853)
114,969 41,503
Deferred tax IBERIE
Origination and reversal ERERECESX
of temporary differences PSEEIE 175593 1 41 738 _
289,950 191,761
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in HREEE—_E——F+-_A=+—H
the financial statements for the year ended 31 December LEFEASBE BB EREIHIEE
2011 as the Group’s operations in Hong Kong sustained a B AR EY BTSRRI E S
loss for Hong Kong Profits Tax purpose. The provision for FSHELRE BE_T—TF+=
Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year ended 31 December R=+—BILFE - EEMNEHEH
2010 was calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable BIR AT ERT B FIRT E16.5%:TH °
profits for the year.
Taxation for the PRC operations is charged at the HR B 375 2 B IR R R B3R AT AV E A B R
appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in the PRC. HEFRN - REBEEBREEEZERE
During the year, certain PRC subsidiaries are subject to ] BTHBENE A RHRIEER E50%
tax at 50% of the standard tax rates or fully exempt from Y INTH IR S JE 2 B R BN TS R ©

income tax under the relevant tax rules and regulations.
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f& == L
E]J» Va| #& % Mj- ﬁ (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (F&SAEASN - FrE SRS ETE)

7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME +t GEEERZAEH(E)

STATEMENT (continued)
(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting (b) BREBABEFEZHREIHESHEF
profit at applicable tax rates: ZHER -

Profit before taxation MR TR E R 1,135,214 844,926

Notional tax on profit before taxation, — IRFBFEMRRATIIS Bl A E R 2

calculated at the rates applicable PSR R gL Al

to profits in the tax jurisdictions BRNE 2 ZEHIE

concerned 273,654 209,284
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses A HI3F 2 H 2 T IE /2 15,266 14,738
Tax effect of non-taxable income FERTUA Z BIIEF 2 (2,754) (4,561)
Tax effect of profits entitled AIZEHENIEREESR BT

to tax exemption in the PRC 2 TRIER A (60,863) (65,308)
Tax effect of unused tax losses ARAE W B oRRER 2 Al EE

not recognised IR 2 6,388 6,224
Tax effect of withholding tax TEIRFI{S TR BB A A

on undistributed profits ROIRBH 2 s &

of PRC subsidiaries 35,446 37,237
Under/(overn)-provision in respect BEFERETLCBF)

of prior years 22,813 (5,853)
Actual tax expense BERRFIES 289,950 191,761
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fk = 2
E\ﬁ 7] #& % Mj- El (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (F2AEAIN @ FTE SRS EE)

8 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION N EEME
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 161 of the BIEBRBCRAREA)FE161IEIFT2ES
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is as follows: [T UNNE

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits scheme
Directors’ in kind Discretionary contributions

fees H& 2R bonuses BIRETE
ExEe REYFZ BETEA X
$000 $000 $000 $000
Fi Fir Fi Fit

Executive directors BITESE

Tang Shuangning e - 30 - - 30
Zang Qiutao R - 1,704 - - 1,704
Li Xueming ZE2RR - 1,699 - - 1,699
Chen Xiaoping Fei/ |\ - 2,175 4,450 - 6,625
Wang Tianyi TRE - 1,590 1,500 37 3,127
Wong Kam Chung, vl

Raymond - 1,330 1,400 135 2,865
Cai Shuguang BEES - 771 849 19 1,639

Non-executive director FHITES

Fan Yan Hok, Philip Bk 180 30 - - 210
Independent BIAFRITES

non-executive

directors
Mar Selwyn Baax 190 50 - - 240
Li Kwok Sing, Aubrey TEE 180 50 - - 230
Zhai Haitao (note (1)) 2% (fisEQ)) 180 50 - - 230

730 9,479 8,199 191 18,599
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%k == L
E]J» Va| #& % Mj- ﬁ (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (F&SAEASN - FrE SRS ETE)

8 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) N EEME2(E)
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 161 of the BEEBCRREA)FE161IEIFT2ES
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is as follows: (continued) e T - (&)

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits scheme
Directors’ inkind  Discretionary  contributions

fees  #Ha o 2Eh bonuses RIRETE
EEHe REYAE BB IEAT #H3
$000 $000 $000 $000
T T Fr Fr

Executive directors BITESE

Tang Shuangning fEEEE - 25 - - 25
Zang Qiutao EINE - 1,699 - - 1,699
Li Xueming ZSE2RT - 1,694 - - 1,694
Chen Xiaoping BR/ N = 2,170 4,000 - 6,170
Wang Tianyi (note (2) TRE (M) - 1,340 1,300 - 2,640
Wong Kam Chung, v

Raymond - 1,325 1,300 130 2,755
Zhang Welyun (note (3) SR (HIFE(@)) - 934 - - 934
Cai Shuguang (note (4)  ZXBE¢ (FifH(4)) - 599 700 17 1,316

Non-executive director FEHITESE

Fan Yan Hok, Philip BB (HEG)

(note (5)) 180 695 - 42 917
Independent BIERITES

non-executive

directors

Sir David Akers-Jones ERBELT

(note (6)) GBI 190 45 - - 235

Li Kwok Sing, Aubrey FEE 180 45 - - 225
Mar Selwyn SR 180 45 = = 225
730 10,616 7,300 189 18,835
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1 15 T M5
A F Va| iF A (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (F2AEAIN @ FTE SRS EE)

8 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

Notes:

10

Mr. Zhai Haitao was appointed as independent non-executive director
on 1 January 2011.

Mr. Wang Tianyi was appointed as executive director and General
Manager on 21 February 2010.

Ms. Zhang Weiyun resigned as executive director on 19 August 2010.
Mr. Cai Shuguang was appointed as executive director on 19 August
2010.

Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip resigned as General Manager and was
re-designated as non-executive director on 20 January 2010.

Sir David Akers-Jones resigned as independent non-executive director
on 1 January 2011.

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, all are
directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 8.

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The consolidated profit attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company includes a loss of $22,624,000 (2010: $18,896,000)
which has been dealt with in the financial statements of the
Company.

Details of dividends paid and payable to equity shareholders of
the Company are set out in note 30(b).

@ China Everbright International Limited 2 Byt A BB AR A &)

N EEWNEE)

CEE

(1) ZEBLER T F—H - BEZERS
SIFHITESE -

@ EXREEER-Z—ZTF_A=-+—HEZE
BHITEETRBLIE -

@ REZXIRZZE—ZFENATABEERT
BB -

@) BEAEER-_Z-ZENATNEERES
HITES -

6) SBLCEBLABRTALEBRE TN -_T—TF
— A+ ERERERTES -

6 @SREBIR-_ZT——F—H—HEHEBELHF
HITERRTS -

R HER AL
TEEEHFMENALHRES  BENH
SR e N AN

A ATICREERF
ARAIBREESEARNEREER

22,624,0007T( —Z—Z4F : 18,896,0007T )
BIARRR 2 EHRERA o

BN REMNAARBR 2 BE FRENHE
=+b)°
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f& == L
E]J» Va| #& % Mj- ﬁ (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (F&SAEASN - FrE SRS ETE)

11 EARNINGS PER SHARE
(a) Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on
the profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the
Company of $801,441,000 (2010: $616,433,000) and the
weighted average number of 3,666,560,000 ordinary shares
(2010: 3,642,565,000 ordinary shares) in issue during the
year, calculated as follows:

+-

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

skEH

(a) BRERZER
I EA B F TR BB AN 7] E AR A% B
FE(5 & F801,441,000c (= E —FF -
616,433,0007T ) & F A E 21T E @A AY
HN#E S 15 84 .3,666,560,000 A% & 3@ Ik (=
T— T4 : 3,642,565,0000% T @A) 5t
o Het#E AT -

BB

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January N—A—BBEBITEE 3,652,462 3,639,325
Effect of share options exercised BT s 2
(note 30(c)(i) (HIEE= (i) 14,008 3,240
Weighted average number of ordinary A+ =—A=+—HZ @K
shares at 31 December INRESE 8L 3,666,560 3,642,565
Diluted earnings per share (b) ERESSEF

(b)
The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on
the profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of
the Company of $801,441,000 (2010: $616,433,000) and
the weighted average number of 3,696,713,000 ordinary
shares (2010: 3,695,610,000 ordinary shares), calculated as
follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted)

ERESRFDIEAR R LR E
JE{h Z7801,441,0007C (- T — T4 :
616,433,000 7T ) K& & i % 10 i F 15 &
3,696,713,0000% L @A (Z T —ZF -
3,695,610,0000% L BAX ) 5T & - H&ftE
AT

BB IIE P2 ()

Rt-—A=t—HZE&R

Weighted average number

Hﬁ

of ordinary shares at 31 December INRESE 8L 3,666,560 3,642,565
Effect of deemed issue of shares AR AIRIEA A B BE At T 2

under the Company’s share option BTN 2 &

scheme for nil consideration (fsE=+Ah)

(note 29) 30,153 53,045
Weighted average number of ordinary A+ A=+—H 2z @K

shares (diluted) at 31 December I (EE) 3,696,713 3,695,610
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E\ﬁ 7] #& % Mj- El (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (F2AEAIN @ FTE SRS EE)

12 FIXED ASSETS +-BEEEE
(a) The Group (a) =&£H

Motor
vehicles,
electronic
Leasehold equipment Interest in
improvements,  and other leasehold
furniture and fixed assets land held Total

fixtures RE for own use fixed
Landand Plantand HEYE EFE  Construction Investment ${EBRZ assets
buildings machinery % 5 RHft  inprogress  Sub-total properties i
THRET RERES RRE ErdE ERTE et fEmE
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
b S S S S S T

Cost or valuation: A B 4

At 1 January 2011 RZT——F
—A—H 166,440 33,924 15,755 73,981 201,770 491,870 28,856 - 520,726
Exchange adustments ~ [ER % 2571 3,246 434 2,681 10,929 19,861 228 474 20,563
Additions #E - 1,631 1,695 16,308 467,394 487,028 - 31,326 518,354
Disposals HE - - (364) (3,574) - (3,938) - - (3,938)
Govemment grant received  EEFTEENS - (10969) - - - (10969) - - (10969)
Transferred from ERArETE
construction in progress 13,090 285,198 - - (298,288) - - - -
Trensferred from mRANEERS
investment properties THRET
toland and buidings 18,575 - - - - 18,575 (18,575) - -
Transferred to finance ERERERE
lease receivables EYGE - - - - @3,710)  (23,710) - - (23710
At 31 December 2011 NZE——F
+-R=t-H 200,676 313,036 17,520 89,396 358,095 978,723 10,509 31,800 1,021,032
Representing: %
Cost AE 200,676 313,036 17,520 89,396 358,095 978,723 - 31,800 1,010,523
Valuation - 2011 E-—E—F - - - - - - 10,509 - 10,509
20676 3130% 1750 8936 368095 078728 10509 31800 1,021,082
Accumulated RrHAERES
depreciation
and amortisation:
At 1 January 2011 WIT——%
—-A-B 67,187 - 8,251 31,411 - 106,849 - - 106,849
Bxchange adustments (& 352 486 97 231 1,201 - 2,015 - - 2,015
Charge for the year REEHE 6,047 7,709 2,053 11,412 - 27,221 - 223 27,444
Written back on disposal &Rl = = (360) (2513 - (2,813) - - (2,873)
At 31 December 2011 RZE—4F
+-R=+-H 73,720 7,806 10,175 41,511 - 133,212 - 223 133,435
Net book value: RIS :
At 31 December 2011 RZE—4F
+=A=+-H 126956 305,230 7345 47,885 358,005 845,511 10500 31,577 887,597
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12 FIXED ASSETS (continued) T-BEEEE)
(a) The Group (continued) (a) &&E®E(E)

Motor
vehicles,
electronic
Leasehold  equipment EES
improvements,  and other leasehold
fumitureand ~ fixed assets land held Total
fixtures ¥ for own use fixed

landand  Plantand =HES Construction Investment  FHEEFZ assets
buidings  machinery LA f inprogress  Sub-fotal  properties
THEEF HBERES FETR e REWE
$000 $000 ' $000 $1000 $1000
Tr Tr ‘ Tr T T

Cost or valuation: A B E :

At 1 January 2010 R-Z-FF
—A—H 164,200 - 14,476 55,495 - 234,171 24,467 - 258,638
Exchange adjustments (B R 2,240 854 520 2,664 5,079 11,347 393 - 11,740
Additions £E = = 1,457 20,138 229,761 251,356 - - 251,356
Disposals e - - 69 (4308 - B - - 5o
Fair value adjustment NRERZ - - - - - - 3,99 - 39%
Transferred from HRETETR
construction in progress - 33,070 - - (33,070) - - - -
At31December 2010  R-E-TF
+-A=+-H 166,440 33924 15,755 73,981 201,770 491,870 28,856 - 520,726
Representing: fi%:
Cost WAE 166440 3394 15755 73,981 201,770 491870 - - 491870
Valuation - 2010 E-—ZE-ZF - - - - - - 28,356 - 28,856
166,440 33,924 15,755 73,981 201,770 491,870 28,856 - 520,726
Accumulated RiHAE:
depreciation:
At 1 January 2010 WZE-TF
—R—H 62,366 - 5,593 22,668 - 90,627 - - 90,627
Exchange adustments (B X 38% 365 - 213 1,127 - 1,705 - - 1,705
Charge for the year TEERE 4,456 = 2831 95585 - 16872 = - 16872
Written back on cisposal  HEB - - (386) (1969) - (2,355 - - (2.355)
At31December 2010  R-B-FE
+-R=t-H 67,187 - 8,251 31,411 - 106,849 - - 106,849
Net book value: FREiFE
At31 December 2010  R-E-TF
+-RA=t-H 99,253 33924 7,504 42,570 201,770 385,021 28,356 - 413877
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12 FIXED ASSETS (continued) T-BEEEE)
(b) The Company (b) &=AF
Office Leasehold Furniture Motor Total fixed
equipment improvements  and fixtures vehicles assets
WAERE HEWERE RARKE RE BEESESH
$000 $000 $'000 $'000 $000
T T T T
Cost: RA(E :
At 1 January 2011 R-E—%—F—H 1,387 2,409 459 2,180 6,435
Additions i 78 - - 43 121

At 31 December 2011 A= ——4

+=A=+—H 1,465 2,409 459 2,223 6,556
Accumulated ZHRE
depreciation:
At 1 January 2011 mN=E——F—H—H 866 2,247 169 1,531 4813
Chargefortheyear — AFENE 189 152 45 128 514

At 31 December 2011 R=—ZE——4

Net book value: ARTESME :

At 31 December 2011 R=—F——4
F=E=—=F¢ 410 10 245 564 1,229
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12 FIXED ASSETS (continued) T-BEEEE)

(b) The Company (continued) (b) AT (&)
Office Leasehold Fumiture Motor Total fixed
equipment  improvements and fixtures vehicles assets
WAERE MEWEEE  GRREE R BETEAEMR
$'000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T T T T T

Cost: BAE :

At 1 January 2010 RZE—TF—H—H 1,000 2,409 443 3,331 7,183
Additions # 404 - 16 - 420
Disposals & (17) - - (1,151) (1,168)

At 31 December 2010 R=—E—FF

+=A=+—H 1,387 2,409 459 2,180 6,435
Accumulated ZEHRE
depreciation:
At 1 January 2010 R=ZE—ZF—H—H 726 1,645 124 1,836 4,331
Chargefortheyear — AFENE 157 602 45 124 928
Written back on disposal &K [ 17 - - (429) (446)

At 31 December 2010 R=—ZE—T4F

Net book value: ARTESME :

At 31 December 2010 R=—E—F4F

+=-R=+—H 521 162 290 649 1,622
(c) Revaluation of investment properties (c) REWHEE M

Investment properties of the Group were revalued as at 31 AEBZREYEER T —F+=
December 2011 on an open market value basis calculated A=+—BREFABFEA LA FHE
by reference to net rental income allowing for reversionary SWAMFTE 2 ARATEETER - &
income potential. The valuations were carried out by an BERBAEMTEETEERARE
independent firm of surveyors, Asset Appraisal Limited, who T-HPBTITARBIEMEEEER
have among their staff members of Hong Kong Institute ¥ i S (AP A AR B B A HR
of Surveyors with recent experience in the location and BEE -

category of property being revalued.
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12 FIXED ASSETS (continued) T-BEEEE)
(d) The analysis of net book value of properties is as (d) MEREFEEZ2HAOT :
follows:

The Group
XEEH
2011
—T—=%
$°000
Fx
In the PRC e
Hong Kong: &5 ¢
— medium-term leases —HhEIRE 53,713 55,750
Other parts of the PRC: PR E bR
— medium-term leases —hHAFRE 114,918 71,947
—long leases —RHEE 411 412
169,042 128,109
Representing: xR :
Land and buildings T RAEF 126,956 99,253
Investment properties wEYHE 10,509 28,856
137,465 128,109
Interest in leasehold land held BIEE A2 HE L s
for own use 31,577 -
169,042 128,109
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12 FIXED ASSETS (continued)
(e) Fixed assets leased out under operating leases
The Group leases out properties under operating leases.
The leases typically run for an initial period of one to two
years, with an option to renew the lease after that date at
which time all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases
includes contingent rentals.

All properties held under operating leases that would
otherwise meet the definition of investment property are
disclosed as investment property.

The Group’s total future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases are receivable as follows:

t-BEE&EE)
() BELLHEHHCEEEE

AEERBEEHEHEYE - Ll
E2FHEALNF BB —EMF - A
EREYN  ERERASEENS
7] o DAEH I EESEES -

IARBEEHERBLENAERED
EEBZIMEOPRR/IEDE -

AREBRBEIABRGHEEHEERR
FEM B B R AR T

The Group
XEE
2011

—g——=%
$°000
F5

Within 1 year —&FN
After 1 year but within 5 years —FREAFR

426 839
- 408

426 1,247
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13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS += B EE

The Group AEE
Alternative
energy project
operating
Toll bridge rights
operating right HEERIER
W EBRESE EEE
$°000 $°000
Tt Tt
Cost: RA{E
At 1 January 2011 N—_E——F—H—H 753,642 86,057 839,699
Exchange adjustments PEE 5, SR K 29,412 12,347 41,759
Additions b - 428,013 428,013
At 31 December 2011 R-E—F
+=—A=+—H 783,054 526,417 1,309,471
Accumulated amortisation: Sy
At 1 January 2011 R-ZE——F—F—H 200,971 - 200,971
Exchange adjustments IE I %L 8,380 99 8,479
Charge for the year INFEEE 25,565 4,726 30,291
At 31 December 2011 N_E——F
+—A=+—H 234,916 4,825 239,741
Net book value: ARER(E
At 31 December 2011 NZE—F
+=—A=1+—H 548,138 521,592 1,069,730
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13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) TEE|EEE)
The Group (continued) REE(E)
Alternative
energy project
operating
Toll bridge rights
operating right A AIELE Total
WERRELE EERE k]
$'000 $'000 $'000
T T T
Cost: RAME :
At 1 January 2010 R-ZE—ZFF—H—H 722,383 - 722,383
Exchange adjustments P H R 31,259 2,166 33,425
Additions 1t - 83,891 83,891
At 31 December 2010 RZT—ZF
+=—A=+—8H 758,642 86,057 839,699
Accumulated amortisation:  BR&H#igH :
At 1 January 2010 RZZE—FF—H—H 168,555 = 168,555
Exchange adjustments FE i, A2 7,927 - 7,927
Charge for the year PN 24,489 - 24,489
At 31 December 2010 R-T—ZF
+=—A=+—8H 200,971 - 200,971 _
Net book value: BREFE :
At 31 December 2010 RIZE—FF
+=—A=+—8H 552,671 86,057 638,728
The amortisation charge for the year is included in “Direct costs REFEHEFTAGEBRRZ[EERKEAK
and operating expenses” in the consolidated income statement. KEBR A -
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14 GOODWILL

Cost: RBAE :
At 1 January 2010, 31 December 2010 R-E—

and 31 December 2011

0B

The Group
REE

$'000
T

TFE-A—B —F-TE+-F
=t+-BR-F——Ft-A=1-A

46,133

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing
goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units
(“CGU”) identified according to business segment as follows:

BEHBRELEEBVIERIRA

REBERERDED
AEEBMINT

EEE TR RS

The Group
XEEH
2011

—8——%
$°000
5

Environmental energy project construction  IB{RELIRIE B ik iES
and operation 11,255 11,255

Environmental water project construction — ER{R/KFSIE B ik NMiE s
and operation 9,538 9,538
Infrastructure construction and operation — E iR NiES 25,340 25,340
46,133 46,133

The recoverable amount of the respective CGU is determined
based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a five year period. Discount rates of
10%-12% have been used for the value-in-use calculations.
Management determined the budgets based on independent
professional traffic studies and/or service agreements governing
the relevant operations. The discount rates used are pre-tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments.

No impairment is considered necessary at 31 December 2011
and 2010.

@ China Everbright International Limited  Ff B¢ K EIBE A R A &)
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15 INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES

Unlisted shares/capital contributions,

LMD, HERE

tH B AEER

The Company
AAT
2011 2010
—T-THF

—ET—%F
$°000 $'000
FTt T

at cost B ANE 334,080 334,080
Amounts due from subsidiaries LN 5,249,638 4,829,398
5,583,718 5,163,478

Less: Impairment losses B FEEEE (1,440,357) (1,440,357)
4,143,361 3,723,121

Amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured, not expected
to be recovered within one year and interest free, except for
an amount due from a subsidiary of $89,494,000 which bore
interest at 2% per annum as at 31 December 2010.

P eI A RIRIB R EE A - TRH
TER—FREEREE  ER-_Z—F
F+-A=1+T—BZREKMBRRFA

89,494,0007CK 4N + B REAFIBILF B 2%5T
B o
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15 INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

TR MBATER(E)
ATMEF B AR ERBRE - BELABBEREX

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries
which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the
Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise

stated.

Place of

establishment/ Particulars of

incorporation issued and paid

and operation up capital

Name of subsidiary 3L/ FE AR AL EBTR

HBATEME REEWE HRREER

Everbright Alternative Energy PRC $125,800,000

(Dangshan) Co., Ltd.* H 125,800,0007C

(note (d))

FAFER(EL)

BRAR(FEE)

Everbright Environmental PRC  RMB137,520,000
Energy (Changzhou) Co., s ARE
Ltd* (note (g)) 137,520,0007T

HARIRIRAEE M)

(%)
BRAA ()

Everbright Environmental PRC $39,100,000
Energy (Huidong) Co., Ltd.* H 39,100,0007T
(note (€ ))

KRBRRAER(ER)

BRAR(HEE)

Everbright Environmental PRC USD29,300,000
Energy (Jiangyin) Co., Ltd.* s 29,300,000 7T
mmﬂ»

HARRREROLR)

BRAF (i)

@ China Everbright International Limited  Ff B¢ K EIBE A R A &)

BEE/
TBRE

Proportion of ownership interest

BRTEERILGI

Group’s

effective

interest
FEEZ
B ER

100%

100%

100%

100%

held

by the
Company
HAFAT
78

held by a
subsidiary
Eap
ATRHE

100%

100%

100%

100%

ZHBRBER - BrAEEAIN -
FRFAR (935 /5 E SRR o

Principal activity

TEEE

Design, construction,
operation and
maintenance of biomass
power generation plant

wtE EER
BEREEME R

Design, construction,
operation and
maintenance of waste-
to-energy power plant

Rit o BiE - EER
BERENREER

Design, construction,
operation and
maintenance of waste-
to-energy power plant

it R BER
BERENREER

Design, construction,
operation and
maintenance of waste-
to-energy power plants

Wt i EER
BERBAREEH
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15 INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place of

establishment/

incorporation

and operation

Name of subsidiary 3L/ EE AL

HBATIEE RESHE

Everbright Environmental PRC

Energy (Jinan) Co., Ltd.* e

(note (g)

KRBRRAEIR ()

BRI ()

Everbright Environmental PRC
Energy (Sugjan) Co., Ltd.* e
(note ()

HARRRAER(TE8)

BRAA (M)

Everbright Environmental PRC
Energy (Suzhou) Limited e
(‘EB Energy (Suzhou)’)*

(note ()

HARRIRREIR (BRM)
BRAR(EAER
(&) )#(KisEee)

Everbright Environmental PRC
Energy (Suzhou) Methane- H
to-Energy Co., Ltd.*

(note (€)

HRRIRA (Eﬂ”)
BREBERAR
GEC)

Everbright Environmental PRC
Energy (Yixing) Co., Ltd.* H
(note (g)

HARRRAGR(EE)
BRAF(HizEE)

Particulars of
issued and paid
up capital
BETR
HEREEH
RMB305,460,000

ARM
305,460,0007C

USD15,840,000
15,840,000 7T

RMB318,000,000
ARE
318,000,0007T

UsD2,100,000
2,100,000% 7T

USD11,520,000
11,520,000 T

TAMBATER(E)

Proportion of ownership interest

BERTEERL I

Group’s held

effective bythe heldbya
interest Company subsidiary

FKEZz BEAT 210

BN HE ATER

100% - 100%
100% - 100%
Note (a) - Note (a)
MiiE) MizE(e)
100% - 100%
100% - 100%

Annual Report 2011 =T ——F4F3R @

Principal activity

ETERH

Design, construction,
operation and
maintenance of waste-
to-energy power plant

Rat g BER
RERBNREER

Design, construction,
operation and
maintenance of waste-
to-energy power plant

Bt i BER
BERBRETR

Design, construction,
operation and
maintenance of waste-
to-energy power plants

Rit - BE - EER
BERBAREER

Design, construction,
operation and
maintenance of
methane-to-energy
power plants

Jit RS BER

Design, construction,
operation and
maintenance of waste-
to-energy power plants

Rat B BER
BERBNREER



Notes to the Financial Statements

fk = 2
E\ﬁ 7] #& % Mj- El (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (F2AEAIN @ FTE SRS EE)

15 INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) +E B AR (E)

Proportion of ownership interest

BRTEERL I

Place of
establishment/ Particulars of Group’s held
incorporation  issued and paid effective bythe heldbya
and operation up capital interest Company subsidiary
Name of subsidiary AL/ sEMRiaL BETE ZFEEZz HEAT ]
MBASEE RESHE HERAEY BREG e AFRE

Everbright Environmental PRC  RMB186,000,000 100% — 100%
Energy (Zhenjiang) Co., s ARE
Ltd.* (note () 186,000,0007T

HARBRREER(EL)
BRAR(HEE)

Everbright Environmental PRC USD10,000,000 100% 100% =
Protection Engineering H 10,000,000 7T
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.*

KRG LR

(R BRAR

Everbright Environmental PRC $24,000,000 100% = 100%
Protection (Sucjan) Solid e 24,000,0007T
Waste Treatment Limited*
(note ()
KRR (ER)ERRER
RN (KiTHe)
Everbright Environmental PRC $10,000,000 100% 100% =
Protection Technological e 10,000,0007T
Development (Beijing)
Limited*
HARRRBRER
(ER)BRAFN
Everbright Environmental PRC USD4,865,000 100% = 100%
(Suzhou) Solid Waste i 4,865,000%7C
Treatment Co., Ltd.*
(note (€))
HARBRR(EM)
EERERRAR
(MzE(e)

China Everbright International Limited 71 B 3¢ K BIBEB R A 7

Principal activity

TEEY

Design, construction,
operation and
maintenance of waste-
to-energy power plant

Bt it EER
BERENREER

Provision of construction
management services
R TRERRE

Design, construction,
operation and
maintenance of
hazardous waste landfil

Wt i EER
RERBEERES

Conduct of environmental
protection technology
research projects

ETRRMENERR

Design, construction,
operation and
maintenance of industrial
solid waste landfill

Pt EER
HERETEEEEY
H85
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15 INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) +E B AR ()

Name of subsidiary

MEBAE&ME

Place of
establishment/
incorporation
and operation
FLIL/ SR AL
REBHE

Particulars of
issued and paid
up capital
BETR
HEREEH

Proportion of ownership interest

BERTEERL I

held

by the
Company
HEAT
te)

Group’s
effective
interest
XEEZ
BRED

heldby a
subsidiary
210
ATRHE

Principal activity

ETERH

Everbright Photovoltaic Energy PRC RMB32,500,000 100% - 100%  Design, construction and
(Changzhou) Limited* e ARE operation of photovoltaic
fwwﬂ:aw (EM) 32,500,000 energy plant
ARR Rit BEREEKNRE
Everbright Photovoltaic Energy PRC $29,000,000 100% - 100%  Design, construction and
(Huaining) Limited* e 29,000,0007T operation of photovoltaic
KRR KRR () energy plant
AR Fit - BEREERRE
B
Everbright Photovoltaic Energy PRC RMB80,740,000 100% - 100%  Design, construction and
(Sugjan) Limited* F AR® operation of photovoltaic
7‘:?(7’:1?(55/ (TB18) 80,740,0007¢ energy plant
ARR Rit BEREEKNRE
T
Everbright Photovoltaic Energy PRC  RMB122,090,000 100% - 100%  Design, construction and
(Zhenjiang) Limited* F ARE operation of photovoltaic
fwwﬂ:aw (81) 122,090,0007T energy plant
ARR Rit BEREERNRE
Everbright Water (Boxing) PRC $55,000,000 100% - 100%  Design, construction,
Limited* (note () g 55,000,0007C operation and
FAKE () maintenance of waste-
BRAT (M) water treatment plants
@it B BER
BERESKEER
Everbright Water (Jiangyin) PRC  RMB391,000,000 70% - 70%  Design, construction,
Limited* (note () H ARE operation and
FARKB(OLR) 391,000,0007C maintenance of waste-
BRAT () water treatment plants
Rt BE - BER
BIERETKEER
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15 INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) +E B AR (E)

Proportion of ownership interest

BRTEERL I

Place of
establishment/ Particulars of Group’s held
incorporation  issued and paid  effective bythe heldbya
and operation up capital interest Company subsidiary
Name of subsidiary RRaL/ EEMRLIL BETR FEEz HEAT gt Principal activity
HBATEME RESHE HERAEY BREG #E AERF IEXH

Everbright Water (Ji'nan) PRC USD35,430,000 100% - 100% Design, construction,
Limited" (note (f) RE  35430,000%T operation and
H AKX (ER) maintenance of waste-
BR AN (D) water treatment plants
Rat - BE - BER
BERETKEER
Everbright Water (Jinan PRC RMB70,530,000 100% - 100%  Design, construction,
Licheng) Limited* (note (f) e AREE operation and
H AKX CERER) 70,530,0007T maintenance of waste-
BRAT(FEHR) water treatment plant
and reusable water
treatment plant
St e BER
HIERETKEERR
HIKRIERR
Everbright Water (Lingxian) PRC USDg, 735,000 100% = 100%  Design, construction,
Limited* (note () I 6,735,000% T operation and
HARKE (EE) maintenance of waste-
BR A (D) water treatment plants
FE BB BER
BERESKRERR
Everbright Water (Xinyi) PRC $112,260,000 100% - 100% Design and construction of
Limited* (note (f)) H 112,260,0007C waste-water treatment
H AKX ET) plant and surface water
AR AN (D) treatment plant
Rt REEKEER R
SRR ERIZRR
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15 INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) +E B AR ()

Proportion of ownership interest

BERTEERL I

Place of
establishment/ Particulars of Group’s held
incorporation  issued and paid  effective bythe heldbya
and operation up capital interest Company subsidiary
Name of subsidiary FR3L/ EEM AL EETR FEEZz HFAF eapf B
HBATEMR REBHE HERAEY  BRER #HE QEHA

Everbright Water (Zibo) PRC USD31,158,000 100% - 100%
Limited* (note () RE 31,158,000%T

KRR OEE)

BRARFIER)

Everbright Water (Zibo PRC $35,000,000 100% - 100%
Zhoucun) Water Purification s 35,000,0007T
Co., Ltd* (note (f)

KARKBOEERER)

FKBRRE"
(BH=E(H)

Qingdao EB-VW Waste PRC USD15,257,000 Note (b) - Note (b)
Water Treatment Co., Ltd. [ 15,257,0005 7T Kz (o) Kz (o)
(‘Qingdao EB-VW")* (note (f)

BEERBTKEEERAA
(TEBHxE )

(BiH(H)

Zibo Everbright Water Energy PRC RMB51,350,000 100% — 100%
Development Company i ARE
Limited* (note (d)) 51,350,0007T

HEROKBRRAE
BRAF (M)

Principal activity

ETERH

Design, construction,

operation and
maintenance of waste-
water treatment plants
and reusable water
treatment plant

S EER

BERESTKRERK
FIKERIERR

Design, construction,

operation and
maintenance of waste-
water treatment plant

@t s EER

BERETKEER

Construction, operation

and maintenance of
waste-water treatment
plants

B BERABRER

KR

Design, construction,

operation and
maintenance of waste-
water source heat pump
plant

RE R BEREE

REDKREER
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15 INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) +E BB AR (E)

Proportion of ownership interest

AR
Place of
establishment/ Particulars of Group’s held
incorporation  issued and paid  effective bythe heldbya
and operation up capital interest Company subsidiary
Name of subsidiary RRaL/ EEMRLIL BETR FEEz HFAT gt Principal activity
MBASEHE RESHE HERAER BREG #8 TEXH
Fuzhou Guang Min Road PRC  RMB224,730,000 Note () — Note (c) Development,
and Bridge Construction H ARE Bzt () Bzt  construction, operation
& Development Company 224,730,0007T and maintenance of a
Limited (‘FZGM")* toll bridge
MK ERBRRAEAR P g 82N
AR AR ) HEREUWERR
On Land Limited Hong Kong 2 shares 100% - 100%  Property investment
BRERAA B of $1 each MERE
eBikmE
17ThRfR

*  Registered under the laws of the PRC as foreign investment enterprise. * REBEPEDEEFMAINERERE -

#  Registered under the laws of the PRC as sino-foreign co-operative joint o IRBREEEAMARINEE SR E
venture.

Notes: Fff3E

(@ Everbright Environmental Energy (Suzhou) Holdings Limited, a wholly- @ ZAREZE2ENERBIFREKREERGEMN) NG

owned subsidiary of the Company and the foreign joint venture partner
of EB Energy (Suzhou), is committed to contribute the full amount of
EB Energy (Suzhou)’s registered capital. Net profit, after payment of an
agreed sum of RMB880,000 annually to the PRC joint venture partner
of EB Energy (Suzhou), is fully attributable to Everbright Environmental
Energy (Suzhou) Holdings Limited.

EB-VW HK Holding Company Limited (“EB-VW?”), an 60% owned
subsidiary of the Company and the foreign joint venture partner of
Qingdao EB-WV, is committed to contribute 60% of Qingdao EB-VW’s
registered capital. The remaining 40% registered capital is contributed
by the PRC joint venture partner. EB-VW is fully entitied to the net profit
of Qingdao EB-VW for the first 14 years of the joint venture period.
From the 15th year of the joint venture period onwards, the net profit of
Qingdao EB-VW is to be shared by EB-VW and the PRC joint venture
partner on a 98:2 basis.

@ China Everbright International Limited  Ff B¢ K EIBE A R A &)

BEBHARRERER (M) ZERERAT -
AT AR RBR (BRI ) 2BEEMER o K
BEIR (BN R BN (EBF N HERBAAR
#880,000T TH T A ERHR) HEE KR
REGR(BRMDIZRBR A RIFE

RRRHEHO0%HE R < M B R RIS BRI
FEEBHARBTHAKEEEERARA A
(THERBALTE ) EEEAN T B K HB0%ET &
K BRTA0% M HP T EEBHHE - KR
UHNAERETNFAIZHEZEEELEZ
FRN - MAFTRAFREHIE  SBXEZ
R RN 7T & SR HR98:22
LEpIEES
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15 INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

©

Greenway Venture Limited (“Greenway”), an 80% owned subsidiary
of the Company and the foreign joint venture partner of FZGM, is
committed to contribute the full amount of FZGM’s registered capital.
The remaining 20% interests in Greenway is owned by China Everbright
Holdings Company Limited, the Company’s ultimate holding company.
Net profit (after payment of an agreed sum ranging from RMB600,000
to RMB2,500,000 annually to the PRC joint venture partner of FZGM) of
FZGM should first be applied for the repayment of capital and advances
made by Greenway. After the capital and advances made by Greenway
have been fully repaid, the net profit of FZGM (after payment of an
agreed sum to the PRC joint venture partner mentioned above) is to
be shared by Greenway and the PRC joint venture partner on a 90:10
basis.

Pursuant to the joint venture agreement of FZGM, FZGM was granted a
right to construct, operate and maintain a toll bridge in Fuzhou city, the
PRC. After the completion of the toll bridge construction, FZGM has an
operating period of the toll bridge for a period of 30 years commencing
from January 2003. Upon expiry of the operating period, FZGM will
transfer all the fixed assets and the operating right to the PRC joint
venture partner. The toll fee is based on the type of vehicles and is
subject to the approval from the relevant local government authorities.
During the operating period, FZGM has the obligation to maintain the
toll bridge in good condition.

The service concession agreement does not contain a renewal option.
Both the grantor and FZGM have the rights to terminate the agreement
in the event of a material breach of the terms of the agreement.

Operating right of the toll bridge is recognised as an intangible asset.

The subsidiaries of the Group entered into service concession
arrangements with the local government authorities in the PRC (the
“grantors”). Pursuant to the service concession arrangements, the
Group was granted rights to construct, operate and maintain alternative
energy project in the PRC for a period of 30 years. The service fees
are based on the extent of services rendered and are subject to the
approvals from the relevant local government authorities. During
the operating period, the Group will be responsible to maintain the
alternative energy project in good condition.

The service concession arrangements do not contain renewal
options. Both the grantor and the Group have the rights to terminate
the agreements in the event of a material breach of the terms of the
agreements.

Operating rights of the alternative energy project are recognised as
intangible assets.

tAMBAEER(E)

HRE -

©

(%)

ANA B HE A 80% HE 3 2 MY B A B 3k % B BR 4B
2 9NTT B & % £ Greenway Venture Limited
([ Greenway |) & EF AKX B RBEEFME
7K o Greenwayfk N20%HEa8 FHANA Al 2 S AL
BRARFENREEERARREES  FHEKEE
ZFBAM(EFEZNNF AREB600,000TE
AR¥2,500,0007c 2 HERETHHE BB
%)% & S IAEEGreenway B 2 it 2 B AR R 2
o R BUEEGreenwayE S 2 BAR R R
% - KREEE 2 F B (TR0 _E STl 1
EFIETH A ERME)HGreenway X 75
B EBHIR0:1027 LIS -

RIBICEIEE 2B 2 - CRIEBEREE
RN RS - EE R EERE —IRNER
R o R ERREE KR - SEEEREE R
ERRZEER=TF B_ZTT=F— Al
Ao FREHERR - CRBRBHILMBEE
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B2 W BB 2 BRIME - WARA HEH
BB ER T AIEE - REBZHA - E
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RIS R RS SR AL BMABLIRE - BT AR
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TRIEERERE o

WERR 2 LR BBV EE -

REENEAR AR EEWBTEE(RT
AD RIS RIS 2L EE o RIBIRIG T
RERTE AKREEREETEEZE B2
NERFREREERE  RI=15F - RIFE
BEREZREME - WASFH B E KT
BILER D AMER - INEEHN - AEERE
EHEFET AR EIR B BRI -

RIS FHEE R R EORE - BFAR
AKESEER G FREERERZER T
4B -
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15 INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

©

The subsidiaries of the Group entered into service concession
arrangements with the grantors. Pursuant to the service concession
arrangements, the Group has to design, construct, operate and
manage waste-to-energy power plants, methane-to-energy power
plants, hazardous waste landfill and industrial solid waste landfill in the
PRC for a period of 25 to 30 years. The Group has the obligation to
maintain the waste-to-energy power plants, methane-to-energy power
plants, hazardous waste landfill and industrial solid waste landfill in good
condition. The grantors guarantee the Group will receive minimum
annual payments in connection with the arrangements. Upon expiry of
the concession periods, the waste-to-energy power plants and related
facilities will be transferred to the local government authorities.

The service concession arrangements do not contain renewal options.
The standard rights of the grantors to terminate the agreements include
failure of the Group to construct or operate the waste-to-energy power
plants, methane-to-energy power plants, hazardous waste landfill
and industrial solid waste landfill and in the event of a material breach
of the terms of the agreements. The standard rights of the Group to
terminate the agreements include failure to receive payments for solid
waste treatment service from the grantors and in the event of a material
breach of the terms of the agreements.

Revenue relates to the construction services provided in constructing
the waste-to-energy power plants, methane-to-energy power plants,
hazardous waste landfill and industrial solid waste landfill is recognised as
“Gross amounts due from customers for contract work” in the financial
statements.

The subsidiaries of the Group entered into service concession
arrangements with the grantors. Pursuant to the service concession
arrangements, the Group has to design, construct and/or upgrade,
operate and manage waste-water treatment plants in the PRC for a
period of 25 to 30 years. The Group has the obligation to maintain the
waste-water treatment plants in good condition. The grantors guarantee
the Group will receive minimum annual payments in connection with the
arrangements. Upon expiry of the concession periods, the waste-water
treatment plants and the related facilities will be transferred to the local
government authorities.

The service concession arrangements do not contain renewal options.
The standard rights of the grantors to terminate the agreements include
failure of the Group to construct, upgrade or operate the waste-water
treatment plants and in the event of a material breach of the terms
of the agreements. The standard rights of the Group to terminate
the agreements include failure to receive payments for waste-water
treatment service from the grantors and in the event of a material
breach of the terms of the agreements.

Revenue relates to the construction services provided in constructing
or upgrading the waste-water treatment plants is recognised as
“Gross amounts due from customers for contract work” in the financial
statements.
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16 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATE +5 BN THERS
The Group
AEE

2011

—g——%

$’0@

T
Share of net assets Frih B E F5E — -

Details of the associate are as follows: BN RERT ¢
Proportion of ownership interest
AL
Group’s

Form of Place of effective held by the held by a

business establishment interest Company subsidiary
Name of associate structure and operation ZF&EEZ HAAS HMEAS  Principal activity
HEATER ERNENE MUREENY BERER o) E) TEER
Qingdao Veolia Water Established PRC 21% = 21% Operation of waste-

Operating Company Limited BXAL H water treatment
BEBUIKGES plants
BRAT EEKEER

Summary financial information on the associate:

BENRPHERE -

The Group
AEE

(@) Operating results (a) BEELE
Turnover e 34,187 40,592
Profit/(loss) before taxation B%%RFJ!J 2R (EE) 1,059 (6,008)
Profit/(loss) after taxation Bz &ET(EE) 1,059 (6,008)
Group’s share of loss after taxation REEFHEE S AR Z
for the year attributable REFERRT&EE
to the associate - (5688)
(b) Balance sheet (b) BEEMER
Non-current assets JEmENEE 760 762
Current assets MENEE 6,506 8,944
Current liabilities nEBE (9,555) (12,950)
Net liabilities BEFHE (2,289) (3,244)
Group’s share of net assets REEFTEHE QA
attributable to the associate BEFEE - -
As at 31 December 2010 and 2011, the Group’s share of RZZE—ZTF+_A=1T—HBERZ=ZZ—%F
accumulated loss of associate exceeds the Group’s interest T-A=1—8 BRAEEMLEBE AR
in the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and 2 BECBBASBEIEHE AR 2
recognition of losses is discontinued. %E?%@Z%EEME T WRAwRE
E o
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17 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS ++ BT EE

The Group The Company
S L 4T
2011 2010 2011 2010

—®——% —T-TF —®——% —T-TF
$°000 $000 $°000 $000
5 T 7 T

Available-for-sale equity HERAES -

securities:
Listed in Hong Kong B LT 8,979 14,219 - -
Listed in other parts of the PRC AR E A 1T T 171,406 226,831 = =
180,385 241,050 - -
Unlisted in other parts of FRERE A S IE BT
the PRC 3,899 3,899 3,899 3,899
184,284 244,949 3,899 3,899
Market value of listed securities &4 2 A 180,385 241,050 = =
18 DEBTORS, OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS T\ FEUERFR « HAFBEURIE  RERFER
AND PREPAYMENTS L]
The Group
XEE
2011 2010
—T——% —T-TF
$°000 $000
T Tt
Debtors R X 196,352 182,728
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments B EIGRIE - 12E K&
TEfTRIE 3,000,977 2,890,641
3,197,329 3,073,369
Less: Non-current portion B FERNERER D
— other receivables and deposits —H i EI R IE IR S (2,181,165) (2,399,734)
Current portion BEAER D 1,016,164 673,635
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18 DEBTORS, OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS

AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

Included in “Debtors, other receivables, deposits and
prepayments” are debtors with the following ageing analysis as

of the balance sheet date:

T\ FEUBRRR « E 4 FEUGRRIE » &R TER
IE(E)

[FEUBRZR - Eb IR - BE RFENR
HIhBEREWESR  ERGEEB ZRikD
W

The Group
XEEH

2011 2010

—F——5F —T—TF

$°000 $'000

Tt

Current ENER 174,053 111,593

Less than 1 month past due wH D —1E A 9,655 31,360

1 to 3 months past due BE—Z=={E4 12,142 20,570

3 to 6 months past due BEA=Z=7<E A 99 15,019
More than 6 months but less than 12 months %1 HBiER:E 7~ & A

past due BLR+=EA 403 4,186

Amounts past due AEEeRE 22,299 71,135

196,352 182,728

Debtors are due within 30 days from the date of biling. Further
details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in note 31(a).

Included in “Debtors, other receivables, deposits and
prepayments” of the Group are debtors of $196,352,000 (2010:
$182,728,000) of which $10,261,000 (2010: $8,246,000) and
$9,932,000 (2010: $47,888,000) are due from a non-controling
shareholder and a related company respectively. Debtors
represent toll bridge revenue and revenue from environmental
energy project, environmental water project and alternative
energy project operation services. There was no recent history
of default in respect of the Group’s debtors. Since most of the
debtors are local government authorities in the PRC and based
on past experience, management believes that no impairment
allowance is necessary in respect of the past due balances as
there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the
balances are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does
not hold any collateral over these balances. No impairment loss
was recognised by the Group at 31 December 2011 (2010: $Nil).

FEWAR N AREEREFT =T BRI -
AEEEERKEZE—TEHIE R
=t—(@-°

AEEZ[EKERR - HtbEKRFRIE - &d
RIBAFRIEH - BIEEUERE 196,352,000
T(ZZT—Z 4 : 182,728,000t ) & Hh
10,261,00070(=Z —Z 4 : 8,246,0007T) &
9,932,000 (ZZ —ZT 4 : 47,888,0007T )
2 PN 2 R U S 472 IS S B R 3E K e UL B EEE 1 =)
B o BUBRFR AR BB RIS KK EIRR
REIRIEE - IRIRKIEIEE MFeLRIER 2 &
BRI - NEE Z BUERH GO EE
Hao sk - AR AR ES A A R E HER
FIHeRES - RIBEALS  EEERBDAR
BMER R ERIELFEERE  AAEEEER
WiEHIRERE - MABRBEHRDIER AR
2HUE - REBYERZSEHITEITM
EE@m - R_T—F+_A=+—H" &
EENEERETANEEER(ZE—2F -
/) o
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18 DEBTORS, OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS T\ B IRER « HbFEWRKIE « & RFER

AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

“Debtors, other receivables, deposits and prepayments” include
balances totalling $2,387,032,000 (2010: $2,576,919,000)
which bear interest at rates ranging from 5.94% to 7.83% (2010:
5.94% to 7.83%) per annum and represent the considerations
paid for the acquisition of waste-water treatment plants under
TOT arrangements, among which $181,606,000 (2010:
$161,945,000) and $476,468,000 (2010: $1,064,858,000) are
due from a non-controlling shareholder and a related company
respectively. The amounts are not yet due for payment and
will be settled by revenue to be generated during the operating
periods of the TOT arrangements. No impairment loss was
recognised by the Group at 31 December 2011 (2010: $Nil).

All of the current portion of the above balances are expected to
be recovered or recognised as expense within one year.

19 GROSS AMOUNTS DUE FROM CUSTOMERS FOR

CONTRACT WORK

MIE(E)

[EUERER - HtbEUREIE e RFER
E | BFEA #£2,387,032,000 L (ZE—=F
& :2576,919,00070) 2 &tk - HIZFE
KEMUMNET83% (- T —ZTF : 54%FE
7.83%):TERB o HATOTLHE NUREEI5K
BEIEM 2 ERE - E4181,606,0007T(=
T—T4F : 161,945,0007T ) &2 476,468,0007C
(ZZT—F4F : 1,064,858,0007T ) 7 Bl A FEUL
VAR AR SR TB K FE W BB A R K 0E - B
FIBRAREIEER - WEATOTLZHE T 2 &
BHWR S RZTE——F+_f=+—
B AEENERRTAREESER(ZZ—
TF | o

bt gR 2 P A BNVERER D TREI AT I —F ik
Cl X FERR/FX °

th Bl ER SN TRARIEEH

The Group
XEE
2011 2010
—E-FTF

-5
$°000 $'000
Tt T

Contract cost incurred plus recognised profits 24 & LB A0 B 7R

less anticipated losses A IEEEE 7,785,708 5,832,000
Less: Progress bilings B EE IR (1,269,484) (852,040)
Net contract work B IR FRE 6,516,224 4,979,960
Representing: ®RFE:

Gross amounts due from customers for JEEFE AL TR a5

contract work
— Non-current — JERNEA 5,963,047 4,629,124
— Current — RNHEAR 553,177 350,836

6,516,224 4,979,960
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19

20

GROSS AMOUNTS DUE FROM CUSTOMERS FOR
CONTRACT WORK (continued)

Included in “Gross amounts due from customers for contract
work” are amounts of $246,876,000 (2010: $259,030,000) and
$229,651,000 (2010: $216,958,000) which are due from a non-
controlling shareholder and a related company respectively.

“Gross amounts due from customers for contract work”
represent revenue from construction services under BOT and BT
(Build-Transfer) arrangements or upgrade services under TOT
arrangements and bear interest at rates ranging from 5.94% to
7.83% (2010: 5.94% to 7.83%) per annum. Among the total
of $6,516,224,000 (2010: $4,979,960,000), $6,297,640,000
(2010: $3,545,912,000) relates to BOT and TOT arrangements
with operation commenced. The amounts for BOT and TOT
arrangements are not yet due for payment and will be settled
by revenue to be generated during the operating periods of the
arrangements. The amounts for BT arrangements will be settled
according to respective repayment schedules as stated in the
agreements.

INVENTORIES
Inventories in the consolidated balance sheet comprise:

th BKRERESHITERIESEHE =)

[[EREFA4TERIBLEE IR - SRIEHE
& Uk S 422 % % BR 718 246,876,0007T ( —F —
T 1 250,030,000 ) K JiE Uk FEEsE A R FRIE
229,651,0007C (—ZZ —ZF F : 216,958,000
JL) °

[EREFPAHTIRFKIBAEE ]| TIHNBOTR
BTGEE -8 ) T 2B ERBEIEK
FETOTLZHE T 2ehE TR  HIZF R
REMUMNET83%(— T —FTF : 54%E
7.83% ) sFE F| B o 7 48 %4 6,516,224,000
T (=T —ZTF : 4979,960,0007T ) F -
H 1 6,297,640,000 7T ( = T — T F
3,545,912,0007T ) B T 2 1% AEIE2BOT &
TOTZHE - BEBOTRTOTLHE T 2 RIAE
REVHAS A - WA E WSS - BT
BE 2 SRIES R IEA [R5 BB AY A R 18 SR
Faﬁiiff °©

—t+EE

RABEERERMNEERRE

The Group
xEE

2011 2010
—F—F —E-TF
$000 $°000
T Tt
Raw materials and operating supplies R & A m 21,430 4,441
Spare parts Bl 22,045 17,049
43,475 21,490
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21 FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES Z1- RS SRR RRIE
The total minimum lease payments receivable under finance BEREHERKNSERENFBERE
lease, and their present values are as follows: REMT :

The Group
XEE
2011 2010
—FT——% —E-TF
$°000 $000
T
Within 1 year —FN 1,735 -
After 1 year but within 5 years —FEERFR 6,940 -
After 5 years hF% 32,964 -
Total gross investment BB REE 41,639 -
Unearned finance income REBBERA (19,599) -
Present value of future payments receivable RIRFEWFIE 2 IRE 22,040 =
Amounts due within one year included FARBEEC —FA
under current assets FIEAZIR (432) -
21,608 =
The present value of future payments RIRFEWFIBZIRBEMT

receivable is as follows:

Within 1 year —EW ______________________________________ 42 0 -
After 1 year but within 5 years —FRERFA 2,005 -
After 5 years AF% 19,603 -
____________________________ 2 -
22,040 —
22 PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS Itz EIEIPERITHER
The Group AEE
The amounts are pledged to secure certain bank loans of the ZEFIBEEERT  EARERETIRTE
Group. R -
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The Company
A8
2011 2010

—®——4% —FT T5 —B——§ -—T-TF

$°000 $000
Fx T

- 100,000

23 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IR RIS EEY
The Group
XEH
2011 2010
$°000 $’000
T Tt
Deposits with banks RITIFX 327,426 269,020
Cash at bank and in hand RITREHREIRE 1,356,873 1,072,465

252,063 144,054

1,684,299 1,341,485

252,063 244,064

Included in “Cash and cash equivalents” at the balance sheet REEBIRERBREFEM]BETIIR
date are the following amounts denominated in a currency other 15 - BB ER 2T 8 AN E% R
than the functional currency of the entity to which they relate: B

The Group
%
2011 2010

The Company
AAT
2011 2010

—®——% T T4 —B——%F —T TF

USD’000 USD’000

USD’000 USD’000

FER FET FER F=1T
United States Dollars ETT 16,173 18,929 6,868 238
Included in “Cash and cash equivalents” are the following [Re MR EEY | BE TR A
deposits placed with a related party bank: TERIT 27K ¢

The Group
AEHE
2011 2010

The Company
AATF
2011 2010

—®——% —FT 5 —B——§ -—T-TF

$°000 $000
Fr T

Deposits with related party FIR R A TiR1T2
bank yEE Y 60,155 279,178

$°000 $000
Fx T

13,993 1,037
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24 BANK LOANS IHh SRITERR
At 31 December 2011, the bank loans were repayable as R-ZE——F+-_A=+—08 " RITEFKZ
follows: EFERIOT ¢
The Group The Company
XEH AT

2011 2010 2011 2010

—F——F T Z¥B——F —_T-IFTF

$°000 $000 $°000 $000

Tt Tt

Within 1 year or on demand —FAIRER 1,064,080 732,254 90,000 40,000

After 1 year but within 2 years ~ — /4B R 810,950 617,483 27,500 40,000

After 2 years but within 5 years  Fi2E/4 {8 F4E 2,056,681 1,628,657 70,000 47,500

After 5 years AFE 1,161,298 791,003 = =

4,028,929 3,037,143 97,500 87,500

5,093,009 3,769,397 187,500 127,500

At 31 December 2011, the bank loans were secured as follows: RZE—F+-_A=+—8 - RITEZZ
EIRERLAT -
The Group The Company
XEH AAT]
2011 2010 2011 2010
=K —_T-TF ZT—F —T-ITF
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
T Tt T Tt
Bank loans IRITER
— secured — B 3,519,740 2,182,473 87,500 127,500
— unsecured — 1,573,269 1,586,924 100,000 -

5,093,009 3,769,397 187,500 127,500
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24 BANK LOANS (continued) I ERITER(2)

Certain banking facilities of the Group are secured by certain
revenue and receivables in connection with the Group’s service
concession arrangements, bank deposits, mortgages on
fixed assets and shares of certain subsidiaries of the Group.
Such banking facilities, amounting to $3,837,563,000 (2010:
$2,820,729,000), were utilised to the extent of $3,519,740,000
(2010: $2,182,473,000) at 31 December 2011. Among
the secured banking facilities, $1,672,905,000 (2010:
$1,460,080,000) are guaranteed by the Company and were
utilised to the extent of $1,671,682,000 (2010: $1,039,782,000)
at 31 December 2011.

At 31 December 2011, the unsecured banking facilities,
amounting to $2,196,642,000 (2010: $2,979,828,000), were
utilised to the extent of $1,573,269,000 (2010: $1,586,924,000).
Among the unsecured banking facilities of the Group,
$394,379,000 (2010: $497,677,000) are guaranteed by the
Company and were utilised to the extent of $374,379,000 (2010:
$477,677,000) at 31 December 2011. All of the non-current
interest-bearing borrowings are carried at amortised costs. None
of the non-current interest-bearing borrowings is expected to be
settled within one year.

ZX%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁumﬁlﬂﬁi‘%ﬁm&
BRTHETZETREREWFRIE - R1T
G BEEEERBAAEEETSETH
BRARZBRMDEER RZE——F+=
A=+—8 - £i3837,563,0007c (=& —
T4 1 2,820,729,0007T ) Z A IR 17 7L
&2 8 A3519,740000T (— T —F4F -
2,182,473,000 7t ) ° _E it A 3K 38 8 17 @t
& - H 1672005000t (= —F4F :
1,460,080,0007T ) EAAN A BI/EER » R=Z
—F+-A=1+—HBEEMH1,671,682,000
TT(ZZ—F4 1 1,039,782,0007T) °

R-_E——F+-_A=+—8 - £
HIETRE 2% %8 A 2,196,642,000 7O
(ZZ—Z 4 : 2979,8280007C ) * 2
& 1573269000 T (= & — & 4F
1,686,924,00070 ) o F it ANEEE E KRR IT
BE - HA304,379,000 T (Z B —Z £ -
497,677,0007C) AAREMEER RZF
—F+ZA=+—H8 ' 2#374,379,000

T(ZZE—ZF : 477,677,0007T) ° FrB IEAN
5 Jr% BB THIRE I AN ARR - TEHIFTA JE
BIEE BB B TR —FRIERE -

Banking facilities of $2,800,411,000 (2010: $1,064,062,000) R 17 AL & 2,800,411,000 L (Z & — T 4F :
are subject to the fulfiment of covenants relating to certain of 1,064,062,00071:)/5? é%:Fﬁ E§$§E’<@ﬁﬁ
the Group’s financial ratios. If the Group were to breach the BHERZRE - WARERERBEBELA

covenants, the drawn down facilities would become payable on
demand. At 31 December 2011, such facilities were utilised to
the extent of $2,418,565,000 (2010: $476,412,000). The Group
regularly monitors its compliance with these covenants. Further
details of the Group’s management of liquidity risk are set out
in note 31(b). As at 31 December 2011, none of the covenants
relating to drawn down facilities had been breached (2010: $Nil).

Included in “Bank loans” are the following amounts denominated
in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity to
which they relate:

BEfRB & EEERE §°%:g
——F+ZA=+—H EEREEHA
2,418,565,0007_5(_§ T4F 476,412,000
7‘5) o REEE ERAFRBENAHE
L HTE o ﬁf§$'§laﬁmb§b§‘£ﬂ
iE BERENRMFE=+—(b) e R=ZFT——
F+—-—A=+—8" $El1ﬁ5_}§ﬁﬁ§h

NMEE s LH(ZE—ZF  |) -

[ERITE B NIIFIA - ALAEHER
ﬁ“é‘ﬁb”ﬁ’%‘uﬁl\z S RELNL

The Group The Company
AEE AAT

2011 2010 2011 2010

—F——5 —_T-IZF

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
F=En F=T FET F=ET

116,200 62,200 - =

—F——5 —_TTF

United States Dollars ETT
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24 BANK LOANS (continued)

Included in “Bank loans” are the following loans from a related
party bank:

—8——%

Loans from related party bank  F#B% A TERITE R

It ERITERR ()
[ERITER B T 7R A LIRITEK -

The Group
1
2011

The Company
AT

2011

———%

$’000

Fit

2010
—E-TF
$°000
Tt

189,763

2010
—ETF
$000
Tt

$'000
Fix

153,873

The loans from a related party bank are unsecured, bear interest
at rates announced by the People’s Bank of China and will be
fully repaid by 2018.

25 CREDITORS, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED
EXPENSES

Creditors, other payables and FERTERSK -
accrued expenses FEETER

BB A LTIRITIREC EFRAEER - IZPE
ARBITRMZBRGFE  WAR=ZF—N
FRIZHEE -

It RETRRR « HIbREARIAREHEH

The Group
AEE
2011
—F——%
$’000
Fit

2010
—E-TF
$000
Tt

H A RSB K

1,423,305 863,444

Included in “Creditors, other payables and accrued expenses”
are creditors with the following ageing analysis as of the balance
sheet date:

[FERBRR - HttRENRIEBEREAERITE
RN - ERNEE B ZRREDTT

The Group
XEE

2011 2010
-5 —T—TF
$°000 $'000
F Tt
Due within 1 month or on demand — @A REHgIZ E K 63,463 60,489
Due after 1 month but within 3 months —Z=={AAANEIH 51,125 21,814
Due after 3 months but within 6 months == NEAAREIER 36,797 22,508
Due after 6 months NE A& EIER 737,422 483,785
888,807 588,596
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25 CREDITORS, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED

EXPENSES (continued)

Included in “Creditors, other payables and accrued expenses”
of the Group is an amount of $4,610,000 (2010: $3,755,000)
which is payable to an associate. The balance is due within one
month and represents service fee for operation of waste-water
treatment plants.

Apart from the above, balances totalling $868,230,000 (2010:
$579,601,000) represent construction payables for the Group’s
BT and BOT arrangements, among which $12,257,000 (2010:
$11,570,000) is due to a non-controlling shareholder. The
construction payables are not yet due for payment. The amount
due to a non-controlling shareholder is unsecured, interest free
and expected to be settled within one year. Included in the 2010
balance was an amount of $4,793,000 which was due to related
companies and were fully repaid during the year.

Included in “Creditors, other payables and accrued expenses”
are the following amounts denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency of the entity to which they relate:

i @13*&5%& CHiEARIERESER
(&
AEBZEARRK - B R A K&
ERlT  BE-ZEBRNTZHBEARZ
FI84,610,0007T (=T — T4 : 3,755,000
TT) c RAEBN—EAREE - EAEES
IR Z RIS E

Br B ATt E SN - 2B A A $£868,230,0007T
(ZZT—F4F : 579,601,0007T) 2 &5tk - H
BEAREBEBTABOTLZHE N2 EETIEME
fEkTE - HAp 12,257,000 ( —E— T4 ¢
11,570,0007T) B T IEFEARAR R 2 5RIE ©
BETRREMNREBAREIEER - BN TIE
AR 2 SRIBAERRE - 28 - WIEHA
R—EREER - —T—TFE 7 EHBIEEN
¥ B8N B 2 FX3E4,793,0007T * BREFIAD
RENZHEE -

[FERBRR - HttRNRIBERETERIERE
THIFIR - R ER 2B IAINZ
B REN

The Group The Company
AEE AAT
2011 2010 2011 2010
—T——K —T-ZTF ZBT——H _T-ITF
EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000
TFEREE TEZE TEREE TENZE
Euros ¢ 1,669 120 80 120
26 OTHER LOANS iy HhE®R
The Group RE

The loans are unsecured, interest-bearing at rates announced by
the People’s Bank of China and repayable in 2023.

27 LOANS FROM ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

The Group
The loans from ultimate holding company are unsecured, interest
free and not repayable within one year.

BRERRERR RRBEARRITAMZ
BERGE  WAR-_ZE_=FER-

St REBIEIRAEER

AEE
B RRA A AR - %8 REAR
—F R -
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28 INCOME TAX IN THE BALANCE SHEET t\ BEBBRATHFEH
(a) Current taxation in the balance sheet represents: (a) EEEBERIRPASEBIES !

The Group
AEE
2011 2010

—T——% —E-TF
$°000 $000
Tt T

Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for REEFBREHBAE

the year - 8,520
Provision for PRC income tax for the year — ZN4F & b B A {5 F 4 91,544 47,356
91,544 55,876
Provisional tax paid BT E A (47,351) 32,121)
Balance of profits tax provision relating to 381 & [ M{S T B 4565
prior years 7,908 -
52,101 23,755
Represented by: R*E:
Tax recoverable ATk e R T8 - (6,381)
Tax payable JERTIAE 52,101 29,136
52,101 23,755
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28 INCOME TAX IN THE BALANCE SHEET (continued) -t\ BEBEXRIRIIFTEH(Z)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b) ERERELEHREEERERE -
The Group AEE
The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities ERGEEERBERERZELEHIE(E
recognised in the consolidated balance sheet and the =)/ BEHHRAFELBHNAT

movements during the year are as follows:

Temporary
differences
on assets
recognised
under
HK(IFRIC 12)
RiE (B Fair value

(EARREATS adjustment
RERE on available- Undistributed
£58) 28 for-sale profits of
$125%&:2  Revaluation securities  subsidiaries
ZEE ofproperties  HEFEHZ HEBAS
ZHGER MEER - ARERE  XoREH

$000 $000 $000 $000
T T T Fr
At 1 January 2010 RZE—TF—-H—H 80,820 2,879 = 38,477 122,176
Exchange adjustments & 5,552 6,119 - 310 2,627 9,056
Chargedtoreserve  {EREER I - - 12,005 - 12,005
Charged to profitor  #E1BZERFIR
loss 108,502 999 = 37,237 141,738
At 31 December RZE—ZF
2010 +-A=1+—-H 190,441 3,878 12,315 78,341 284,975
At 1 January 2011 R=Z—%—A—H 190,441 3,878 12,315 78,341 284,975
Exchange adjustments [ i 732 10,310 - 150 4141 14,601
Creditedtoreserve st AR - - (15,739) - (15,739)
Charged toprofitor {18 KR MK
loss 140,147 - - 35,446 175,593
At 31 December RZE——F
2011 T-A=t-R 340,898 3,878 (3274) 117,928 459,430
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28 INCOME TAX IN THE BALANCE SHEET (continued) -t\ BEBEXRIRIIFREHZ)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b) ERADELHIBEEERERE (&)
(continued)
The Group (continued) EEE(E)
The Group
AEH
2011 2010
It e —ET-TF
$°000 $°000
T T
Net deferred tax assets recognised in RirEEERBRER
the consolidated balance sheet BT E B (12,836) (14,080)
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in RireBEERBRER
the consolidated balance sheet ELHBREFR 472,266 299,055
459,430 284,975
(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised (c) RERELEBIBEE
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(t), BEMZF—ORSEETHR - ~5E
the Group and the Company have not recognised deferred NARA RS RIgh RET AT E B 1
tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of $41,881,000 RIREF B A E41,881,000L( —E—Z
(2010: $35,493,000) and $34,428,000 (2010: $28,040,000) 4F : 35,493,0007T ) % 34,428,0007C (=
respectively as it is not probable that future taxable profits T—ZF 1 28,040,0007T) * REAES
against which the losses can be utilised will be available in RIS AE R R B RSN ARl gE ES
the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. The tax losses do not ARBNMSZIBEERAER - BE
expire under the current tax legislation. WMITHR RG] - Ll AT K0S 18 T 3R e

FAMRES -
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29 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED H R ZRER S
TRANSACTIONS
The Company has a share option scheme which was adopted RARRAE —(EERETS - ER_TT=
on 26 May 2003 whereby the directors of the Company are FRAZTRBERM - B - ARREEE
authorised, at their discretion, to invite employees of the Group, FEATNEBRFEASEEES (BEAKE T
including directors of any company in the Group, to take up MK ERRIZES ) BN EEZBARER
options at nominal consideration to subscribe for shares of the BARNRARMD ZERE -BRESKRLEA
Company. The options are exercisable six months (or a later date B ANER (AR RESATEZREAH)
as determined by the directors of the Company) after the date RAEMEREITEIE ERETHEETFX
on which the options are granted for a period up to ten years or ET=FRAA-THHLEUREER
25 May 2013, whichever is earlier. Each option gives the holder %) BRBRERTEREARB-—RAE
the right to subscribe for one ordinary share in the Company. NEIEBAR 2 RER] o
(a) The terms and conditions of the grants that existed (@ TXHEIIFREKRITEZBREZREH
during the years are as follows, whereby all options R REG B FrEBEREURSG
are settled by physical delivery of shares: EMRBENEERWK :

Number of Contractual

instruments Vesting conditions life of options

XEEE ARt BREZSHEY

Options granted to directors:

RFPESZMEIE :
— on 29 September 2003 18,500,000 Six months from the 9.7 years
—EE=FHhA=+IAH date of grant 9.7%F
X B BAtE 7S fE A
— on 29 September 2003 20,500,000 One year from the 9.7 years
—EE=FHhA=+hAH date of grant 9.7
AL A HEE —F
— on 3 August 2006 8,500,000 One year from the 6.8 years
—EEXRFNHA=H date of grant 6.8
B A HEE —F
— on 3 August 2006 10,500,000 Two years from the 6.8 years
—EEXRFNHA=H date of grant 6.8F
A A HAE ST A
Options granted to employees:
RFEEZEBIE :
— on 3 August 2006 1,700,000 One year from the 6.8 years
—EEXRFNHA=H date of grant 6.8
B A HEE —
— on 3 August 2006 4,687,000 Two years from the 6.8 years
—EERFNHA=H date of grant 6.8
A A HAE ST R

Total share options
PR AR 64,387,000
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29 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED o R Z AR5 (E)
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(b) The number and weighted average exercise prices (b) BREZEHE RMEFGTEENT :

of share options are as follows:

2011 2010
K —TFF
Weighted Weighted
average average

exercise exercise
price Number of price Number of
ISy options INFEF 9 options
TEE  BRExe TRE  BEREHA

Outstanding at the beginning of ~ ¥4 K1T{E

the year $0.5157¢ 51,250,000 $0.5147T 64,387,000
Exercised during the year FREITE $0.3445c  (23,000,000) $0.513;t  (13,137,000)
Outstanding at the end of FEEARITL

the year $0.6547T 28,250,000 $0.5157T, 51,250,000
Exercisable at the end of FRAI T

the year $0.654% 28250000  SOS157 51,250,000

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for FREITEBRENITE B H 2 T
shares options exercised during the year was $3.4 (2010: BB AEIAT(ZE—TF  417T) °
$4.1).

The options outstanding at 31 December 2011 had an RZBE——F+ZA=+—HBREKRTHE
exercise price of $0.296 or $0.85 (2010: $0.296 or $0.85) 2 BB HE 2 1T1# (8 /R 0.296 7T, 0.85 7T
and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 1.4 (ZZ—F4F : 0.296703¢0.857T) * M
years (2010: 2.4 years). TR TENFHRANRI4F(ZF—

T 245)
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29 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED H RS ZEERR S (E)
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c) Fair value of share options and assumptions

(c) BREZARERER

The fair value of services received in return for share options
granted is measured by reference to the fair value of share
options granted. The estimate of the fair value of the share
options granted is measured based on Black-Scholes
Option Pricing Model. The contractual life of the share option
is used as an input into this model.

AEEARDEREMES RS 2R
RERERBREZ AAEFE - B
BREZGHAAERIANR - A
Hr e BRAGE - BlREZA0F
HIRUMAEA 2 — TR A2 -

Fair value of share options and BIREZ AR ERRER
assumptions

Fair value at measurement date REtE BBz AR E

Share price IxE

Exercise price 1T{E(E

Expected volatility (expressed as weighted TEERRIE (LA [4H 57—
ETERHT] HAREEEERA
AR TR E)

average volatility used in the modelling
under Black-Scholes Option Pricing
Model)

Option life (expressed as weighted average FEASHEFHR (LA [HH N7 —

life used in the modelling under Black-

Scholes Option Pricing Model)
Expected dividends TEHEARR B
Risk-free interest rate (based on Exchange /@ fa |

Fund Notes) (IRIBINEES TIR)

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility
(calculated based on the weighted average remaining life
of the share options), adjusted for any expected changes
to future volatility based on public available information.
Expected dividends are based on historical dividends.
Changes in the subjective input assumptions could
materially affect the fair value estimate.

There were no service conditions or market conditions
associated with the share options granted.

EFERHT] MEEERARN
AR IEF I EH)

$0.295¢ $0.297T,
$0.855T $0.8571
$0.853¢, $0.857¢
52.13% 52.13%

3 yearsfE 3 yearstF
2.28% 2.28%
4.30% 4.30%

TR R T IRIBE SR MR AT E (AR R AR
ZINEFARGFERAE)  BRER
RBFAANER BRI 8 2
B - BHIRERIEEEMEERE © AT

FAEMER SHTYALE 5
BREAE -

L4 HH 2 B PR S A O 25 AR
SR o
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30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS =+ IRE - BERERER
(a) Movements in components of equity (a) RAEZPD 2B E
The reconciliation between the opening and closing AEBGEERSS Tﬁﬁ?ﬂ&ﬁ%%ﬁ?
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated Z”’J%%ﬁﬁﬁ,ﬁ%/\@ﬁm@)% ZA/N
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes E#e 2= B0 R F ) R F & HﬂF’ﬁZ“@J%@
in equity. Details of changes in the Company’s individual FIEAR -

components of equity between the beginning and the end
of the year are set out below:

The Company AAT

Capital
Share Share Special  redemption Capftal Retained
capital premium resenve resenve resenve profits

fE RhEE KGR AAEDEE  EARE  REEF
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T r T T Tr T

Balance at 1 January 2010 R-F-35-B-H2
o 363932 2,147,545 - 70 6,328 813076 3,331,451

Changes in equity for 2010; —E-FEyiEnes.

Total comprehensive income for TEERANAES

the year - - - - - 8% (1889%)
Dividends approved inrespectof ~ EtELEEZRE

the previous year note 30(0)f) (M=) - - - - - (13683 (43683
Shares issued under shareoption — IREB 2R T2 D

scheme (note 30(0{) (H=T0m) 1314 5804 - - (384) - 6,734
Dividend declared in respect of BERAERE ZRE

the current year (note 30(0)) (MEE=T000) - - - - - (642 (642

Balance at 31 December 2010 N-F-FF
TZR=t-B4 365246 2,153349 = 70 6,444 74075 3239184
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30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued) =+ IR « & RIS (2)
(a) Movements in components of equity (continued) (a) BRIEHD2BE(E)
The Company (continued) EAT (&)

Capital
Share Share Special  redemption Capital  Retained
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve profits

R  BhinR  GAEE A4RDEG 0 AAER  RERW
$000 $000 $000 §000 $000 $000
r Fr Fr i Fr Fr

Balance at 1 January 2011 R=F——5-F-H2
e 365,246 2,153,349 - 70 6,444 714075 3,230,184

Changes in equity for 2011: “E-EVEDES.

Total comprehensive income for TEERANAES

the year - - - - - e (26
Dividends approved inrespectof ~ BHELEEZRE

the previous year (note 30/0)(i) (ME=t0)) - - - - - (64802 (54802
Sharesissued under shareoption  IRIEEEIRIEST2IEIT 2 RIR

scheme (note 30(Cf) (HEE=Fc) 2300 6,731 - - (1,115) - 7916
Dividend declared in respect of BERAEE RS

the curtent year (note 300 (HEE=F000) - - - = - (73509 (73,509
Balance at 31 December 2011 R-B—-F

+ZRZH-BZE8 %756 2160080 - 0 539 563140 3,096,165
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30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued) =+ RB% - S REE ()
(b) Dividends b) BE
() Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the () JERITTAEREIREZ AFEARLE
Company attributable to the year

Interim dividend declared and paid of B & ,}E K5z R HIRR B AR

2.0 cents per ordinary share ‘ig2.0Ml (ZZE—F4F -

(2010: 1.0 cent per ordinary share) Hx%ﬁﬁﬂ Ofil) 73,509 36,422
Final dividend proposed after the REZ RERZD IR 2K

balance sheet date of 2.5 cents per B EEIRE@AZ2.5Ml (==

ordinary share (2010: 1.5 cents per ~ —Z 4 : G E@A%1.500)
ordinary share) 91,887 54,787
165,396 91,209
The final dividend proposed after the balance sheet date NEE R REZDIRZ REIE 2
has not been recognised as a liability at the balance REGEEHERAAE -
sheet date.
(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the (i) BRL—EEEFE - WRFRH
Company attributable to the previous financial year, JEICST PR IR 2 (1A% B

approved and paid during the year

Final dividend in respect of the previous B _E—{EFBEE @ WRE
financial year, approved and paid WL 2 1 2 REAIR B8

during the year, of 1.5 cents per REsmpg1 50l (ZE—=

ordinary share (2010: 1.2 cents per 4 : G E@AR1.21)

ordinary share) 54,802 43,683
In respect of dividends attributable to the year ended MBE_ZT—FTF+-_HA=+—H
31 December 2010, the difference between the final JLEF‘ZHQ BME ' BN ZR
dividend proposed and the amount approved and paid 8B A HE & S 2 REIRR
during the year represents the additional dividends ,%\ZF'? HIRZEZE - A= AR
to the ordinary shareholders upon the exercise of EREARGERERNDBAER
share options before the closing date of the register of FERTITE B AT E IS AR
members. R WEmMERZEINEE
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30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued) =+ IR - & RIRE (4)
(c) Share capital () BR=&
()  Authorised and issued share capital ) ZEREEITIRA

2011 2010
-5 —T-TF
No. of No. of
shares Amount shares Amount
B &8 %X -
’000 $°000 000 $'000
F FiTt T+ T
Authorised: JESE -
Ordinary shares of BREME0.10T 2
$0.10 each AT 5,000,000 500,000 5,000,000 500,000
Ordinary shares, issued &% » 23¥1TR
and fully paid: EHHRE :
At 1 January »w—H—H 3,652,462 365,246 3,639,325 363,932
Shares issued under RGBT
share option scheme BITRR D 23,000 2,300 13,137 1,314
At 31 December N+=—A=+—H 3,675,462 367,546 3,652,462 365,246

BREFEAERERIAREIR
RE - IRARBAE LA ER
BNEA—ERERE - LARAZ
RHEEMS MEERERESAR
EHER

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company.
All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the
Company’s residual assets.
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30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)
(c) Share capital (continued)

=t i - EERIRE(E)

(i) Shares issued under share option scheme

During the year ended 31 December 2011, options
were exercised to subscribe for 23,000,000 ordinary
shares (2010: 13,137,000 ordinary shares) in the
Company at a consideration of $7,916,000 (2010:
$6,734,000) of which $2,300,000 (2010: $1,314,000)
was credited to share capital and the balance of
$5,616,000 (2010: $5,420,000) was credited to the
share premium account. $1,115,000 (2010: $384,000)
has been transferred from the capital reserve to the
share premium account in accordance with policy set
out in note 1(s)(i).

(i)  Terms of unexpired and unexercised share options at
the balance sheet date

Exercise period

29 March 2004 to 25 May 2013

“ETNF=A=TNAE

(c) BA(4&)

(i) WRIEERIEZIZTTIR
RnEE-_T—F+=-_A=+—H
IEFE BREBEATERER
¥ - R B 23,000,000 A Q7 L@
f%(—Z—=4F : 13,137,0000% & @
f%) - R{BA&7,916,000(—FT—F
4 : 6,734,0007T) ° E 2,300,000
TTL(—ZF—FF : 1,314,00070) E 72
AR - £ 5,616,00000( —F—
T4 : 5,420,0007¢ ) B2 A B 19 4
BER 2 1,115,000 0 ( —E—Z 4 :
384,0007T ) B IR RR T 5 —(s)(ii) Frak X
RZBT  REAREBEERZRNG
EERR ©

(i) RAEE H o RENRIR AR e R 7T 1
ZIEIRIE R4

2011 2010

—g——f -—T-T4F

Number Number

(=] A

Exercise price

TEfE

“T-—=FRA-1AA $0.2967T - 12,500,000
29 September 2004 to —EEMFEAA =T NAEE

25 May 2013 —T—=FRA-1+HAH $0.2967T 10,000,000 18,500,000

3 August 2007 to 25 May 2018 ~ —ZEZE+ENA=AZF
—E—=FfFA-+HH $0.857T 7,700,000 9,700,000

3 August 2008 to 25 May 2013 —EE\FENA=HZ
“T—=FRA-1HAHA $0.857T 10,550,000 10,550,000
28,250,000 51,250,000

Each option entitles the holder to subscribe for one
ordinary share in the Company. Further details of
these options are set out in note 29 to the financial
statements.
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30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)
(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

)

(i)

(i)

Share premium and capital redemption reserve

The application of the share premium account and the
capital redemption reserve is governed by sections 48B
and 49H respectively of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises the fair value of the actual
or estimated number of unexercised share options
granted to employees of the Group recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted for
share-based payments in note 1(s)(ii).

Special reserve

On 5 January 2004, the Company announced its
intention to put forward a proposal for the reduction
of the Company’s share premium account by the
sum of $2,372,172,824 (i.e. accumulated losses of
the Company as at 30 September 2003) and the
application of the same amount of credit arising
from such reduction towards the elimination of the
accumulated losses of the Company. The reduction of
share premium account, approved by the shareholders
at the extraordinary general meeting held on 2 February
2004, was confirmed by an order made by the High
Court of Hong Kong (the “Court”) on 2 March 2004 and
became effective upon registration of the said order by
the Registrar of Companies in Hong Kong on the same
date.

=t - EERIRE(E)
(d) EEEERER
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(i)

(i)
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30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)
(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(i) - Special reserve (continued)
To safeguard the interests of the Company’s creditors,
the Company undertakes to the Court to create a
special reserve upon the reduction of share premium
account on the terms set out below:

(1) that for so long as there shall remain outstanding
any debt of or claim against the Company which,
if the date on which the reduction of the share
premium account of the Company (the “Effective
Date”) were the commencement of the winding-
up of the Company, would be admissible to proof
in such winding-up and the person entitled to the
benefit thereof shall not have consented to the said
reduction of share premium account or agreed
otherwise, the Company shall credit to a special
reserve in the books of the Company (the “Special
Reserve”):

— any amount arising by reason of a release of
any provision taken into account in establishing
the accumulated losses of the Company
shown in the balance sheet of the management
accounts of the Company for the nine months
ended 30 September 2003; or

— any amount received by the Company as
profit by way of distribution from a corporation
which was a subsidiary or an associated
company of the Company at the Effective Date
(a “subsidiary” or an “associated company”
respectively) which is made by such subsidiary
or associated company out of profits available
for distribution prior to the Effective Date or any
dividend paid to the Company in respect of
any liquidation of a subsidiary or an associated
company commencing prior to the Effective
Date; and
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30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)
(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(i) - Special reserve (continued)

@

the Special Reserve:

— shall not be treated as realised profits of the
Company; and

— shall, for so long as the Company shall
remain a limited company, be treated as an
undistributable reserve of the Company for the
purposes of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
32 of the Laws of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region of the People’s Republic
of China) or any statutory modification or re-
enactment thereof.

Provided always that:

(1)

the Special Reserve may be applied for the same
purposes as a share premium account may lawfully
be applied;

the amount standing to the credit of the Special
Reserve may be reduced by an amount equal to
any increase, after the Effective Date, in the share
premium account of the Company which results
from an issue of shares (other than for the purposes
of any redemption or purchase by the Company of
its own shares) for cash or other consideration or
by way of the capitalisation of distributable profits
or reserves, and the Company shall be at liberty
to transfer the amount so reduced to the general
reserves of the Company and the same shall
become available for distribution;

the amount credited to the Special Reserve in
accordance with the foregoing provisions of
this undertaking shall not at any time exceed
$1,762,999,500 (the “Limit”);
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30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)
(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(i) - Special reserve (continued)
Provided always that: (continued)

(@) the Limit may be reduced by the amount of any
increase, after the Effective Date, in the paid-up
share capital or share premium account of the
Company which results from an issue of shares
(other than for the purposes of any redemption
or purchase by the Company of its own shares)
for cash or other consideration or by way of the
capitalisation of distributable profits or reserves;

(6) the Limit may be reduced upon the liquidation,
disposal or other realisation, after the Effective
Date, of a subsidiary, an associated company or
any of the financial or fixed assets of the Company
by the amount of the provision made in relation to
such subsidiary, associated company or financial
or fixed assets as at 30 September 2003 less such
amount (if any) as credited to the Special Reserve as
a result of such liquidation, disposal or realisation;
and

(6) in the event that the amount standing to the credit
of the Special Reserve at any time exceeds the
Limit after any reduction of the Limit pursuant to
provisos (4) and/or (5) above, the Company shall be
at liberty to transfer the amount of any such excess
to the general reserves of the Company and the
same shall become available for distribution.

The Special Reserve of $112,016,000 credited in
2004 was reduced to $Nil during the year ended
31 December 2006 due to an increase in the share
premium account of the Company which resulted from
an issue of shares in 2006.

@ China Everbright International Limited 2 Byt A BB AR A &)

=t IRF - RERIRE(E)
(d) REMEERBHGE)
(i) 51 ()
W (&)

4) EEMBHR - BETEN(E
ARRREEHBERS KD
BROMREGRE @ L E M ERE
B E AL B] 2 Ik 8 A 3 fr 8 T
I € WGP 6 &N g
it (B ARIE hn 2 8ir] RIER B
FARRER

G) REMBHIE  EEL  HE
AR AR EIRKTE A A
/N I N/NCTE SR G b4

Eﬁ%%’ﬂ_77_¢ﬂ
BA=+BREBEHER
Aﬂjiﬁﬁilméﬁﬁh
B EESBR EMEE -

ENFINEBELS 2RI
EERST(NE) 28 TAE
B %?E%Hi%ﬁy )53

©) AR EXE @4 & RE)IE
HR B RR BAR BRI 1 2 i
REeRHBBAERERE  ~AF]
AEBEBHCBEARRZ—
MR MARBESEA YK
2

REBEE T NF+_A=+—8H
IFE R FE AR 255
f##5112,016,0007TBEZ T El
BRANBNR BT NFEITRODL
B9 (B BRIG ANFT R o



Notes to the Financial Statements

el
7J> T yal :\fﬁ& ’z FIE (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (fk BAETLERIN © FrE £RBIAEETE)

30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)
(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(v)

(v)

(vi)

(vi)

Gooawill arising on consolidation

The goodwill arising on consolidation has been set
up and dealt with in accordance with the transitional
arrangements under HKFRS 3 (August 2004), goodwill
which had previously been taken directly to reserves
(i.e. goodwill which arose before 1 January 2001)
will not be recognised in profit or loss on disposal or
impairment of the acquired business, or under any other
circumstances.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in
note 1(x).

Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net
change in the fair value of available-for-sale securities
held at the balance sheet date and is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies in notes 1(g)
and ().

Reserve fund

Statutory reserve — wholly foreign-owned enterprises
Subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC, which are wholly
foreign-owned enterprises, follow the accounting
principles and relevant financial regulations of the PRC
applicable to wholly foreign-owned enterprises (“PRC
GAAP — WFORE”), in the preparation of its accounting
records and financial statements. Pursuant to the
accounting regulations for business enterprises
((bEEEHHIE [ €(2000)25%%)), the subsidiaries are
required to appropriate 10% of the profit arrived at in
accordance with PRC GAAP — WFOE for each year
to a statutory reserve. The profit arrived at must be
used initially to set off against any accumulated losses.
The appropriations to statutory reserve, after offsetting
against any accumulated losses, must be made before
the distribution of dividends to equity owners. The
appropriation is required until the statutory reserve
reaches 50% of the registered capital. This statutory
reserve is not distributable in the form of cash dividends,
but may be used to set off losses or be converted into
paid-in capital.
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30 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)
(e) Distributability of reserves

(f)

At 31 December 2011, the aggregate amount of reserves
available for distribution to equity shareholders of the
Company, as calculated under the provisions of section 79B
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, was $563,140,000
(2010: $714,075,000). After the balance sheet date the
directors proposed a final dividend of 2.5 cents per ordinary
share (2010: 1.5 cents per ordinary share), amounting to
$91,887,000 (2010: $54,787,000) (note 30(o)). This dividend
has not been recognised as a liability at the balance sheet
date.

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are
to maintain a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios
in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’
value.

The Group manages its capital structure and make
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions.
The Group reviews the capital structure on a regular basis
and considers the cost of capital and the associated risks.
Based on recommendations of the board of directors,
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
adjusting the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
new shares issues or new debt financing. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes during the
years ended 31 December 2011 and 2010.

The Group monitors capital with reference to its debt
position. The Group’s strategy was to maintain the equity
and debt in a balanced position and ensure there were
adequate working capital to service its debt obligation. The
Group’s gearing ratio, being the Group’s total liabilities over
its total assets, as at 31 December 2011 was 52% (2010:
47%).

Except for the banking facilities which require the fulfilment of
covenants relating to certain of the Group’s financial ratios as
disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally
imposed capital requirements.
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES
Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks
arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. The
Group is also exposed to equity price risk arising from its equity
investments in other entities.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(@) Credit risk
Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures
to credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. Debts are
usually due within 30 days from the date of billing.

Debtors of the Group represent receivables in respect
of toll bridge revenue and revenue from waste-water
treatment plants, waste-to-energy power plants, methane-
to-energy power plants, biomass power generation plants,
photovoltaic energy projects and industrial solid waste landfill
operation services which are settled on a monthly basis. In
addition, the Group has gross amounts due from customers
for contract work and other receivables in respect of the BT,
BOT and TOT arrangements.

At the balance sheet date, debtors, other receivables,
deposits and prepayments and gross amounts due from
customers for contract work of the Group amounted
to $3,197,329,000 (2010: $3,073,369,000) and
$6,516,224,000 (2010: $4,979,960,000) respectively,
of which $1,418,213,000 (2010: $716,270,000) and
$4,300,712,000 (2010: $5,503,577,000) were due from the
largest customer and five largest customers in aggregate
of the Group. The maximum exposure to credit risk is
represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset
in the balance sheet. Since the parties to BT, BOT and TOT
arrangements are local government authorities in the PRC,
the Group considers the credit risk is low.
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (continued)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

Except for the financial guarantees given by the Company to
its subsidiaries, the Group does not provide any guarantees
which would expose the Group or the Company to credit
risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of the
financial guarantees at the balance sheet date is disclosed in
note 35.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from “Debtors, other
receivables, deposits and prepayments” as well as “Gross
amounts due from customers for contract work” are set out
in notes 18 and 19 respectively.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to
cover expected cash demands, subject to approval by the
parent company’s board when the borrowings exceed
certain predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s
policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements
and its compliance with lending covenants to ensure
that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial institutions to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR - MBRBERRARE(E)

VALUES (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) REBELSRER(E)
The following tables show the remaining contractual TRINRAEBRARGREREARE
maturities at the balance sheet date of the Group’s and AR R R AR ETERBNBEEZIE
the Company’s non-derivative financial liabilities, which are PTETAEVBEE(BREZRE O EIIR
based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including BEEHBITZHEFE 2R B (BT
interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if B)) URAEBRAAREEESH
floating, based on rates current at the balance sheet date) FIB 2 &5 B EARES o

and the earliest date the Group and the Company can be
required to pay.

The Group XEH
21
£
Total Morethan  More than Totd Morethan  More than
contractual Within 1 year 2years contractual Within 1year 2years
undiscounted ~ 1yearor  butwithin  butwithin undiscounted ~ Tyearor  butwitin - butwithin
Camying  cashflow ondemand 2years 5years  More than Caming  cashfow  ondemend 2years Syears  Morethan
amount  FTHERE  -ERE  -EGE BEEE  Speas amunt —FhE EEE REKE  Syeas
FEE HeRAE HEK  MER  REM EEE SRR RehES EEx mER BEM RFA
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
v o T I o T T T T T
Bank loans FER 5003000 6221532 1365451 1045030 2467238 1343813 3760307 4464084 9882 778337 1910982 836940
Other oars EHER 5530 102176 3902 3002 07 82685 3T 975 3409 3400 1028 8056
Loans from uttmate holdng - &EERAR
company 851 1202 1202 - 12m - - T4 11749 - 1T - -

Credftors other payebles ST £t
adaconedexpenses  EREUER
EER 1423305 142305 1423306 = - - R4 B3 s - - }

609686 7869035 2792658 1170954 247845 1426478 4703551 5522500 1785678 899185 1921210 916486
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR - MBESERERAREE)
VALUES (continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) REBESREMRE)
The Company A=AT
2011
-§-£
Total Morethan  More than Total Morethean ~ Morethan
contractual Within 1year 2years contractual Within 1 year 2 years
undiscounted ~ 1yearor  butwithin  but within undiscounted Tyearor  butwthin  butwithin
Camying  cashflow ondemand 2years 5years Camying  cashfow  ondemand 2 years 5years
amount THREE  —ERE  -ERE O WEEE  anont FJOREE  ERR FRE O WERE
REl REREE  HEX MERN BER REE 3 BEX FER RER
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 I $000 $000 $000
T Fr Tr T i v T T i i
Bankloans FIER 187,500 192,218 92463 28,743 71,012 127,500 130,934 497 a,001 48410
Other payables and HtERFER
acerued expenses BT ER 19,871 19,871 19,871 - - 16,443 16,443 16,443 - -

207,371 212080 11234 28,743 o2 143943 147317 57,940 4,021 48410

Financial guarantees 2 fEHZEI%

issued: R
Maximum amount SREREE
quaranteed (note 35) (=1%) - 2046061 2,046,061 o - - 151740 151749 - B
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (continued)
(c) Interest rate risk

it- MBEBEERAREE)

() F=mEk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from the
Group’s cash and cash equivalents, bank deposits,
bank loans, other loans and loans from ultimate holding
company. Borrowings issued at variable rates and at fixed
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk and
fair value interest rate risk respectively. The Group does
not use financial derivatives to hedge against the interest
rate risk. The Group’s interest rate profie as monitored by

AEEEHZAERE  TEHTER
2R MRESEEBY - RITER  FBIT
BN HEREHEIERARER °
EEBMNEREEMEIL 2ERS

EESFAIBESRENERR K AA
BN R - AEBITEFBESRMOITE
T AR T RRER o NEE 2 F K}
SHREIREEE - WHR () e

management is set out in () below.

() FIEBR
TR AEERARRRGEEH
ZEEFHEBIE B FEERER
TEREEE MREFEY) 2 F=X

(i) Interest rate profile
The following table details the interest rate profile of the
Group’s and the Company’s net borrowings (being
interest-bearing financial liabilities less bank deposits

and cash and cash equivalents) at the balance sheet BES o
date.
The Group *EHE
2011 2010
2 —Z-TF
Effective Effective
interest rate $'000 interest rate $000
1yl Fr BEBRF%= T
Fixed rate deposits: EEHER
Deposits with bank BITEX - - 2.2% (62,087)
Cash and cash equivalents BERBESZEY 0.95% - 6.3% (327,426) 1.0%-1.7% (269,020
(327,426) (321,107)
Net variable rate borrowings: FEEEEEE
Bank loans RITER 1.23%-7.4% 5,093,009 09%-6.4% 3,769,397
Other loans HER 7.05% 55,350 6.4% 53,271

Less: Pledged bank deposits B DEMETER 05%-131%  (215,670) 0.4%-1.7% (38,852)
Cash and cash equivalents BekBEeE

B4 0.01%-0.5% (1,356,873) 001%-12% (1,072,465)
3,575,816 2,711,351
Total net borrowings BEETFE 3,248,390 2,390,244
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES (continued)
(c) Interest rate risk (continued)

(i) Interest rate profile (continued)

The Company

It MBERGEERARE(E)

(o) FRmEBR(E)

()

2011
-

Effective
interest rate

BERA=

FIEHER(48)
eI

2010
—T-FF
Effective
interest rate
BERA =

Fixed rate deposits:
Amount due from subsidiary FEUHt B A R ZE - - 2% (89,494)
Cash and cash equivalents ReLREEEY - - 1.04% (100,000)
- (189,494)
Net variable rate
borrowings/(deposits):
Bank loans 1.23% - 1.38% 187,500 0.9%-1.4% 127,500

Less: Cash and cash equivalents i : 4 BIREZ(EY

0.01% - 0.5%

(252,083)  0.01%-107% (144,054

(64,563) (16,554)
Total net deposits (64,563) (206,048)
(i) Sensitivity analysis (i) BEEST

At 31 December 2011, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of one percent in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would decrease/
increase the Group’s profit before taxation by

approximately $32,484,000 (2010: $23,902,000).

@ China Everbright International Limited  Ff B¢ K EIBE A R A &)
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (continued)

(i) Sensitivity analysis (continued)

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group’s profit before
taxation that would arise assuming that the change in
interest rates had occurred at the balance sheet date
and had been applied to re-measure those financial
instruments held by the Group which expose the Group
to fair value interest rate risk at the balance sheet date.
In respect of the exposure to cash flow interest rate
risk arising from floating rate non-derivative instruments
held by the Group at the balance sheet date, the impact
on the Group’s profit before taxation is estimated as
an annualised impact on interest expense or income
of such a change in interest rates. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2010.

(d) Currency risk

Forecast transactions

Majority of the Group’s transactions are denominated in
the functional currency of the entity to which they relate.
Presently, there is no hedging policy with respect of the
foreign exchange exposure. The Group’s transactional
currencies are Chinese Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars
as substantially all the turnover are within Hong Kong and
other parts in the PRC. With the natural hedging of the
revenue and costs being denominated in Chinese Renminbi
and Hong Kong dollars, the Group’s transactional foreign
exchange exposure was insignificant.

With respect to borrowings and creditors denominated in
United States dollars (USD), the impact of foreign exchange
rate fluctuations is insignificant as Hong Kong dollars is
pegged to USD.

it- MBEBEERAREE)

(c) R=EME)

(i) SR (E)

L BRE DR A REZ R
B2 AT R EE A 2 B AS B &) o BURK
EABREMNEEFREEB K
B4 YERREHFEAKRE
BTN EE B AEE@EA
RENXER SR TE - HRH
REBREE BB ZFEFIX
FOTET EMELEZRERAER
& HUAKEGRRAIBN T E
EERF RSB MESL ZF B X H
S ALERE o ZE—TFE 2D
TIRIBARR AT

(d) ZMEE B

FREIR S
SEAMPRZHNERER 2EE
BatE - BAT - AEBEXEABINER
R HHAEE - AEBEZRXHEE /A
RENEY  RRA/EXR LALRRE
BREEBRPEEMMT - EREA
RRAANRE R BEEE - MEEL
BREPER - IAKRBEER S LR
2 ZHNERBREDL ©

RIAXTREN 2 B8 REMERKM
B BARNETEIITEE - RIEXRKE)
ZREEM -
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR - MBEREERRAREE)

VALUES (continued)

(e) Equity price risk (e) MAERE RS
The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from AEEEARZBRARE (HEERFERN
equity investments classified as available-for-sale equity B HAWET ) 2EBREERE
securities (see note 17). The Group’s listed investments are AEB 2z EHREEEBHBRIM& £
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong and Shanghai BEEFRGA LT - AREZIELTER
Stock Exchange. The Group’s unquoted investments are BHARMEBENMFEE - BEET
held for long term strategic purposes. The management HEREIERE CERBEEHRIR - I
monitors regularly the performance of the investments A EERERBEeARE CREE
against expectation, together with an assessment of their BEETE o

relevance to the Group’s long term strategic plans.

At 31 December 2011, it is estimated that an increase/ RZZE—F+=-A=+—8 ' BFX&%
decrease of 5% (2010: 5%) in that relevant stock market B - nERARmERGERR TR
index (for listed investments) or the price/earning ratios of Bk AR AR Z MR EGER
comparable listed companies (for unquoted investments) RIEETIRE) B AEEA) £#,/ T
as applicable, with all other variables held constant, would 5%(ZF—FF 1 5%) r MATAEMT
have increased/decreased the Group’s other components TFREHEFTIE  KEBZEREERZ
of consolidated equity as follows: HAb S n AL/ /T

The Group AEE

2011 2010
—T——fK —T-TF
Effect on other Effect on other

components components
of equity of equity

e SEA
Wz R il
$°000 $°000

5 i

Change in the relevant equity  1EEIEZBIREIST

price risk variable: EREZEML :
Increase A 5% 7,072 5% 9,412
Decrease T 5% (7,072) 5% 9,412)
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (continued)
(e) Equity price risk (continued)

(f)

The sensitivity analysis indicates the instantaneous change
in the Group’s other components of consolidated equity that
would arise assuming that the changes in the stock market
index or other relevant risk variables had occurred at the
balance sheet date and had been applied to re-measure
those financial instruments held by the Group which expose
the Group to equity price risk at the balance sheet date. It
is also assumed that the fair values of the Group’s equity
investments would change in accordance with the historical
correlation with the relevant stock market index or the
relevant risk variables, and that all other variables remain
constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for
2010.

Fair values

(i) Financial instruments carried at fair value
The following tables present the carrying value of
financial instruments measured at fair value at the
balance sheet date across the three levels of the
fair value hierarchy defined in HKFRS 7, Financial
instruments: Disclosures, with the fair value of each
financial instrument categorised in its entirety based
on the lowest level of input that is significant to that fair
value measurement. The levels are defined as follows:

— Level 1 (highest level): fair values measured using
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical financial instruments

— Level 2: fair values measured using quoted prices
in active markets for similar financial instruments,
or using valuation techniques in which all significant
inputs are directly or indirectly based on observable
market data

— Level 3 (lowest level): fair values measured using
valuation techniques in which any significant input is
not based on observable market data

it- MBEBEERAREE)

(e) RAEBHREER(E)

(f)

BRGRENITIEHARE 2 76 S
ZEM B R BEE L Z BN £ E) o HUK
E T R AR A TH R Bk H (b AE B R T
EREZBPNGEERCSKEL - I
ERREF T EAKEMFALRNE
BEAKEmERAERER /T
B o ftHh - MBERARERARENQ
RESREEMERRTE AR RR
PERKRZRFENESL BEEmES
HE)  MAAEMTERRERTE -
ZE-TEZHNIIRBHAREEETT o

DRE

() U2 EARZTHTA
TREINEEE BI(EEY RS
HADETRI 2B LA - KEINE
EZARBE=EFHEFT  UorE
SIRMEMTAZRE(E  M&E
MIAZAABEAHEZAAENE
BEAZ&EE B ABIRMEE
DHB o FTSE 2 FRFFIRTE -

- SR (&ESFR) : FREEE
T ERTHIEZ ®ECK

AR FAERARE

— B FRERBRTET A
UemTAZHRE MEE
EHABEBEOERIHERER
A BEMS IR 2 AERI -

AEARE
— F=R(HKEFR) : NBERE

EHABRBYIFENABED
BEEZHERMAEARE
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR - HBEGERRARE(E)
VALUES (continued)
(f) Fair values (continued) n 2REE)
() Financial instruments carried at fair value (continued) ) U BEARZHTAE)

The Group The Company
*5£E F47T)

Level1 Level2 Level3 Level2 Level3
F—H KB H=H E B E=H
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
Fr Fr Fr Fr Fr

Assets BE

Available-for-sale &R
equity securities:  #5% ¢

— Listed — kW 180,385 - - 180,385 - - - -
— Unlisted —JE LT - 3899 - 3899 - 3,899 - 3,899
180,385 3,899 - 184,284 - 3,899 - 3,899

2010
T FF

The Group The Company
rEE ARA]

Level 1 Level2 Level 3 Total  Level 1 Level2  Level 3
F—H Bk F=HK ‘e B FIR E=R
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $000
T T T T T T T

Assets BE

Available-for-sale 1FE /R A
equity securities:  FEF :

— Listed —Fm 241,050 - - 241,050 - - - -
— Unlisted —JEETm = 3,899 = 3,899 - 3,899 - 3,899
241,050 3,899 - 244,949 - 3,899 - 3,899
During the years ended 31 December 2011 and 2010, REBEE-_TE——FR-_FT—ZFTF
there were no significant transfers between financial TZA=+—HLEFEA  F—&
instruments in Level 1 and Level 2. RE-FzemTAZRATESA

8E -
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (continued)
(f) Fair values (continued)
(i) Fair values of financial instruments carried at other than

fair value
The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, debtors,
bank deposits, current portion of other receivables,
deposits and prepayments and creditors, other
payables and accrued expenses are not materially
different from their carrying amounts because of the
immediate or short term maturity of these financial
instruments. The carrying amounts of non-current
portion of other receivables and deposit, gross amounts
due from customers for contract work, bank loans,
other loans and interest-bearing loans from ultimate
holding company approximate their fair values.

As set out in notes 15 and 27, the Company had
amounts due from/to subsidiaries and non-interest
bearing loans from ultimate holding company which are
interest-free, it is not considered practicable to estimate
the fair values of the amounts because the cost of
obtaining discount and borrowing rates for comparable
borrowing would be excessive.

(g) Estimation of fair values
The following summarises the major methods and
assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial
instruments.

(i)  Listed securities
Fair value is based on quoted market prices at
the balance sheet date without any deduction for
transaction costs.

(i) Unlisted securities
The Group’s investment in unlisted securities represents
investment in a property investment company, with its
investment properties (being significant part of the total
assets) stated at fair value. Fair value of the Group’s
investment in unlisted securities is based on net asset
value of the investee which is approximate the fair value.

(i) Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
The fair value is estimated as the present value of future
cash flows, discounted at current market interest rates
for similar financial instruments.

it- MBEBEERAREE)

N AREGE)

(i) UKERAEINRZEHTAZ AR
=3
RERBFLFEY - BYERFK - iR
TR - EMEWGRIE -« e kFE
FIARENEAE )+ AR FEASTER AR
HiENZIEREFEREEE 2
AREAFECRAETESNE
2 FEREALEeHMTEHYERR
SRR B B o H 4th fE UGRIA K
ZEIEANEED - BKEFEHNT
ERIEERE - RITER - EMERK
REEERARZABERZAR
EEFERAERES

AT+ RER - EHAE - AR
mE A R RS A R IA K&
REERRB T EER - AREL
SRLUEERIIR X R ERF XY
KRR MARRAR/TEME
BRI RAE -

(@) AREME
X EEFT TR TARAER
ERZERINERRKER -

() _LiaEs
AREDREERZ TS RE
B MBI B -

(i) FFETAES
AEBZIFENRBHFREEN —K
MERERRIZRE  HREMF
((HRREEMNEAEMN) RARET
R AKRBEFLELTERREZARN
BEEREIXRERATRZEEFE(ERA
REEE)FH

(i) T EEFREER
AREEBEARBEREZHRME - MU
BUSRTAASZREMSHNE
BEERfRE o
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32 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS otz BIRAER A T2 E KRR S
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere PR FI SRR E MBI E 2 X P R A
in these financial statements, the Group entered into the ERON - ANEEE DR A THEIT NHIE AR
following material related party transactions. Z o
(@ The Group entered into the following related party (@) AEEE—K@HALRTIIZT T
transactions with a related party bank: FABEA TR S

Dividend income from listed securities AR BUA 5,514 =
Interest expense B H 11,775 10,239
Subscription of listed shares R R - 173,100
(b) The Group entered into the following related party (b) ANEEBEE—KEZE QTR T T5IEEH
transactions with an associate: ATRS :

Service expense for operation of waste-water 75 B:E 25K ERIEM 2

treatment plants (note 32(f)) fRI$FSE (MsE=+=() 44,783 40,592
(c0 The Group entered into the following related party © AEBEEHEIFIEIARRET T N5
transactions with a non-controlling shareholder of the ALRS :
Group:

Revenue from environmental water project ~ 3B{R /K718 B
operation services EE RS 72,103 55,751
Finance income AU 27,902 27,261
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32 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

St ERBA T ZEXRH(E)

(continued)

(d) The Group entered into the following related party
transactions with a related company and subsidiaries of
non-controlling shareholders of the Group:

(o) AEEEHEREE AR NEIFERRERZ
MY ARRISL T NIIREBA LR S ¢

Revenue from environmental water project  3B{R/K7%I8 B
operation services EE RS
Revenue from environmental water project  IB{R/K75IE B
construction services RIERRTS W as
Finance income BRI
Technical service expense FiRis &

29,124 40,536
23,561 37,009
75,204 91,055

1,331 1,329

(e) The Group paid key management personnel compensation
as follows:

e AEBEINFEEEEABZEAR
Ban T -

Salaries and other short-term employee FrekAEMeHES
benefits &R 45,156 37,600
Retirement scheme contributions RRETEIHE TR 1,014 779
46,170 38,379

Total remuneration is included in “Staff costs” (see note
5()).

() During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group
entered into certain continuing connected transactions.
The Company’s independent non-executive directors have
reviewed these transactions. Details of which are disclosed
under the paragraph “Continuing connected transactions” in
the report of the directors.

M@t ATE TA ARG
Ab)) °

) BEZZE——FF+-_HA=1T—BLHF
B AREEFLTETREBERS -
RRABZBYIERITEFEETHNEBR
5 BRSHBEESTEREPIHE
FER 5 | —H NHREE -
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33 COMMITMENTS ots KRB

(@ At31 December 2011, the Group had outstanding purchase @ R=ZT—F+=-A=+—08 UEE
commitments in connection with the Group’s construction MBERETPRBREREASERES Y
contracts not provided for in the financial statements of 2 EREEAYEA571,939,000T(—F—F
$571,939,000 (2010: $773,756,000). & 773,756,0007T) °

(b) At 31 December 2010, the Group had outstanding b) R=ZZ—ZFF+=-_A=+—H  r5E
commitments in connection with TOT arrangements FETOTRHE T 2 %&£ /528,411,0007T °
amounted to $28,411,000. The amount was fully settled EHEFRBEEREBEEZE=_ZE—F+=H
during the year ended 31 December 2011. =+—BIEFEEHEN -

(©) At 31 December 2011, the total future minimum lease © RZZ—F+=—A=+—H0 BEDT
payments under non-cancellable operating leases are ARRACEEER REENREM
payable as follows: ENFRREENT ¢

The Group
AEH
2011 2010
—FT——% —E-TF
$°000 $000
T T
Within 1 year —FR 704 811
After 1 year but within 5 years —FREBERFA - 536
704 1,347
The Group leases a number of properties under operating AEBRBLCEHEERLZEME - F
leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of one to AEE—RVLEH—ZRF  BXT
five years. None of these leases includes contingent rentals. BENEHESE -
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34

35

36

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of assets pledged are set out in note 24. The aggregate
net book value of assets and equity interests in subsidiaries
pledged amounted to $4,911,369,000 as at 31 December 2011
(2010: $3,980,856,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Financial guarantees issued

As at the balance sheet date, the Company has issued financial
guarantees to five wholly-owned subsidiaries and a non-wholly
owned subsidiary. The directors do not consider it probable that
a claim will be made against the Company under the guarantees.
The maximum liability of the Company at the balance sheet date
under the guarantees issued is the facility drawn down by the
subsidiary of $2,046,061,000 (2010: $1,517,459,000).

Due to the related party nature of the instruments, the directors
considered it is not practicable to estimate the fair values of
the financial guarantees and therefore they have not been
recognised in the Company’s financial statements.

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING
PARTY

At 31 December 2011, the directors consider the immediate
parent and ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Guildford
Limited and China Everbright Holdings Company Limited, which
are incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and Hong Kong
respectively. Neither of them produces financial statements
available for public use.

4

24

=t

EEHKH
EEBEEFBHEAMFE-+T R=F
—F+-A=+—H8  cEREENKE
NE R 2 BREDFE B RE 54,911,369,0007T
(Z=—=4 : 3,980,856,0007T) °

HEEE

O 3 B ER

HELER AR AARZEMBRATI R
—RIEZENBRRIELMEER - EER
5 BEEREBEEATKATRERE EER
MARARWEHER - REER - ARFELE
MV BER T ZESAEAEEANBARE
1IREL 7 B4 2,046,061,0007T( —F— 4 :
1,517,459,0007T) °

HRBEMALIEE  REERA/TEMF
BRAMBRERZAAE  BUERARFZ
AR T RERERRR o

HEERRZERAL

R-ZT——F+-_fA=+—H EERAK
SECEESRARIREREIERALTD A
Guildford Limited R Bl KB BRAR]
BEDRIREBRE LS RESEMKL -
HEHEERAHEARA I Z M ER
%o
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37 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW HEAMERBE-_F——%F+=A
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED =+—HIEEEHRERZIET - %

BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED AR aen
31 DECEMBER 2011

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA RIS HERRTIZEEHE  FEetA e

has issued a number of amendments and five new standards EAMEBEET R ABEHEL - ZZFEFTR

which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2011 FEAREBEZE_S—F+=A=+—H1

and which have not been adopted in these financial statements. FEMARER  WENBRRINERBZE

These include the following which may be relevant to the Group. 1ER] ST ZERI] - ] RE AN BB RIEET &
AR -

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on

or after

BUTHEZ1E

BtG 2 EETHARI AR

Amendments to HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: (& BTSSR E R YE 75 2185 — 1 July 2011

Disclosures — Transfers of financial assets [Z@TA : F#E—EEEEE | —F—%+H—H

Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes — (EBSFERDE125R 2185 — 1 January 2012

Deferred tax: Recovery of underlying assets [FriEf —EAERE - e EE] —E——F—H—H

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial { & && s8Iy 1% 7 (5] — 1 July 2012

statements — Presentation of items of other [ EZ 25— B2 E e —ZT——H#+H—H
comprehensive income HE 25/

HKFRS 10, Consolidated financial statements (CEBY TSRS 2ERNE1057 — 1 January 2013

[4rE B3R | —FT—=%—H—H

HKFRS 11, Joint arrangements (BB EHRELERDE115: — 1 January 2013

[BAaZHE —F—=%—H—H
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37 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW HEABGENBE-_S——%F+=H
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED E+—BHILEEEERENRZIERT « HE
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED AIR2REZTRERE(E)

31 DECEMBER 2011 (continued)

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on

or after
BUTE#SZE
Bt 2 ST HAR LR
HKFRS 12, Disclosure of interests in other CEBI TGRS 2R )EE125F — 1 January 2013
entities [REMERLZ 1w 1555 ] —=—=%—H—H
HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement (BRI BIRELERDFE135E — 1 January 2013
[2aEEE] —T—=%—A—H
HKAS 27, Separate financial statements (2011) (B &R YE275% — 1 January 2013
[ BT /(—F——5F) —=—=%—H—H
HKAS 28, Investments in associates and joint (CEB @R )E285% — 1 January 2013
ventures [BERNAIRE SRR —T—=%—H—H
Revised HKAS 19, Employee benefits LIS BB ST LER)E 1958 — 1 January 2013
[1ES#EF]] —=—=%—H—H
HKFRS 9, Financial instruments (BRI ELER)FEIWE — 1 January 2015
[2@TA] —T—hF%—HA—H
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of RNEE IE T Z FEET KR & EE A
what the impact of these amendments and new standards HEA 2 B RIREREAMEITI R
is expected to be in the period of initial application but is not FEASREHAEESI AR B 2 EBEER
yet in a position to state whether these amendments and new H BB R ERTE -

standards would have a significant impact on the Group’s or the
Company’s results of operations and financial position.
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Five Year summary
ﬁ EIE % :2\‘/% TE% g (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (A7 #EHE)

At 31 December

®+=A=+-H
2009
“TTHF
$:000
T
Assets and liabilities BEREE
Fixed assets Bl EE 887,597 413,877 168,011 164,573 304,526
Intangible assets B EE 1,069,730 638,728 553,828 577,754 568,882
Goodwill EES 46,133 46,133 46,133 46,133 46,133
Interest in associate BN Bl - - 588 = =
Other financial assets HibBiEE 184,284 244,949 21,385 22,336 59,577
Other receivables and H At fERIE
deposits RizE 2,181,165 2,399,734 1,736,218 1,386,280 690,019
Gross amounts due from ElEFEHTIRE
customers for contract work R 5,963,047 4,629,124 3,174,793 2,686,012 1,752,995
Finance lease receivables mERER A 21,608 - - - -
Deferred tax assets BIERIEEE 12,836 14,080 22,522 26,538 35,561
Net current assets MEEEFE 973,731 868,932 1,755,970 364,815 584,432
11,340,131 9,255,557 7,479,448 5,274,441 4,042,125
Non-current libilities ERBAE (4,678567)  (3506908)  (2,549,682)  (2,143400) (1,438,699
NET ASSETS BEEH 6,661,564 5,748,649 4,929,766 3,131,041 2,603,426
Share capital AR 367,546 365,246 363,932 314,378 313,472
Reserves [ 5,822,478 4,972,806 4,208,900 2,505,237 2,137,619

Total equity attributable to equity AR FIRR R fE(G

shareholders of the Company #5484 6,190,024 5,338,052 4,572,832 2,819,615 2,451,001
Non-controlling interests IR 471,540 410,597 356,934 311,426 152,335
TOTAL EQUITY HEndE 6,661,564 5,748,649 4,929,766 3,131,041 2,603,426
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Five Year summary
ﬂ E % %}E $ Eﬂli g (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JA#st2)

For the year ended 31 December

HE+-A=1+—HILFE

2010 2009 2008
—T-TF ZZTHhF CZTT\F
$:000 $000 $000
T T T
Results %5
Turnover ] 3,663,563 2,929,415 1,765,996 1,862,509 1,347,852
Profit from operations s B 1,381,836 1,023,081 677,211 607,740 439,871
Finance costs WsER (246,622) (177,567) (170,262) (147,189) (72,507)
Share of (loss)/profit of FrihEE N a)
associates (E518),/&BA - (688) 588 - (478)
Profit before taxation BRAE AT 1,135,214 844,926 507,537 460,552 366,886
Income tax FiSH (289,950) (191,761) (99,060) (95,161) (6,807)
Profit for the year REERF 845,264 653,165 408,477 365,391 360,079
Attributable to: FE(LER(D -
Equity shareholders of the ARFRE
Company 801,441 616,433 371,898 339,018 337,932
Non-controling interests FEE R 43,823 36,732 36,579 26,373 22,147
Profit for the year REZ BT 845,264 653,165 408,477 365,391 360,079
Basic eamnings per share BRCEAREF] 21.86 cents {ll 16.92 centsfll 11.39 cents fli 10.80 cents flli 10.89 cents i
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Major Properties held by the Group

AEBAFB EBYE

Location

i 2h

Units 2703 and 2704, 27th Floor
Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

BAERE TR
RESEA O
TR =R ETNE

Units 3 and 4, 11th Floor
Qingsong South Lane
Dalian Development Zone
the PRC

B REREESNREE
T+—B=RMET

Room 1301-1309

Central Business Building

No. 88 Fuhua Road One

Futian District

Shenzhen, Guangdong Province
the PRC

P EIERE RYITEHE
BE—E/\+/ SRR OEBAE

—=2-E-=ZTh=E

24th Floor

Tower of Education,

Science & Technology Building
Zhuzilin, Futian District
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province
the PRC

B ER AR
BHERTF
HERMBERE=+HE

. Block J07, Zhongguancun Science Park
No. 156 Wenqguan Town

Haidian District

Beijing, the PRC

HEIE R

BRI — TN

R BARTIRRRIR EJ075R

Existing use

B AR

Commercial

CES

Residential
F=

Commercial

[GES

Commercial

[GES

Commercial

CES

@ China Everbright International Limited  Ff B¢ K EIBE A R A &)

Percentage
Term of lease of interest
HEFH bR B DL
Medium 100%
R HA
Medium 100%
HHR
Medium 100%
HHR
Medium 100%
R HA
Long 100%
=Hj
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Everbright International

www.ebchinaintl.com

CHINA EVERBRIGHT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED @ This annual report is printed on enviromental friendly paper
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